Exploring self-care in children with and without motor impairments

Lelanie Brewer

Submitted for the qualification of Doctor of Philosophy

Newcastle University, Population Health Sciences Institute

January 2024

Abstract

The ability to participate successfully in self-care, such as dressing, eating, toileting, and washing, is fundamental for a healthy life. It affects a child's daily functioning. It plays a crucial role in their balanced development and significantly impacts their health, well-being, and participation in society. Improving support for self-care is a priority for NHS improvement as set by families, providers, and decision-makers. However, there has been limited research into how self-care develops in childhood, what factors influence this, and how this is best supported.

This doctoral research identified: (i) personal and environmental factors influencing selfcare in children and young people, (ii) intervention techniques for supporting self-care, and (iii) impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic restrictions on children's self-care and parents.

The research drew on Bronfenbrenner's Ecological Systems Theory, the World Health Organisation's International Classification of Function, Disability and Health, and the Discourse-Historical Approach. In the form of a mixed methods design, this research included a systematic evidence synthesis of self-care in children and young people (n=97 studies), two longitudinal cohort studies of children aged 2-5 years (n=24 children, n=299 children), a qualitative analysis of parents' (n=69) social media views on their children's self-care during the COVID-19 restrictions in the United Kingdom (UK), and an analysis of teachers' responses to a UK government survey on school readiness. Young people were involved in the research design.

A sequential synthesis was implemented from which the main overall messages were: 1) motor and cognitive ability are key predictors of self-care; 2) socioeconomic status may play a role in self-care development; 3) the COVID-19 pandemic significantly impacted children's self-care and consequent school readiness; and 4) children's self-care difficulties also significantly impact parents, and the relationship between children and parents.

iii

Dedication

This thesis is dedicated to my daughter, Olivia Elizabeth Brewer. You just started reception when I started this PhD journey, and you have now finished primary school. We did this together.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my family for making my participation in this research programme possible. Without their support (financial and emotional), I would not have been able to do this. I would also like to thank the Elizabeth Casson Trust and the Royal College of Occupational Therapist Children, Young People and Families subgroup for their financial support and investment in me as a researcher.

I would also like to thank my supervisors, Dr Niina Kolehmainen, Professor Mark Pearce, Dr Emma Slack, and Dr Soudeh Ghaffari, for their generous support, particularly during the COVID-19 pandemic. They have developed my skills in several areas, and I am incredibly grateful for the opportunity to have learned so much from them. I am also grateful to my progress assessors, Dr Lindsay Pennington and Dr Bronia Arnott, who provided helpful insights and feedback over the years.

A heartfelt thank you to all the families who participated in the studies, whom this research would not have been possible without. I am also grateful for the support of my employers along the way and everyone who has encouraged and motivated me.

Finally, to all my friends and everyone who has helped me out in one way or another, through helping with childcare or picking up my daughter from school whilst I was busy with this PhD and have encouraged and supported me along the way. It takes a village!

Dissemination

Oral presentations

"The development of self-care in children (3-6 years) with and without motor impairments: a longitudinal mixed methods study" - Institute of Health and Society PGR Conference, Newcastle University, **June 2017**

"Supporting children's self-care through a programme of intervention research" – Royal College of Occupational Therapy Children and Young People Annual Conference, London, UK, **September 2019**

Poster presentations

"The development of self-care in children (3-6 years) with and without motor impairments: a longitudinal mixed methods study" - Institute of Health and Society PGR Conference, Newcastle University, **June 2017**

"A Research Protocol for a Longitudinal Study on Self-care in Young Children With and Without Motor Impairments"- Royal College of Occupational Therapy Children and Young People Annual Conference, Leeds, UK, **November 2017**

"The development of self-care in children with and without motor impairments: a systematic review" – Count Me In Conference, London, UK, **October 2018**

"Early Self-Care Development: A Systematic Review of the Factors Influencing Self-Care Participations in Young Children" – American Occupational Therapy Association Conference, New Orleans, USA, **April 2019**

"Early Self-Care Development: A Research Protocol for a Longitudinal Study in Three- to Six-Year-Old Children With and Without Motor Impairments" - American Occupational Therapy Association Conference, New Orleans, USA, April 2019

"Early Self-Care Development: A Systematic Review of the Factors Influencing Self-Care Participations in Young Children" - 13th International Conference on Developmental Coordination Disorder, at the University of Jyväskylä, Finland, **June 2019**

"Research in the time of Corona – an altered research journey" - Royal College of Occupational Therapy Children and Young People Annual Conference, Virtual Conference, **October 2020**

"The COVID-19 pandemic lockdown restrictions: a qualitative perspective of the impact on children's self-care" – European Academy of Childhood Disability Conference, Ljubljana, Slovenia, **May 2023**

Table of Contents

Abstractiii
Dedicationv
Acknowledgements vi
Disseminationvii
Table of Contents viii
List of Figuresxii
List of Tablesxii
List of Boxes xiii
List of Abbreviations xiv
Chapter 1: Introduction
1.1 The purpose and context of the research programme: What is self-care and why it matters?2
1.2. The concept of participation in child health and development2
1.3 Self-care, early development, and the environment
1.4 School readiness6
1.5 What is the problem in supporting self-care?7
1.6 What is self-care support for children in the UK?9
1.7 What does this programme of research add to existing knowledge?9
1.8 Thesis organisation11
Chapter 2: Conceptual Frameworks
2.1 Ecological systems theory 13 2.1.1 The microsystem 14 2.1.2. The mesosystem 15 2.1.3 The exosystem 16 2.1.4 The macrosystem 17 2.1.5 The chronosystem 18
2.2 Logic model of factors influencing self-care19
2.3 Summary21
Chapter 3: Overall Research Aims and Design
3.1 Research aims and objectives22
3.2 Broad approach and methodology22
3.3 Epistemological standpoint26
3.4 Population of interest26
3.5 Self-care as an outcome27

3.6 Ethics and governance	27
3.7 Patient and public involvement	28
3.7 Changes to data collection because of the COVID-19 Pandemic	30
3.8 Conclusion	31
Chapter 4: A mixed methods systematic review of self-care in children and young	
people	32
4.1 Methods	32
4.2 Search strategy and data sources	33
4.2.1. Inclusion criteria	33
4.2.2 Study Selection and Data Extraction.	35
4.3 Risk of bias assessment	35
4.4 Data analysis and synthesis	36
4.5 Results	37
4.5.1 Study selection	37
4.5.2 Characteristics of included studies	39
4.5.5 Quality of included studies	40
4.6 1 Body functions	41 //1
4.6.2 Contextual factors: environmental and personal	42
4.6.3 Qualitative findings	43
4.6.4 Interventions for self-care	43
4.7 Discussion	44
4.8 Strengths and weaknesses of the study	45
4.9 Strengths and weaknesses in relation to other studies	45
4.10 Implications for clinicians and policymakers	46
4.11 Recommendations for future research	46
4.12 Conclusion	47
Chapter 5: EASIER – Study of early self-care development	74
5.1 Background	74
5.2 Study design	74
5.3 Sampling and recruitment	74
5.4 Ethics	75
5.5 Data collection	77
5.5.1 Sociodemographic and background details	77
5.5.2. Parental Stress Scale (PSS)	80
5.5.3 Pediatric Inventory of Disability Inventory-Computer Adaptive Test (PEDI-CAT)	82
5.6 Method of data collection	87
5.7 Description of dataset	88
5.8 Data analysis	90
5.9 Results	91
5.9.1 Demographic information	91

5.9.2 Daily Activities (Self-Care) 5.9.3 Explanatory variables 5.9.4 Parental stress	92 92 94
5.10 Bias	94
5.11 Discussion of results	95
5.12 Conclusion	96
Chapter 6: ActiveCHILD - Data analysis of self-care from a longitudinal study	97
6.1 Background	97
6.2 Design	97
6.3 Outcome variable: Self-care	98
6.4 Explanatory variables	99
6.5 Description of dataset	103
6.6 Data analysis	106
6.7 Besults	107
6.7.1 Descriptive characteristics	108
6.7.2 Univariate analysis	112
6.7.3 Multivariate analysis	114
6.8 Discussion	116
6.9 Comparison of the ActiveCHILD and EASIER datasets	117
6.10 Strengths and limitations of the study process and results	119
6.11 Conclusion	120
Chapter 7: A qualitative investigation of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic	
lockdown restrictions on children's self-care as reported by their parents	122
7.1 Background	122
7.2 Method	124
7.2.1 Data source and retrieval	124
7.2.2 Critical discourse analysis of parents' views of the impact of the COVID-19 lockdown	
restrictions on their children's self-care	125
7.3 Ethical Considerations:	131
7.3.1 Ethical dilemmas of online research	132
7.4 Discourse Analysis Themes	134
7.4.1 Feelings	135
7.4.2 Role of online forums and need for social support	136
7.4.3 Self-care practices that work	138
7.5 Self-care difficulties	139
7.5.1 Toileting	139
7.5.2 Dressing	140
/.b Discussion	
	142
7.7 Strengths and limitations	142 143
7.7 Strengths and limitations 7.8 Implications for research and practice	142 143 145

Chapter 8: Self-care at UK schools following the COVID-19 pandemic	147
8.1 Background	147
8.2 Method	149
8.3 Analysis findings	151
8.3.1 The impact of children not being independent with self-care at school	151
8.3.2 Self-care and school readiness following the COVID-19 pandemic	154
8.3.3 What needs to be done to support self-care in young children?	156
8.4 Discussion	158
8.5 Strengths and limitations	160
8.6 Conclusion	161
Chapter 9: Discussion of key overarching themes	162
9.1 Key themes drawn from the analysis in this research programme	163
9.2 Self-care in children seen through the perspective of an ecological systems theory	165
9.2.1 The microsystem	166
9.2.2 The mesosystem	169
9.2.3 The exosystem	169
9.2.4 The macrosystem	170
9.2.5 The chronosystem	170
9.3 Logic model of factors influencing self-care	173
9.4. Reflective Account	176
9.4.1 My personal experience entering this research	176
9.4.2 Lessons learnt from the research process	1//
9.4.3 Reflection on trying to recruit participants and involve schools in the research	178 181
9.5 Conclusion	185
Chapter 10: Summary and implications	186
10.1 Summary of results	186
10.2 Strengths and Weaknesses of the Doctoral Research Programme	189
10.3 Implications for Health Care Professionals	190
10.4 Implications for parents	192
10.5 Implications for children and young people	193
10.6 Implications for teaching professionals and head teachers	193
10.7 Implications for researchers	194
10.8 Implications for policymakers	195
10.9 Recommendations for future research	196
10.10 Conclusions	199
Appendix A - MEDLINE Search Strategy	200
Appendix B: Flyer for recruiting participants online for EASIER study	203
Appendix C: Information sheet for children participating in the EASIER study	204

Appendix D: Proposed focus group questions for teachers	206
Appendix E: Flyer to recruit teachers for research	207
References:	208

List of Figures

Figure 2.1 Bronfenbrenner's ecological systems theory and children's self-care in the UK, adapted from	1
Bronfenbrenner's original model 1	19
Figure 2.2 A proposed logic model of factors influencing children's self-care	20
Figure 4.1 Flowchart of study selection criteria	34
Figure 4.2 Prisma flowchart of included studies	38
Figure 5.1 Frequency of developmental concerns as expressed by parents of study participants	39
Figure 6.1 DAG showing recruitment pathway as a mediator in relation to Daily Activities/Self-care	
outcomes10)2
Figure 6.2 DAG showing IMD Deciles as a confounder in relation to Daily Activities/Self-care 10)3
Figure 6.3 Distribution of PEDI-CAT T-scores for Daily Activities for waves 1 and 2 10)9
Figure 6.4 Distribution of PEDI-CAT T-scores for mobility for waves 1 and 211	LO
Figure 6.5 Distribution of PEDI-CAT T-scores for Social/Cognitive for waves 1 and 2 11	11
Figure 6.6 Distribution of PEDI-CAT T-scores for Responsibility for waves 1 and 2 11	12
Figure 7.1 Themes identified from parent discourses on how the pandemic and lockdown affected	
children's self-care 14	12
Figure 9.1 Research findings on factors influencing self-care presented in the schema of	
Bronfenbrenner's ecological systems theory model 17	72
Figure 9.2 A revised logic model of factors influencing children's self-care	75

List of Tables

Table 4.1 Quality appraisal items from the RTI bank used for non-randomised observational studies 4	8
Table 4.2 Study Characteristics	9
Table 4.3 Key results from the primary studies extracted for each included study	57
Table 4.4 Self-care Measures and Outcomes in the Included Studies	57
Table 4.5 Summary of factors associated with self-care and their associations	;9
Table 4.6 Summary of interventions associated with self-care and their associations	'2
Table 5.1 Background Questionnaire for EASIER study8	0
Table 5.2 EASIER participants characteristics 8	39
Table 5.3 Summary of hours worked by the main carer per week)1
Table 5.4 Descriptive summary of PEDI-CAT Scores9)3
Table 6.1 Explanatory variables considered in secondary data analysis	0
Table 6.2 Breakdown of participants according to age, sex, and recruitment pathway)4
Table 6.3 NHS cognitive levels for study participants 10)5
Table 6.4 NHS Mobility levels for study participants10)5
Table 6.5 Descriptive summary of PEDI-CAT scores10	8
Table 6.6 Univariate Analysis of potential predictors for self-care (Wave 1)	.3
Table 6.7 Univariate Analysis of potential predictors for self-care (Wave 2)	.3
Table 6.8 Multivariable linear regression model of variables influencing participant's self-care at wave	
one11	.5
Table 6.9 Multivariable linear regression model of variables influencing participant's self-care at wave	
two11	.5

List of Boxes

Box 5.1 Example of PEDI-CAT question.	83
Box 5.2 Example of PEDI-CAT instructions for parents or caregivers	85

List of Abbreviations

ADL	Activities of Daily Living
AMPS	Assessment of Motor and Process Skills
ASD	Autistic Spectrum Disorder
CASP	Critical Appraisal Skills Programme
CHAQ	Child Health Assessment Questionnaire
CI	Confidence Interval
CIMT	Constrained Induced Movement Therapy
CMC	Children with Medical Complexity
COPM	Canadian Occupational Performance Measure
СР	Cerebral Palsy
CPQ	Children's Participation Questionnaire
DCD	Developmental Coordination Disorder
DHA	Discourse-Historical Approach
EASIER	EArly Self-care In childrEn with and without motor
	impaiRments
EYFS	Early Years Foundation Stage
FOP	Fibrodysplasia Ossificans Progressiva
GMF	Gross Motor Function
GMFCS	Gross Motor Function Classification System
HABIT	Hand-arm bimanual intensive therapy
HRA	Health Research Authority
ICC	Intraclass correlation coefficient
ICF	International Classification of Functioning, Disability and
	Health
IMD	Indices of Multiple Deprivation
LSOA	Lower Layer Super Output Areas
MMAT	Mixed Methods Appraisal Tool for Children and Youth
MMC	Myelomeningocele
NDD	Neurodevelopmental Disorders
NHS	National Health Service
NIHR	National Institute of Health Research
OT	Occupational Therapy
PE	Physical Education
PT	Physical- or Physiotherapy
PEDI	Pediatric Evaluation of Disability Inventory
PEDI-CAT	Pediatric Evaluation of Disability Inventory Computer
	Adaptive Test
PEDI-FSS	Pediatric Evaluation of Disability Inventory Functional
	Skills Scale
PEM-CY	Participation and Environment Measure for Children and
	Youth
PPT OMS	Pediatric Physical Therapy Outcomes Management
	System
PRISMA	Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and
	Meta-Analyses

PSS	Parental Stress Scales
RCT	Randomised Controlled Trials
REC	Research Ethics Committee
SEND	Special Educational Need or Disability
SES	Socio-economic Status
SLT	Speech and Language Therapy
SRD	Selective Dorsal Rhizotomy
SVMC	Selective Voluntary Motor Control
TD	Typically Developing
UCP	Unilateral Cerebral Palsy
UK	United Kingdom
VABS	Vineland Adaptive Behavior Scale
VABS-II	Vineland Adaptive Behavior Scale Second Edition
VLBW	Very Low Birth Weight
WeeFIM	Functional Independence Measure for Children
WFOT	World Federation of Occupational Therapists
WHO	World Health Organisation
YPAG	Young Person's Advisory Group Young Person's Advisory
	Group
YPAGne	Young Person's Advisory Group North England

Chapter 1: Introduction

This doctoral programme of research investigated self-care in children with and without motor impairments, and the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic restrictions on children's self-care. In this opening chapter, I present the purpose and context of the research programme and define the importance of participation in self-care. Next, I provide a short overview of the concept of participation and the relationship between early childhood development and participation, especially in relation to self-care. At the end of the chapter, I discuss the contribution that this doctoral programme makes to the topic of self-care in children and outline the organisation of the thesis.

Throughout the thesis the key concepts that are referred to throughout the thesis are used as follows:

Self-care: This refers to doing everyday tasks relating to looking after oneself and making decisions about how these tasks are done.¹ For example, being able to feed oneself or getting dressed independently or having a say in our others assist you. In Chapters 5 and 6, self-care is measured through the Pediatric Evaluation of Disability Inventory Computer Adaptive Test (PEDI-CAT) daily activities score, one of the subtests of the PEDI-CAT standardised assessment.

Motor impairments: This refers to impairments in neuromusculoskeletal and movement-related functions² (e.g., joint functions; muscle functions, including strength and tone; coordination of movements) or mobility limitations (e.g., changing and maintaining body position; carrying, moving, and handling objects; walking and moving). This includes, for example, DCD and CP.³

Participation: This refers to the World Health Organisation's definition (WHO)² as used in the International Classification of Functioning, Disability, and Health (ICF) where 'participation' is defined as a person's "involvement in a life situation" and represents the societal perspective of functioning.

1.1 The purpose and context of the research programme: What is self-care and why it matters?

The outcome, or phenomenon, of interest for this doctoral research was self-care. The ability to participate successfully in self-care, such as dressing, eating, toileting, and washing, affects a child's daily functioning, and plays a crucial role in their balanced development.⁴ It also has a significant long-term impact on their health, well-being, and participation in society. In this PhD thesis, a definition that was used for self-care is one that was previously developed by young people and parents of young children. It defines self-care as covering the doing of everyday tasks relating to looking after oneself and the making of decisions about how these tasks are done.¹ Both of these dimensions are fundamental for a healthy life.

Self-care is considered essential to an individual's survival.⁵ Participation in self-care affects a child's long-term health, for example their nutritional intake, and purposeful involvement in this domain contributes to their sense of well-being.⁶ Purposeful participation in self-care also contributes to a child's sense of purpose and meaning in life and can influence their overall satisfaction with life.⁷⁻⁹ Children's participation in self-care also closely interlinked.^{2, 7} Whilst early involvement in self-care is crucial for life experience, developing the above-listed skills, in turn, affects children's ability to participate in self-care activities.^{7, 9} This is discussed in more detail along with factors impacting children's development in the sections below.

1.2. The concept of participation in child health and development

Whilst the WHO's definition² of participation, which is a person's "involvement in a life situation" is used throughout this thesis, it is important to consider the wider context of this term beyond this definition. Participation is more than simply doing a task; a core feature is that it involves a sense of belonging and being in the world.¹⁰ In turn, participation contributes to the evolvement of the sense of self.¹¹

The involvement of children in daily activity settings also provides the contexts for their learning, development, and personal growth.¹² Further, participation is considered a health outcome and a fundamental human right.^{9, 13, 14}

Two essential elements of participation have been identified by researchers as part of the family of participation-related constructs (fPRC) framework.¹¹ These elements are: 1) attendance and 2) involvement.¹² Attendance refers to the physical presence including where and with whom one participates whilst involvement captures the subjective aspect of participation, including experiencing enjoyment or frustration.¹² These elements play a role in the role of children's social emotional development, with a study¹³ finding evidence to suggest that opportunities for choice and other conditions that optimise children's ability to participate in daily activities may contribute to children's sense of self-concept and acceptance.

According to the fPRC framework, participation experiences and outcomes are influenced by participation-related constructs, including intrinsic factors (i.e., the child's activity competence, sense of self, and preferences) and extrinsic factors (i.e., the environment or context).¹¹ In this doctoral research programme, which included participants with and without motor impairments, it is possible that children with more severe motor difficulties could have experienced less enjoyment in participation in daily activities, which in turn impacted on sense of self and preferences.¹⁵ Further, children with motor impairments are often subjected to restrictions in their participation of daily activities.¹⁶⁻¹⁸ For these children, parental knowledge and experiences along with the environment play an important role in facilitating their participation in daily activities, including self-care.¹⁹ Early childhood development, environmental factors and its relationship to participation are discussed in more detail below.

1.3 Self-care, early development, and the environment

In this section I consider constructs related to children's early development and environmental factors and the role that this plays in the participation of daily activities, particularly in relation to self-care.

1.3.1 Early childhood development

Early childhood development is defined by some^{20, 21} as a "maturational and interactive process, resulting in an ordered progression of perceptual, motor, cognitive, language, socio-emotional, and self-regulation skills". Developmental outcomes include the acquisition of developmental competencies in behavioural, socio-emotional, and academic domains.²² This includes children's participation in self-care.²³

The role of motor skill development in particular has often been investigated and discussed in the acquisition of developmental competencies and the facilitation of participation in daily activities in infants and children.²⁴⁻²⁶ For example, the milestone of balancing the trunk and stabilising the head to use the arms and hands freely to self-feed, is one of the first examples of how motor skills can influence self-care.²⁷ This skill emerges between the ages of 5 and 10 months in typically developing infants.²⁵ Similarly, the development of fine motor skills in infants can directly influence their ability to handle tools and use items like spoons and cups to eat and drink.²⁷

Another study²⁶ which investigated the longitudinal associations of age at achieving gross motor milestones and children's development found a correlation between the achievement of gross motor milestones and self-care. More specifically the study found that the age at which a child first stood predicted their self-care ability at the age of 4 years.²⁶ Beyond motor development, the association between cognitive and language development and participation in daily activities, including self-care has also been frequently investigated.²⁸⁻³¹ In an observational study²⁸ investigating toilet training in typically developing children, understanding and following instructions (cognitive development) had the most significant correlation with successful toilet training.

However, developmental health extends beyond the development of perceptual, motor, cognitive, language, socio-emotional, and self-regulation skills. Child development is also influenced by social circumstances in early life and other environmental factors.³¹ Through global initiatives like UNICEF's sustainable development goals³² to promote early child development, research is increasingly recognising the important impact that inadequate or deprived physical and social environments can have on developmental

outcomes and participation.^{32, 33} Many now recognise that child development and subsequently participation is a product of a child's continuing interactions with their physical, social and attitudinal environments for both typically developing children and those with impairments or disabilities.^{20, 34} The impact of environmental factors on participation is discussed in more detail in the section below.

1.3.2. Environmental factors

The environment, more specifically a contextualised setting, plays an important role in participation.¹¹ A study⁷ carried out with typically developing, preschool-aged children found that environmental factors along with child factors (including motor and cognitive skills) contributed to children's participation in everyday activities, which includes self-care. A previous study field³⁵, looking at the development of self-care in children, also found it helpful to differentiate the concepts of activities in the following constructs: (a) capacity (what a child is capable of doing in a standardised environment); (b) capability (what a child is capable of doing in a daily environment); and (c) performance (what a child actually does in a daily environment).

The ICF² emphasises the importance of understanding the influence of environmental factors when measuring participation, and assessing participation and environmental factors together can enhance our understanding of how specific settings might influence a young child's participation in everyday activities.³⁶ Environmental factors that impact on participation include three key areas: (1) the physical environment, (2) the social environment, including parental level of education, parental self-efficacy beliefs, parental stress, and social support, and (3) the attitudinal environment in which people live and conduct their lives.^{2, 37, 38} It is important to consider the differences in the context, which is personal to an individual, and the external environment which refer to broader social and environmental structures.¹¹

In this doctoral research programme, the impact of the physical environment on children's self-care is investigated, along with the social and attitudinal environment. This includes the associated environmental factors associated with the COVID-19 pandemic.

1.4 School readiness

Following the discussion of early childhood development in Section 1.3.1, school readiness is also considered an important developmental outcome.³⁹ It is also an important consideration for this doctoral research programme as the population of interest for this research was children who were soon to start formal schooling, or recent school starters. While self-care is important in its own right, it is also a crucial preparatory competency for school readiness. For example, there is an expectation that most children will be able to toilet, dress and eat with minimal supervision in the formal school setting.⁸ As such, self-care abilities contribute to children's capacity to perform in the school environment successfully, and difficulties in self-care can impact on their learning.

The early year foundation stage (EYFS) framework⁴⁰ defines school readiness as " the broad range of knowledge and skills that provide the right foundation for good future progress through school and life". Kindred Squared⁴¹ refers to school readiness "as children being developmentally ready to access the learning and development opportunities available to them in the reception year, where this is not due to a previously identified Special Educational Need or Disability (SEND). It refers to the full range of developmental measures, not simply a narrow measure of 'academic' attainment".⁴¹

Along with learning and developing, there are activities during the school day that require children to be independent in self-care or activities of daily living. At school, children will need to be able to open their packed lunch or use a knife, fork, and spoon for school meals and to be able to eat during the school day.⁴² Children will also be expected to: wear underwear to school and know when they need to use the toilet; go to the bathroom by themselves and wipe themselves; dress and undress themselves after going to the toilet or taking part in a P.E. or games lesson; and put their socks and shoes and coat on.⁴² Dressing involves doing up zips or buttons, which requires age-

appropriate fine motor skills, and similarly, challenges with fine motor skills will impact a child's ability to use eating utensils or open food containers independently.^{43, 44}

1.5 What is the problem in supporting self-care?

The underpinning motivation for investigating this topic was to provide evidence for improving support for self-care for children and families. This is an agreed priority NHS improvement target for families, healthcare providers, and decision-makers.^{1, 45-47} Specifically, within this, enabling self-care development in children most likely to find it difficult, e.g. children with motor impairments, is a core activity for children's healthcare professionals with participation in self-care being regarded as a core health outcome for all children. It is also a key area of focus for health care professionals working with children and young people with a neurodisability.^{2, 48} For many children and young people, the presence of a neurodisability results in motor impairments of which the extent of this can vary.⁴⁹ Further, in another study¹, participants and researchers ranked self-care as the top priority for improvement when asked to rate participation outcomes in the order of importance for health improvement.

However in spite of this, there has been very little research to date to generate empirical evidence to guide improvements or health care professionals' practice.¹ Furthermore, little is known about self-care development in children with motor impairments compared to their typically developing peers.³⁵ Insight into children's performance in relation to their participation in self-care activities is essential for professionals designing optimal interventions.⁵⁰

The population of focus for this doctoral research were young children (2-5 years) with and without motor impairments. Early childhood is a sensitive time for development, including self-care⁵¹, and so understanding self-care during this period is of potentially significant value to professionals and families. Motor impairments were, in this doctoral research, understood as impairments in neuromusculoskeletal and movement related functions. Children with motor impairments include children with neurodisability, i.e., long-term conditions attributed to impairment of the brain and/or neuromuscular

system, which represent the largest group of disabled children in the United Kingdom (UK), with an estimated prevalence of 3-4%.⁵² They are at increased lifelong risk of multiple health and functioning problems, and their self-care problems are both significant and common.

Traditionally, in research with children, motor impairments have been operationalised through specific diagnostic conditions such as Cerebral Palsy (CP) and Developmental Coordination Disorder (DCD), which impact children's ability to move and maintain their posture and balance, amongst other factors. However, it has for some time now been accepted that the relationships between different childhood conditions are complex and that different conditions and related impairments often co-exist. In the case of children with motor impairments, I am looking at children with multiple long-term conditions, many of which are neurological in origin but also co-existing with other conditions e.g., cardiac conditions in the case of children with Down Syndrome (DS). While many children with motor impairments can achieve self-care levels similar to their typically developing peers this usually requires parent and therapy support (occupational therapy, physiotherapy, speech and language therapy). In the realities of front-line NHS practice, children present with diverse combinations of medical conditions, motor and other impairments, activity limitations, and participation restrictions. While some of the healthcare provided may focus on the management (or sometimes cure) of the medical conditions, the focus is increasingly often on the everyday activity limitations and participation restrictions and supporting the children and families to overcome these or live good quality lives with them. This is also the case when it comes to self-care, where the primary goal of the support and intervention is usually to improve the child's selfcare activity and increase participation.⁵³

In keeping with the underpinning motivation for this doctoral research, the results from this programme of research bring new insight into children's participation in self-care activities and the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic restrictions on children's self-care. The results are essential for healthcare professionals designing and implementing more effective interventions for these groups of children. Further, the results are relevant to parents, educators, and policymakers.

1.6 What is self-care support for children in the UK?

In the UK, children at birth typically receive a personal child health record⁵⁴ in the form of a 'Red Book'. Among other things, this also contains a space for parents to capture developmental milestones. These milestones are also intended to be checked on by health visitors through the universal healthy child programme.⁵⁵ Currently, most of this developmental focus is on basic abilities such as motor skills and speech. In comparison, there is little data⁵⁶ available on children's self-care to guide healthcare professionals on this critical area of participation. As a result, many healthcare professionals and parents are unclear as to how positive self-care development and participation looks like. This means that opportunities for early interventions can be missed, and self-care difficulties only flagged up when children's problems have become established.⁵⁷ For example, it is common for many children in the UK to be referred to occupational therapy for self-care support for the first time, by special educational needs coordinators (SENCOS),⁵⁸ when children's challenges with self-care impact on their ability to participate at school.

Further, for many children with motor impairments in the UK, access to early intervention, which is defined as the provision of support to ensure optimal child development during early childhood (i.e., 0-6 years), is also limited.⁵⁹ Early intervention can include specific therapy interventions and programs to improve child and family outcomes support, including difficulties with self-care. It was found that whilst many children have reasonable access to primary care, families found it harder to access more specialist support for children with motor impairments, and that children are often subject to lengthy waiting lists.⁵⁹ For children who can access therapy intervention for self-care, a UK study found that the most common interventions include providing techniques on how to learn a task (i.e. giving instructions and practicing a task), and modifications to children's physical and social environment.⁶⁰

1.7 What does this programme of research add to existing knowledge?

This doctoral study programme initially set out to identify the trajectories, variations, and potential predictors of early self-care development in children with and without motor impairments, and to provide evidence for guiding self-care interventions in children. In response to changing circumstances, it later integrated research on the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic restrictions on children's self-care in the study programme. Now, at its completion, it provides new data on self-care to enable healthcare professionals to understand better factors influencing self-care, to inform interventions, and help therapists target the right children at the right time. This topic is in line with findings from a Delphi study⁶¹ led by the World Federation of Occupational Therapists (WFOT) on international occupational therapy research priorities, which identified evidence-based practice and knowledge translation, and participation in everyday life (including self-care) as being within the top four research priorities for the profession worldwide.

This evidence will also be relevant to other healthcare professionals (e.g., speech and language therapists, physiotherapists, health visitors and paediatricians) working with young children experiencing challenges in self-care. It is anticipated that findings from this doctoral programme of study will also be relevant to those involved in early years education, as guidance from this study will help with the early identification of young children at risk of or who present with challenges in self-care participation. It is expected that early identification of challenges to support participation in self-care in young children will not only promote children's independence from an early age and improve their quality of life. It will also contribute to a more efficient use of occupational therapy resources and a more targeted intervention as therapists will have an increased understanding of factors influencing self-care development and participation and when the best time is to provide therapy input.

Planned data collection and recruitment for this study coincided with the COVID-19 pandemic, and as a result, the pandemic heavily influenced the direction of this doctoral programme of study. Instead of one large-scale longitudinal study, data were collected from a range of sources, including qualitative data gathered from parent forums on the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic restrictions on their children's self-care. As a result, it was not possible to identify trajectories of self-care in children with and without motor impairments as initially planned. Instead, findings related to factors influencing self-care in children with and without motor impairments. More specifically, chapter 4 provides

new knowledge on factors and interventions that influence children and young people's self-care. Chapter 6 provides further insight into factors influencing self-care in children with and without motor impairments. Chapters 7 and 8 provides insight into how the COVID-19 pandemic impacted on children's self-care at both home and school.

1.8 Thesis organisation

This PhD thesis is split into ten chapters. Following this introductory chapter, in Chapter 2, I present the conceptual frameworks used to guide and make sense of the doctoral research.

In Chapter 3, I summarise the research question and aims, discuss the overall research design, and present the epistemological standpoint, alongside the PPIE (Patient and Public Involvement and Engagement) and a brief statement on the changes that had to be made to the planned research as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.

In Chapter 4, I report the methods and results of the systematic review of factors influencing children's self-care. I also consider how the findings compare with the wider evidence on children's self-care.

In Chapter 5, I set out the methods for the longitudinal EASIER study and discuss the strengths and weaknesses of its design, execution and reflect on how the COVID-19 pandemic impacted this study.

In Chapter 6, I focus on self-care in children with motor impairments and reports on quantitative data on children's self-care from the ActiveCHILD study.

In Chapter 7, I focus on the impact of the COVID-19 lockdown restrictions on children's self-care and report the results of a qualitative, interpretive exploration of parents' discussions about their children's self-care during the lockdown on an online forum.

In Chapter 8, I discuss the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on children's school readiness and self-care, based on document analysis, and the impact that challenges in self-care have on all children, teachers, and schools in general.

In Chapter 9, I bring together the quantitative and qualitative results for factors influencing children's self-care using a sequential synthesis design.

Finally, in Chapter 10, I summarise the main findings, highlight the strengths and weaknesses of the overall research programme, and consider the implications for key stakeholder groups, along with recommendations for future research.

Chapter 2: Conceptual Frameworks

The purpose of this doctoral research programme was to explore self-care in children with and without motor impairments. In the previous chapter, I presented the purpose and context of the research programme, defined the importance of participation in selfcare for children, and the contribution that this doctoral research makes to the subject area, children's self-care. In this chapter, I present the conceptual frameworks used to guide and make sense of the doctoral research.

2.1 Ecological systems theory

I selected Bronfenbrenner's ecological model^{62, 63} as the basis of the theoretical framework model for this doctoral research programme because it highlights the importance of environmental factors, personal characteristics, and contextual factors in shaping children's development.⁶⁴ I utilised it to investigate factors influencing children's self-care development and their participation in self-care.

As a considerable proportion of data collection for this doctoral programme took part during the COVID-19 pandemic, I recognised that there could be ecological influences as a result of the pandemic that would potentially impact on children's self-care.^{65, 66} Using an ecological model as the theoretical framework was helpful here, for structuring the data collection and analysis.

Ecological models, such as this one⁶³, interpret the various aspect impacting on human development through a holistic approach⁶⁷, an approach that would be important to understand how self-care develops in children and what the contributing factors are for children who develop differently in this area. Bronfenbrenner⁶³ particularly sought to identify important, underlying mechanisms that explain the reciprocal interaction between individuals and their environment, which is relevant in child health and development.^{64, 67}

The ICF⁶⁸ framework from the WHO (World Health Organisation), which is both a multipurpose framework and classification system, also take environmental factors into

account. However, Bronfenbrenner's model suggests that there could different entry points according to his model that need to be considered when looking at factors influencing children's self-care. Therefore, Bronfenbrenner's⁶³ model was utilised in this doctoral research programme, along with the ICF framework in chapter 4.

Since its conceptualisation, Bronfenbrenner's model^{62, 63, 69} has evolved from its original ecological focus to a more comprehensive bioecological model, which now incorporates the dynamic interplay between biological, psychological, and environmental factors. This model consists of five interrelated systems: 1) microsystem, 2) mesosystem, 3) exosystem, 4) macrosystem, and 5) chronosystem.^{67, 70} These five systems are discussed below.

2.1.1 The microsystem

In the Bronfenbrenner model, the microsystem⁶² refers to the immediate environment surrounding an individual⁶⁷, encompassing their daily interactions with others. In the case of children, this may include family members, peers, teachers, and others. For children who participated in this doctoral research programme, the microsystem typically included home and either nursery, school, or the home and people of a childminder. According to the framework, this level of the ecological model plays an essential role in shaping a child's development, as the microsystem accounts for direct experiences and relationships that influence behaviours, beliefs, and values.⁶⁷ The importance of the microsystem can be seen clearly in Chapter 7, where the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic lockdown restrictions on children's self-care and their families are discussed.

Family dynamics, including family structure, and family relations, all play a vital role in the microsystem. For many children, the COVID-19 pandemic and the associated lockdown restrictions meant a significant disruption in family dynamics⁷⁰, with many children unable to see their extended family for a lengthy period of time and children losing loved ones and relatives.

At the microsystem level, personal characteristics, or body factors, including motor and cognitive abilities, can also significantly impact an individual's development and ability to participate in daily activities, which include self-care.⁷¹ Additionally, environmental factors such as socioeconomic status, family resources, and community resources can significantly impact an individual's experiences within this level.⁶⁷ For example, it has been found that high-income families invest more time and resources into children's cognitive and physical development than their lower-income counterparts.⁷² Lower socio-economic status may also influence a child's access to services through parental or neighbourhood factors.⁷³

The findings from this programme of research on personal characteristics and environmental factors influencing children's participation in self-care are discussed in detail in Chapters 4,5,6,7 and 8.

2.1.2. The mesosystem

The second layer, the mesosystem⁶², relates to the connections and interactions between the microsystems in an individual's life.⁶⁷ This includes the relationships between family members, teachers, peers, and other social groups besides family that play a role in a child's life. The mesosystem highlights the importance of understanding how different microsystems work together to influence an individual's development.⁶⁷ In this doctoral research programme, I anticipated that, as with the microsystem, the mesosystem for most of the study participants would have been disrupted due to the COVID-19 pandemic lockdown restrictions.

For example, many relationships that could usually impact on a child's development were of a different nature during the pandemic. Usual interactions between parents and children's teachers were replaced by emails and online meetings.^{74, 75} For most children in the UK, except those of key workers, regular face-to-face school attendance was replaced by online school.⁷⁶ This limited the interactions between a child and their peer group and the interactions between children's peer groups and their families, which would have normally taken place before the lockdown restrictions. Children without siblings would also have had a different experience of the lockdown restrictions than

those who had brothers and/or sisters to interact with.⁷⁷ Many children with developmental disabilities benefit from learning experiences with their peers⁷⁵, and only children without siblings⁷⁸ would not have had this opportunity or interaction with other children during the lockdown.

Identifying and understanding the complex relationships that play a role in a child's development are crucial in determining the contextual factors that contribute to a child's development^{67, 70}, and in the case of this doctoral research programme, the development of self-care.

2.1.3 The exosystem

The next layer, the exosystem⁶², refers to the broader social and environmental contexts that indirectly influence an individual's development.⁶⁷ These contexts include factors such as community resources, government policies, and the availability of social services. In Chapter 4, one can see the impact that socioeconomic status and access to adaptive equipment has on self-care participation for children with Cerebral Palsy.

Children in low-income families often have less access to medical care, which includes developmental check-ups⁷⁹which they need, as a result of being unable to afford to attend appointments. Some families in the UK have reported missing their child's medical appointments because of the financial costs of attending one due to travel, parking, food, childcare costs, and potential loss in earnings.⁸⁰

Another study⁸¹, carried out in the US, found that children from lower-income households are less likely to be diagnosed with Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) and receive the support they need. As a result, researchers⁸¹ found significant differences in functional independence between children with ASD from higher and lower-income households, with children from higher-income families or households being more independent. For parents of children with medical complexity (CMC), accessibility barriers significantly impacted on care at home and the child's participation in family life.¹⁶ This became even more difficult as children got older, and the study¹⁶ highlighted

the impact of CMC of not having access to a suitable, adapted living space on the whole family.

Even for children who do not have direct contact with these elements, they can still exert a considerable influence on their development. For example, children with limited access to playgrounds and opportunities for play could develop differently than those with access to these amenities.⁸² Similarly, a child living in a neighbourhood with limited access to public transport, quality education or healthcare could face developmental challenges due to these environmental factors.⁸³

For participants in this programme of research, children from different socio-economic backgrounds and those who live in different types of housing, with and without garden access, would also have had a different kind of lockdown experience⁸⁴ that shaped their development. A study⁸⁵ conducted in the North-East of England found that COVID-19 impacted young people from different backgrounds differently and concluded that the pandemic had widened existing inequalities for young people in the UK.

2.1.4 The macrosystem

The fourth layer, the macrosystem⁶², encompasses the broader cultural, societal, and ideological forces that shape an individual's development.⁶⁷ This system accounts for the impact of cultural beliefs, values, customs, and social norms on a child's development. Cultural contexts can play a significant role in influencing children's behaviour and developmental outcomes.⁸⁶ For example, in a family or culture where children are encouraged to be independent, it is likely to see different outcomes in self-care compared to a culture where doing as much as possible for children is seen as a sign of affection.⁸⁷

Another example of this is eating habits and the use of cutlery in different cultures.⁸⁸ In many countries, individuals use their hands to eat or could use other eating utensils such as chopsticks. It has been observed that child refugees often struggle with the Western expectation of eating with cutlery if they have not been exposed to using a knife or fork before.⁸⁹

2.1.5 The chronosystem

The final level, the chronosystem⁶², focuses on the role of time in shaping a child's development.⁶⁷ In this level, the influence of historical events, personal experiences, and major life transitions on developmental processes are considered. For participants in this doctoral research programme, the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic lockdown restrictions could have played a significant role in their development and participation in daily activities, including self-care, for years to come. In addition, data collection for the empirical studies in this doctoral research programme also coincided with the UK leaving the European Union⁹⁰, which could have impacted on family life for some participants.

As children progress through various stages of life and their development, they may also encounter a range of experiences that shape their development. For example, a child who experienced the loss of a close relative, an experience that many children had during the pandemic, may undergo significant changes in their family structure, which can impact their development in numerous ways. The COVID-19 pandemic has also exacerbated mental health conditions for many children.⁷⁶ Some of the mental strain caused by the pandemic is attributed to missed or delayed opportunities for celebrations and marking milestones; direct stress related to the virus, the stress of trying to avoid the virus and protect loved ones; and ongoing economic distress resulting from lockdown restrictions.^{91, 92}

In addition to the mental health impact on children during and following the effects of the pandemic, Covid 19 also directly impacted children's physical health. Many parents of children with cerebral play indicated that they did not take their children to routine health appointments for fear of transmission of the virus.⁹³

Figure 2.1 illustrates the ecological factors that could have impacted on children's development and self-care in the UK during the timeframe for this programme of research.



Figure 2.1 Bronfenbrenner's ecological systems theory and children's self-care in the UK, adapted from Bronfenbrenner's original model.

2.2 Logic model of factors influencing self-care

Prior to the start of the study, I constructed a logic model⁹⁴ showing factors that I anticipated would play a role in children's self-care. Logic models are often constructed to hypothesise how an intervention could work, and then revisited and adjusted following measuring the output of the intervention.⁹⁵ I used this principle to construct a

logic model of potential predictors of self-care, and was also informed by Bronfenbrenner's⁶³ ecological model discussed in section 2.1, to construct this model.

In the logic model shown in Figure 2.2, I proposed that child factors, including mobility and fine motor skills, are some of the key intervention elements, along with the provision of appropriate equipment and adaptations to provide children with motor impairments the opportunity to participate in self-care. I also proposed that potential difficulties in the areas outlined in the box, child factors could impact on parent selfefficacy, willingness to take risks, and parental stress levels. Overall, on a macrolevel outcome, I anticipated that the level of participation in self-care could affect children's long-term health, development, social integration, and school readiness. I anticipated that self-care outcomes could be moderated by children's intellectual ability, their level of disability, birth order in their family, ethnicity, complex medical needs and possibly birthweight. Further, I also considered that socioeconomic status, parental education levels, the physical environment, along with the time spent in and out of home environments could predict and influence the distal and macrolevel outcomes proposed in Figure 2.2.



Figure 2.2 A proposed logic model of factors influencing children's self-care.
2.3 Summary

In summary, this chapter discussed the use of Bronfenbrenner's ecological systems theory model as a theoretical framework to make sense of and guide the research discussions in this PhD thesis. A logic model was also constructed and used to predict potential factors influencing children's self-care. Both, the theoretical framework and the logic model are revisited in chapter 9, following the data analysis and synthesis.

Chapter 3: Overall Research Aims and Design

In this chapter, I present the overall aims and objectives, as well as the design and methodology, alongside epistemology. I also describe the study population on which the research programme focused, ethics and governance, patient and public involvement and the ways in which the outcome of self-care was operationalised and measured. Finally, this chapter discusses changes made to the doctoral programme because of the COVID-19 pandemic.

3.1 Research aims and objectives

The overall aim of this research programme was to generate new knowledge and evidence about factors influencing self-care in children with and without motor impairments.

The study objectives were the following:

- To identify personal and environmental factors influencing self-care in children and young people.
- 2. To investigate intervention techniques for supporting self-care.

A later objective was added to adapt the research programme to the context of the COVID-19 pandemic and related restrictions on research.

3. To identify the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic restrictions on children's selfcare and parents.

3.2 Broad approach and methodology

This doctoral programme of research took the form of a mixed methods design which was used to gain a better and deeper understanding of children's self-care by providing a fuller picture of factors influencing it.⁹⁶ It is important to consider that mixed methods research is more than simply utilising two different methods in the same study.⁹⁶ It is considered a research methodology in its own right with its own philosophical assumptions and methods of enquiry.⁹⁷ An important proposed strength of mixed methods⁹⁸ is the potential to provide particularly rich, multidimensional insights across

quantitative and qualitative data, providing perspectives that cannot be fully comprehended by one type of data alone.

There are six, commonly referred to, justifications for using a mixed methods design in research.⁹⁸ The first of these is the opportunity to widen the inquiry and add to the depth and breadth of the study. Second it is a need for a particular holistic overview of a phenomenon, which is in the case of this doctoral study programme is self-care in children with and without motor impairments. Thirdly, it is to support researchers in accumulating a more in-depth and comprehensive understanding of the phenomenon investigated. Fourthly, a mixed method approach can support researchers to strengthen the rigor of their research and conclusions through triangulation of data across sources and data types. Fifthly the data triangulation can be used for validating results obtained from each of the quantitative and qualitative methods. The final justification for using a mixed methods approach is to develop refined conclusions as one method is used to inform or shape the use of the other one.^{97, 98}

The overall design for this research programme was informed by the objectives of identifying factors influencing self-care in children with and without motor impairments and learning about the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on children's self-care. Following the six points discussed above, I felt that a mixed method study would provide the most comprehensive overview of factors influencing children's self-care. The quantitative methods utilised in Chapters 5 and 6 were deemed relevant and important to collect statistically relevant information on factors influencing children's self-care. To complement this, the qualitative data collected in Chapters 7 and 8 provide more insight into the types of self-care difficulties that children experienced and the impact on others, including parents, teachers, and other pupils at school. Both the quantitative and qualitative research carried out in this research programme was informed and influenced by the mixed methods evidence synthesis discussed in Chapter 4.

When considering the methods selected in a mixed methods study there are some key considerations to take into account.⁹⁹ These include the priority of the approaches included in the study; the level of interaction between the component methods and

data; and the timing of data collection and analysis of the quantitative and qualitative threads in the study.^{97, 98, 100} Mixed methods can be combined in many different ways, including sequentially where findings from one strand informs the approach of the other, or concurrently where qualitative and quantitative date are collected in and analysed in parallel.^{97, 101, 102} Within mixed methods research a convergent parallel mixed methods design, which mixes the qualitative and quantitative methods to triangulate the findings, or a sequential design can be followed.^{97, 102}

I followed a sequential design which started with a mixed methods evidence synthesis followed by two quantitative longitudinal cohort studies. This was followed by a qualitative study of parent discourses, and a mixed-method analysis of existing data on children's self-care in school following the COVID-19 pandemic.

- The systematic review focused on the quantitative and qualitative evidence for factors influencing self-care. (Study objectives 1,2 and 3)
- The focus of the longitudinal survey study was to collect data on children's selfcare on a six-monthly basis through a parent questionnaire to learn more about children's self-care development in relation to the demographic data collected from participants. (Study objective 1)
- The quantitative data analysis of existing longitudinal data investigated factors influencing self-care in children with motor impairments. (Study objective 1)
- The qualitative study collected data on parents' perspectives in an online forum on the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic lockdown restrictions on their child's self-care. (Study objective 3)
- The qualitative analysis of government documents on teacher's perspectives how the COVID-19 pandemic lockdown restrictions impacted on children's self-care in the school environment. (Study objective 3)

The findings of each individual study discussed in chapters four to seven informed and influenced the methodology for the subsequent chapter. Whilst mixed methods studies are often planned in advance, they can also take the form of an emergent design which arises during the course of the research programme.⁹⁷ In this doctoral research

programme an emergent design evolved due to the circumstances around the originally planned quantitative data collection.

Shortly after ethics approval was obtained for the EASIER study, just before the first wave of data collection was due to commence, the study was interrupted by the arrival of the global COVID-19 pandemic. Besides the fact that the EASIER study was put on hold by the NHS, which delayed the data collection for this study, I also recognised that the COVID-19 pandemic was an event that would significantly impact on children's overall development and possibly self-care.

To explore the impact of the pandemic on children' self-care and capture the voices of parents on this topic, I carried out a qualitative study on the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic lockdown restrictions. This method considered that there were methodological constraints due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Studies involving children or direct contact with parents would have required NHS REC approval. During the pandemic, studies related to the treatment of COVID-19 (particularly pharmacological interventions) were prioritised for NHS REC approval. Due to these constraints, parent responses on Mumsnet and Netmums, parent internet forums^{103, 104} of which answers are in the open domain, were analysed instead.

The internet-based qualitative study still allowed for meaningful views of parents about the impact of the lockdown restrictions on their children's self-care to be captured.¹⁰⁵ As parents were not directly contacted and existing data in the public domain was used, this methodology was deemed suitable by Newcastle University ethics and, therefore, possible to capture this information in a timely manner without NHS REC constraints.

To add to the data on the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic lockdown restrictions on children's self-care, teacher responses from YouGov reports^{41, 106} were analysed along with other studies on how the lockdown impacts children in mainstream and special education schools. The exact methodology for each of the research streams in this PhD programme is specified below.

3.3 Epistemological standpoint

In this doctoral research, I took a pragmatist¹⁰⁷stance. Whilst quantitative research is usually informed by positivism focussing on the objective reality, and qualitative research underpinned by interpretivism emphasising subjective meaning, mixed method research brings together these philosophies into what is referred to as a third research paradigm often influenced by pragmatism.^{96, 108} The epistemic aim of this programme of research was to generate new knowledge on children's self-care that could inform healthcare professionals, parents, educators, and policymakers and guide expectations as to what children should be able to do for themselves. Pragmatism is underpinned by the belief knowledge is always based on experiences.¹⁰⁹ It also a theory that is focused on improving practical understanding of real-world issues.¹¹⁰ Besides generating new knowledge and understanding on the topic, I also thought it was important to identify the environmental and contextual factors that explain the variance in self-care across children from different backgrounds and with different health conditions.

3.4 Population of interest

Overall, the research programme focused on young children aged 2 to 5 years, with and without motor impairments. This age group was chosen as participation in self-care is a requirement for engaging in community activities from early on and especially so for children' school readiness.

The biggest diagnostic group included in children with motor impairments was CP. The prevalence of CP in the UK, where the research for this doctoral research programme took place, is 186 per 100 000 population¹¹¹, and further CP is a leading cause of physical disability in children in the developed world, which makes this research of interest for other child health providers in the rest of the world. Further, a primary goal of therapeutic intervention for this group of children is to increase participation in self-care activities, which makes them an important demographic group for this programme of research.

For the systematic review discussed in Chapter 4, studies were included with participants up to the age of 18 years, and in Chapter 7, qualitative data were collected from parents of nursery and primary school-aged children (approximately 1-11 years). This wider age group was selected to maximise the evidence in relation to self-care for these studies, as limiting the age group for both the systematic review and qualitative responses from parents during the COVID-19 pandemic lockdown would have significantly limited the research evidence obtained from these studies. Further, expanding beyond the 3-6-year age group provided me with a wider perspective of selfcare difficulties and how it affects children and young people in different ways, and evidence-based interventions to address to challenges with self-care in this population.

3.5 Self-care as an outcome

The main health outcome for this doctoral research programme was children's self-care, defined in previous work with service users as a combination of (i) "making decisions about things that affect me" and (ii) "developing and learning to look after myself".¹ The definition covers tasks from basic self-care (e.g. dressing, personal hygiene, eating) to complex action sets (e.g. managing money and time, snack preparation and cooking, laundry and clothes care, cleaning, accessing resources, and managing and directing care providers). This is similar to the self-care definition adopted by the NHS¹¹² and occupational therapy paediatric practice.

In the EASIER and ActiveCHILD studies discussed in chapters 5 and 6, self-care was measured using the Daily Activities domain from the Pediatric Evaluation of Disability Inventory Computer Adaptive Testing (PEDI-CAT). This domain assesses the child's ability to participate in self-care and not the frequency of self-care participation. For the other studies in this doctoral programme, the outcome was guided by children's ability to participate in self-care as defined in the paragraph above.

3.6 Ethics and governance

I carried out this doctoral study programme in adherence with the NHS Research Governance Framework and the specific procedures agreed for the project in the Health

Research Authority (HRA) and Research Ethics Committee (REC) approvals. Specific details for each study are discussed in their respective chapters. For the qualitative research that used freely available online data (Chapter 7), I received Newcastle University ethical approval.

During the study I also had training and experience in conducting research with adherence to good clinical practice principles and legal requirements e.g., Good Clinical Practice (GCP), and General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR). I also completed NIHR training on communication and consent in paediatric research setting along with relevant research and mandatory training at the faculty of medical sciences at Newcastle University.

All data collection adhered to NHS Research Ethics guidance as well as other best practice guidance (e.g., Nuffield Bioethics¹¹³ recommendations for research with children). Data related to current self-care development were collected using rigorous quantitative techniques e.g., the used of a standardised computer adaptive test (PEDI-CAT) and guided by established practice in behavioural sciences to maintain valid and high-quality data. Further, all data met standards for replication. In relation to storage, data were managed and stored in accordance with University of Newcastle processes: <u>https://research.ncl.ac.uk/rdm/working/</u>. National Data Guardian standards and principles were adhered to for data security.

3.7 Patient and public involvement

The overall programme of self-care research (www.childresearch.co.uk/self-careprojects/) in which the EASIER project sat at the commencement of the research emerged from a formal involvement/engagement project with service users and providers in the North-East.¹ In that project, self-care and related interventions were prioritised and a plan for moving forward co-designed. The service user partners involved six young people and one young adult aged 11- 18 years from children's NHS services, and four parents from children's NHS services. The young people and parents prioritised the research topic and defined the outcome of self-care, identified problems

with current self-care support, and co-designed a new intervention and a research study to evaluate it.

This specific doctoral study programme had input from the Young Person's Advisory Group North England (YPAGne), based at the Newcastle Hospitals in Newcastle upon Tyne. YPAGne are a group of young people who meet monthly to review research aimed at children and young people. The purpose of a Young Person's Advisory Group (YPAG)¹¹⁴ is for children and young people to actively participate as partners and to advise researchers and their teams on a full range of activities in various clinical research projects and initiatives. The first YPAG group was formed in the UK in 2006, and this model for including children and young people in research has since been adopted across Europe. YPAGne members are between the age of 13 and 18 years, some of whom have experience of living with a long-term health condition or disability, others with experience of receiving care in a hospital setting, and others who joined the group because of a general interest in learning more about health and research. Members volunteer their time, but the NIHR covers the running costs of the group (catering and travel costs).

The overarching principle of YPAG¹¹⁴ is that by participating in the group, children are transformed from research subjects to active contributors and partners in the research process. Some of the contributions that YPAG can make to research include: obtaining children's and young people's views about the research idea and sharing their opinions on the feasibility and the appropriateness of the study; sharing their views on the practical implications of the study, for example, the number of appointments required and the impact on this on other areas of participation; providing feedback on the participant information leaflet and it's level of appropriateness for children and young people; contributing to ethics applications by reviewing the lay summary; contributing to the interpretation of research findings; or contributing to the child and family-friendly feedback sent to the participants at the completion of the study.¹¹⁴

For the EASIER study, YPAGne contributed to the study description and shared feedback on the methods of the study. Following a presentation to the YPAGne group and other

attendees at the meeting, young people at the meeting participated in a workshop activity in which they discussed the EASIER study. The young people provided feedback on how to explain the study to participants to engage them in the study, potential barriers to participants for inclusion in the study, and the method of data collection. These suggestions were taken on board and considered in the research protocol.

3.7 Changes to data collection because of the COVID-19 Pandemic

The time point of REC and HRA approval (February 2020) coincided with the arrival of the COVID-19 virus in the UK. When COVID-19 first took hold in the UK, the NIHR asked NHS Trusts, and other research organisations to prioritise studies and trials that would help support the global response to COVID-19. These studies were known as urgent public health studies¹¹⁵ and as a result the trust who were hosting the EASIER study put the study on indefinite hold as it was not classed as an urgent public health study. According to the original ethics application, data was supposed to been collected during 2020, 2021 and 2022 at 6 monthly time points, and at that time point, there was no clear indication when non-urgent public health studies were to resume.

During this waiting, I engaged in other projects with the then CHILD research group in the Population Health Sciences Institute, which lead to the qualitative research work discussed in Chapter 7. It became clear that the proposed method of recruiting study participants face-to-face through health visitors and therapy appointments would be difficult as many staff working in these areas were redeployed¹¹⁶ and a considerable proportion of children's health appointments moved to online consultations during the COVID-19 pandemic.¹¹⁷ For example, it was reported for during the first wave of the pandemic that two-thirds of health visitors were having less than 10% of their contact with families face-to-face at in the home or a clinic.⁷⁹

I decided to put forward a major amendment to the NHS REC and HRA to move recruitment of the study online (<u>https://blogs.ncl.ac.uk/lbrewer2/</u>). However, I had to wait for the ethics process for non-urgent studies to resume and finally received an approval to move the study recruitment online in December 2020. The aim was to recruit typically developing children and children with motor impairments online through sharing

the study information on social media and with nursery schools. Children with motor impairments were still recruited through two NHS trusts in the North and in the Midlands of England after the study was portfolio adopted by the NIHR (National Institute of Health Research).

Although one of the original aims of finding out the trajectories of self-care in children with and without motor impairments were not achieved, I experienced a significant amount of personal learning in all stages of the study, from submitting the research proposal right up to the completion of the study.

The learning that I achieved from preparing the NHS ethics and portfolio application set the foundation for the research carried out throughout the rest of the doctoral study programme. Further, the difficulties that I experienced with recruiting participants for the EASIER study encouraged me to problem-solve creatively and to expand my research in order to meet the requirements for a PhD programme. I have reflected further on these challenges in chapter 9. In the process, I learned a variety of research methods including discourse analysis for qualitative research, which I would not have learned had the EASIER study gone as originally planned.

3.8 Conclusion

This chapter has outlined and discussed the methodology used in the programme of research to explore self-care in children, with and without motor impairments, and to investigate the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic lockdown restrictions on children's self-care. The following chapters present the mixed methods systematic review; the two quantitative studies, the EASIER and the ActiveCHILD, an analysis of parental discourses on how the pandemic impacted on their children's self-care, and teacher reports on children's self-care and levels of school readiness after the COVID-19 pandemic.

Chapter 4: A mixed methods systematic review of self-care in children and young people

The overall aim of this research programme was to investigate self-care in children with and without motor impairments. In the previous chapter (Chapter 3), I discussed the overall aims and objectives, as well as the design and methodology. I also described the study population on which the doctoral programme focused, ethics and governance, patient and public involvement and the ways in which the outcome of self-care was operationalised and measured. The present chapter is a mixed methods synthesis of factors influencing self-care in children and young people.

A rapid review of self-care interventions for children published in 2016¹ found limited evidence on self-care interventions to guide practice and policy. That review has not since been updated, and it was possible that new evidence has emerged that could inform interventions. Furthermore, that review¹ did not investigate factors influencing self-care that could be used to guide the development of interventions and was solely focused on interventions targeting children's self-care.

The review described in this chapter systematically reviewed published evidence on factors influencing self-care and interventions that might affect self-care in order to enhance the understanding of self-care development, difficulties, and interventions.

4.1 Methods

I used the PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses) guidelines to report the evidence for this systematic review. A protocol was also published in the database of prospectively registered systematic reviews at www.crd.york.ac.uk (registration number CRD42017077366). The WHO International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health (WHO ICF)¹¹⁸ was used as an overarching framework for this systematic review. The ICF is the international, interdisciplinary consensus framework for describing functioning, health, and disability. Its main components are: 1) body structures and functions (also referred to as impairments), 2) activities and participation (also referred to as capacity and

performance, or activity limitations and participation restrictions), and 3) personal and environmental factors. The review question was: what factors or interventions may influence self-care and self-care development in children aged 0-18 years?

4.2 Search strategy and data sources

The search strategy was developed to locate papers reporting self-care in children and young people. It covered two facets, 'children and young people' and 'self-care', using free text terms and thesaurus-controlled standard terms (MeSH) where available. Terms within each facet were combined using the Boolean operator 'OR', and resulting sets of papers were combined using 'AND'. The exact search strategy used in each of the electronic databases is reported in Appendix A. Two key databases were searched: MEDLINE (1946 – March 2019, via Ovid) and CINAHL (1981- March 2019, via EBSCO). The search was updated in November 2022, including MEDLINE (April 2019 – November 2022, via Ovid) and CINAHL (February 2019 – November 2022, via EBSCO).

Results were downloaded to EndNote, and duplicates were removed. All references were uploaded to the Rayyan QCRI systematic review web application¹¹⁹, a tool designed to facilitate screening, abstraction, and review processes.

4.2.1. Inclusion criteria

I developed a Population, Intervention, Comparison, Outcome and Time (PICOT) inclusion and exclusion criteria (see figure 4.1) covering the following. The Population included children aged 0-18 years; and excluded dental conditions, diabetes, and shortterm impairments in body structures (e.g., fractures). Any or no Interventions or exposures, as well as comparison groups, were included. The studies with the outcome as self-care, fitting within the broad definition of 'doing everyday tasks related to looking after myself, and making decisions about how these tasks are done'¹ were included. Any type of study design published between 01.01.2007 and 15.11.2022 in English in a peerreviewed journal was included.

Self-care In children with and without motor impairments systematic review - inclusion/exclusion checklist



*movement is defined as: moving by changing body position or location or by transferring from one place to another, by carrying, moving or manipulating objects, by walking, running or climbing, and by using various forms of transportation.

Figure 4.1 Flowchart of study selection criteria

4.2.2 Study Selection and Data Extraction.

A member of the supervisory team (NK) and me independently double-screened 200 abstracts using the inclusion criteria (above). As there was 100% agreement between us, I then screened all the remaining abstracts using those criteria. In the screening, specificity was prioritised, and papers that were unclear about meeting the inclusion criteria were excluded. This was particularly pertinent in screening for the population: papers were retained only when it was clear from the title or abstract that the focus was on self-care in children or adolescents. Studies identified as relevant based on title and abstract were obtained as full-texts and assessed for eligibility.

I then extracted key numeric and textual characteristics from all included studies.

A second reviewer reviewed and confirmed the extraction. Data were extracted by the first author; year of publication; study design; geographical location; the participants; outcome constructs and measures used; and exploratory variables considered. In addition, for intervention studies, intervention labels, as provided by the authors, were extracted. Key results were also extracted for all included studies, including any numeric data relevant to explaining variation in self-care outcomes.

4.3 Risk of bias assessment

All included studies were assessed for methodological strengths and limitations, with a focus on the risk of confounding in quantitative studies and risks to rigour in qualitative studies. It was anticipated that the majority of studies would be non-intervention observational studies which can be more susceptible to bias than experimental studies, and where it is recommended for the quality assessment to pay particular attention to participant selection and outcome detection.¹²⁰

Version 2 of the Cochrane risk-of-bias tool for randomised trials (RoB 2)¹²¹ was used to assess the risk of bias in randomised controlled trials. For non-randomised observational

studies, selected items from the RTI bank¹²² of signalling questions for assessing the risk of bias, confounding, and precision in observational studies of interventions and exposures were used (Table 4.1). This approach included common items related to sources of threats to validity and precision while allowing them to be used in a way that differentiated between the studies on quality, specifically considering confounding.

For qualitative studies, the Critical Appraisal Skills Programme (CASP) qualitative checklist was used. (https://casp-uk.net/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/CASP-Qualitative-Checklist-2018.pdf) This comprises ten questions addressing clarity of aims; appropriateness of qualitative methodology; research design; recruitment strategy and data collection method; consideration of reflexivity and ethical issues; rigour of analysis; clarity of findings; and the value of the research.

For mixed methods intervention studies, the Mixed Methods Appraisal Tool (MMAT) Version 2018 was used

(http://mixedmethodsappraisaltoolpublic.pbworks.com/w/file/fetch/127916259/MMAT _2018_criteria-manual_2018-08-01_ENG.pdf). The MMAT was selected as it allowed one tool to be used for concomitantly appraising the most common types of empirical studies. The risk of bias assessment was undertaken independently by me and a second reviewer. Disagreements that arose between us were resolved through discussion and with the assistance of a third reviewer where required.

4.4 Data analysis and synthesis

The International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health (ICF)² was used as an overall organising framework for all data. Within this, data on the outcome and explanatory variables were first extracted and categorised (numeric data) and coded (qualitative data) according to the ICF. A tabulation approach¹²¹ was then used to analyse and interpret semi-quantitative (data consisting of approximate instead of precise measurements) and numeric data, including the child's function and contextual factors and how these related to self-care. The high levels of clinical, methodological, and statistical heterogeneity made data pooling inappropriate, and thus no meta-

analysis was undertaken. A vote counting table¹²¹ was used to assess relationships of the different factors on self-care based on the direction of effect to summarise and present the numeric data in relation to ICF categories and self-care.

4.5 Results

4.5.1 Study selection

The first electronic search of databases carried out in March 2019 returned 12,579 references, of which 2,049 were duplicates, resulting in 10,530 references. The search was updated in November 2022 and returned 5,108 references, of which 781 were duplicates, resulting in 4,327 references. In the initial title and abstract screen, 14,632 references were excluded, leaving 225 full texts to review. From these, 97 references (reporting on 97 studies) met the inclusion criteria and were retained for the review.

See Figure 4.2 for the PRISMA flow diagram of included and excluded papers.



Figure 4.2 Prisma flowchart of included studies

4.5.2 Characteristics of included studies

The included studies (Table 4.2) comprised of eight randomised controlled trials (RCTs), four qualitative studies, and 85 studies of other designs, such as observational and non-randomized trials. Of the included studies, 21 were intervention studies. The included studies involved 12,575 participants, and the sample sizes ranged from 1 to 818 in individual studies, with a median of 59 participants. The largest two studies^{123, 124} were in children and young people with cerebral palsy, with each reporting data for 818 children and young people.

In relation to data for specific age groups, 16 studies reported data for children aged ≤5 years, and 22 studies reported data on children >5 years. Fifty-nine studies reported data for children across these age groups. The included studies featured participants with a range of diagnoses. Fifty-one studies included solely children with CP, and two studies^{125, 126} included children who had a childhood stroke. Five studies^{42, 50, 127-129} included children with DCD, thirteen studies^{24, 130-141} included children with ASD, three studies¹⁴²⁻¹⁴⁴ included children born preterm, and three studies¹⁴⁵⁻¹⁴⁷ included children with Myelomeningocele (MMC). Two studies^{4, 148} included children with DD, three^{127, 149,} ¹⁵⁰ children with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD), and one¹⁵¹, children with Down Syndrome (DS). Two studies^{152, 153} included children with arthrogryposis, one¹⁵⁴ with Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis, one¹⁵⁵ with Spina Bifida, one¹⁵⁶ with Fibrodysplasia Ossificans Progressiva (FOP), and one¹⁵⁷ with Achondroplasia. Two studies^{158, 159} included children with cancer. Two studies^{7, 18} were carried out with typically developing children and in one of these studies⁷, the focus was on children cared for in different settings. One study¹⁶⁰ was across diagnostic boundaries and compared self-care in children with ASD and intellectual disabilities.

Included studies were published in English between 2007 and 2022, with 89 studies from 2010 onwards. Twenty-five studies were published from 2020 onwards. Studies were carried out in Africa (n=2), Asia (n=23), Australia (n=7), Europe (n=31), North America (n=23), and South America (n=11).

4.5.3 Quality of included studies

For the intervention studies, the research questions were clear, and the data collected addressed the research question. Most of these studies also described the study populations and selection in sufficient detail. Whilst the randomisation process was appropriately performed for three RCTs¹⁶¹⁻¹⁶³, all eight out of eight studies were at risk of bias due to concerns about the randomisation process deviations from the intended intervention missing outcome data and measurement of the outcome. The agreement in the quality appraisal between the two reviewers was high (84%). The agreement was calculated by dividing the number of quality appraisal statements agreed on by the total number of statements.

For the eleven non-randomised intervention studies included, all outcome and exposure measurements used to assess the effectiveness of the interventions were appropriate; however, for two of the studies^{164, 165} the outcome data were incomplete. In six^{145, 154, 166-169} of the eleven studies, confounders were accounted for in the design and the analysis, whilst for one study¹⁷⁰, it was not accounted for, and for four others^{139, 164, 165, 171}, it was not clear whether this was the case. All intervention studies were included in the data synthesis. The agreement in the quality appraisal between the two reviewers was high (94%), and agreement was calculated in the same way as above.

For the four qualitative studies, the design and methodology were clear. For all four studies^{42, 128, 138, 156}, there was a threat to validity from a lack of clarity over whether the relationship between the researcher and participants had been adequately considered. For these four studies, there was 100% agreement between reviewers.

For all ninety-three quantitative studies, valid and reliable measures were used for exposures (Table 4.2), and the inclusion/exclusion criteria and recruitment strategies were clearly reported. Self-care outcomes were assessed using 29 measurement tools (Table 4.4), with the PEDI most frequently used. Outcomes considered self-care ability (the ability to participate in self-care) and self-care competence (the combination of the knowledge, ability, and skills to participate in self-care). Taking into account the individual studies' limitations, the findings were considered partially credible in 40 of the

observational studies.¹²² Nevertheless, no study was excluded from data synthesis. The agreement in the quality appraisal between the two researchers was high (95%).

4.6 Findings

The results below included findings for non-intervention and intervention studies. For non-intervention studies, evidence was found in relation to body functions, environmental factors, and personal factors. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and the associated lockdown restriction on children's self-care was investigated in three studies.^{137, 172, 173} This is discussed under environmental factors, as these studies referred to the impact of the associated lockdown restrictions, not the actual coronavirus.

4.6.1 Body functions

Within body functions, movement functions, including those of the lower and upper extremities, were studied most frequently and showed the most consistent association with self-care (Table 4.5). Mental functions were frequently associated with self-care, with lower cognitive and executive functions predicting poorer self-care. Three studies⁴, ^{143, 174} investigated the association between children's birthweight and self-care with no association found. In one study¹⁵⁵, an association was found between the weight of adolescents with spina bifida and their self-care independence, with adolescents who were overweight demonstrating more difficulties with self-care.

The impact of pain was investigated in two studies^{123, 175}, and four studies^{136, 140, 176, 177}, considered the impact of sensory functions on self-care; in these, sensory processing and pain were associated with self-care. One study¹⁷⁸ investigated the association between attention and participation in self-care and found that children with ADHD participated in self-care less compared to peers without ADHD.

Children with ASD also presented with lower levels of self-care in comparison to peers without ASD; in Table 5.5, these findings are grouped under mental functions of language. The ICF refers to ASD as a group of conditions that are characterized by impairments of reciprocal social interaction, verbal and non-verbal communication, as

well as a preference for repetitive, stereotyped activities, behaviours, and interests. Based on this, children with ASD were grouped in Table 5.5 under the association between language and self-care, as limited other information was provided by the respective authors of these papers.

Two studies^{158, 159} investigated the occurrence of self-care difficulties in children with cancer. This group of children often present with higher levels of fatigue and pain, and previous research¹⁷⁹ has found high levels of upper limb impairments, including poor grip strength and poor bilateral coordination in this population, which impacts on participation in self-care. One study¹⁵⁹ showed a positive association between challenges with self-care and lymphoma, whereas another study¹⁵⁸ did not find a correlation between self-care difficulties and a cancer diagnosis.

4.6.2 Contextual factors: environmental and personal

The impact of environmental factors on self-care was considered in fourteen studies. Five studies^{134, 146, 180-182} found an association between children's age and self-care ability (Table 4.5); three studies found an association between the physical environment and self-care^{123, 183, 184} and one¹⁸⁵ found an association between socio-economic status and children's self-care. Two studies investigated cultural factors in relation to children's self-care. One¹⁴⁸ of these studies found significant differences in self-care between American and Taiwanese children, and the other study¹⁸⁶, which investigated self-care performance in Dutch and Spanish children, found that Dutch participants demonstrated a higher level of self-care ability. Regarding family factors, two studies^{124, 134} found positive associations between increased parental stress and family ecology and difficulty with self-care in children.

The COVID-19 pandemic and associated lockdown measures were a factor that played a significant role in children and young people's well-being across the world between 2020 when the virus was first discovered, and 2022 when some of the last worldwide Covid restrictions were implemented. Three studies^{137, 149, 172} included in this review investigated the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and the associated lockdown

measures on children's self-care. Two studies^{137, 172} found a decrease in children's ability to perform activities of daily living independently, whereas in another study¹⁴⁹, parents reported that their children demonstrated an increased engagement with personal care activities.

4.6.3 Qualitative findings

Four qualitative studies were included in this review. Two qualitative studies^{42, 128} investigated children and young people's experience of DCD and difficulties with selfcare through parent interviews. Both studies found that children and young people with DCD presented with challenges in self-care and were felt to be reliant on their parents to participate in self-care. The other two studies investigated self-care in children with ASD¹³⁸, and children with FOP.¹⁵⁶ Parents of children with ASD reported that eating independently was one of the most challenging areas of self-care for their children, whilst toileting was less of a challenge. Children with FOP, and their parents, reported that FOP had a significant impact on children's ability to participate in self-care and dressing and toileting. As with children with DCD, participants from the other two studies also required a high level of parental assistance with self-care.

4.6.4 Interventions for self-care

The interventions utilised in the 21 intervention studies (Table 4.6) varied from physical intervention to environmental adaptations. The most frequent intervention studied was the use of CIMT for children and young people with CP. All of the three studies^{164, 187, 188} found a positive association between CIMT and improved functional independence (Tables 4.3 and 4.6). HABIT was also associated with greater improvement in self-care in children with CP.¹⁶³

Conductive education was associated with improved self-care competence for children and young people with CP¹⁶⁶, and a visual perception intervention¹⁷¹ also demonstrated a positive correlation with increased self-care performance. For children with spastic diplegia, there was a strong association between task-orientated training and high variability practice and improved functional independence.¹⁸⁹ One study¹⁷⁰ of children

with CP, found a significant positive correlation between the frequency of allied health therapies and PEDI scores. Similarly, another study⁴⁰, found significant gains in self-care in children with CP when selective dorsal rhizotomy was followed with intensive Occupational Therapy sessions. Another study¹⁴⁵ found a significant positive correlation between intensive goal-directed therapy and PEDI scores, with children receiving the intervention presenting with higher scores. For children with CP, there was also a positive association between sit-to-stand training and self-care independence.¹⁶²

Other interventions associated with improved PEDI scores for self-care post-intervention included hippotherapy and educational programmes for primary caregivers.^{161, 190} Adaptive seating was associated with increased self-care participation when used.¹⁶⁸ No evidence was found of the impact of kinesio-taping on functional independence.¹⁹¹ For children with MCC, goal-setting training was associated with more significant improvements in toilet independence compared to traditional training or rehabilitation support.¹⁴⁵ For children with ASD, video-based interventions¹³⁹ were associated with improvements in self-care.

In relation to surgical interventions, children with CP showed a significant improvement in functional self-care performance after selective dorsal rhizotomy.¹⁶⁵ A pharmaceutical intervention Etanercept for children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis was associated with improved functional ability.¹⁵⁴

4.7 Discussion

This review summarised the available evidence on factors associated with self-care in children and young people aged between birth and 18 years and related interventions, and 97 peer-reviewed papers focussing on factors that influence self-care in children and young people were analysed.

Of body function and structure factors investigated, movement-related upper and lower extremity structures and functions, and cognitive and executive function, were consistently associated with self-care. Of environmental factors, age and physical

environment were consistently associated with self-care. Of intervention factors, adaptive seating, goal setting, educational programmes for primary caregivers, and constrained induced movement therapy were found to have shown promise in influencing self-care.

Although a diversity of diagnostic populations was represented, the overall evidence was heavily weighted towards children with CP, with evidence in other groups considerably thinner.

4.8 Strengths and weaknesses of the study

The main limitations of the present review were that: the included publications were limited to work published in English; the majority of included studies were crosssectional designs, which limits causal inferences; RCT's were of low quality; studies in children with CP were vastly overrepresented compared to other populations; and it was not possible to undertake further quantitative synthesis due to the heterogeneity of the measurement tools and study designs. Key strengths were the robust use of evidence synthesis methods throughout and the broad population inclusion criterion that allowed focus on children across diagnostic categories as well as those without known health or development problems.

4.9 Strengths and weaknesses in relation to other studies

This review updates and substantially expands previously summarised information on self-care in children and young people broadly and identifies new factors that should be taken into account when considering self-care development and support in children and young people across a range of abilities and health states.

The present study applied wide inclusion criteria, which generated results for a broad population, including results for typically developing children and children with a range of diagnostic categories, and summarised evidence about environmental factors alongside the more commonly considered movement and cognitive functions.

From this, there was an early suggestion of a dynamic relationship between the child's environment, capacity, and self-care. For example, typically developing children who attended nursery presented with greater self-care skills compared to children being cared for at home¹⁸⁴; children with CP had a better self-care performance with a more accessible physical environment¹²³; and children with severe CP and low SES (socioeconomic status) presented a worse performance in self-care¹⁸⁵ compared to children with severe CP and average to high SES.

Overall, due to the heterogeneity of the present literature, the variance that different types of factors explain remains difficult to establish, and further research is needed to unpack how environments impact on children's self-care.

4.10 Implications for clinicians and policymakers

Out of the intervention studies included in this review, CIMT and task-oriented training were associated with good outcomes in relation to improving self-care in children and young people with CP, whilst goal-setting training showed better outcomes for children and young people with MMC compared to traditional therapy support. However, the findings are limited by the heterogeneity of the study populations, the interventions, the quality of the evidence, and the outcome measures utilised, and careful consideration will continue to be required before and during the use of these interventions. There is an urgent need for clinicians and researchers to collaborate to develop studies to evaluate these and other existing self-care interventions with designs and populations that reflect clinical realities and the characteristics of the populations served. In particular, this needs to involve expanding studies to populations beyond CP and DCD.

4.11 Recommendations for future research

From this review, there are three clear future directions for studies of self-care. First, further exploratory studies to investigate how physical and social (including cultural) environmental factors influence self-care, including how they may interact with health conditions, body functions, and personal factors in the context of children's self-care.

Second, pain and sensory processing should be investigated further as both these factors demonstrated associations with self-care, but further large-scale evidence is needed to understand and test the relationships.

Third, and perhaps more urgently, future studies are needed to evaluate formally, at a large scale, the range of self-care interventions in practice and in later stages of development to produce summative conclusions and inform guidelines about which self-care interventions to use when and with whom. While some intervention studies were identified, overall, the evidence base about the effectiveness of interventions on children's self-care is very limited. This is especially concerning when considering the high prevalence of self-care problems observed in practice. The findings from the present review provide proof that, in principle, self-care interventions for children can be formally evaluated.

4.12 Conclusion

Whilst body functions show strong associations with self-care, there is also preliminary evidence to suggest that environmental factors are also important. Research about effective interventions is limited and skewed towards one diagnostic condition, and further research is recommended to investigate interventions applicable to a wider range of children and young people. In the next chapter, chapter 5, I discuss the EASIER study which investigated factors influencing self-care in children, with and without motor impairments.

Table 4.1 Quality appraisal items from the RTI bank used for non-randomised observational studies.

QA	Rationale	Proposed items
detection bias	Based on the included studies it is anticipated that this is to be an important bias category for differentiating quality of studies	 (Q5) Was the assessor blinded to the outcome, exposure, or intervention status of the participants? (Q6) Were valid and reliable measures implemented consistently across all study participants used to assess: (6.1) inclusion/exclusion criteria; (6.2) intervention/exposure; and (6.3) participant health benefits and harms? (Q0) Was attrition/retention reported?
selection bias	Based on the sample sizes and the study designs, these items are deemed appropriate to report on selection bias.	(Q1,2 modified) Are the inclusion/exclusion criteria and recruitment strategy clearly reported? (Q6) as above
confounding	It is anticipated that confounding will be an issue for most studies because of the study designs – especially the studies without controls/comparisons.	 (Q0), (Q2) and (Q6) as above Q6 (modified) Were valid and reliable measures implemented consistently across all study participants used to assess confounding? (Q12) Any attempt to balance the allocation between the groups or match groups (e.g., through stratification, matching, propensity scores)?

¹ The Q0 is not from RTI but was added by the authors. The RTI has items on how attrition was handled but based on previous experience, we anticipate that attrition data in the papers will be limited so added this item to further differentiate quality.

Table 4.2 Study Characteristics

		Design as reported by		Description of		
Author/s	Year	authors	Participants	Population	Age Group	Outcome Measure
						Questionnaire
						developed by authors
		Nonrandomized, Cross-		With and without		comparing 33 bimanual
Adler C. et al.	2015	sectional Study	18	Mirror Movements	6-16 years	ADL's
		Nonrandomized, Cross-				
Adler C. et al.	2014	sectional Study	20	Hemiparesis	6-12 years	AMPS
						Questionnaire
				With and without		developed by authors
		Nonrandomized, Cross-		Autistic Spectrum		comparing 27 items in 4
Alaniz ML et al.	2015	sectional Study	51	Disorder	4-10 years	domains
				Children cared for		
		Descriptive, Comparative		in different		Self-Care Skills Control
Alemdar D, Polat S	2014	Study	255	settings	3-6 years	List
Alemdaroğlu-						
Gürbüz I, Karakuş						
AB	2019	Cross-sectional Study	100	Cerebral Palsy	5-15 years	Barthel Index
Assis-Madeira EA,						
Carvalho SG &						
Blascovi-Assis SM	2013	Cross-sectional Study	49	Cerebral Palsy	3-7 years	PEDI (Brazilian Version)
						Observation of Feeding
						Behaviours (non-
Babik I et al.	2019	Cross-sectional Study	38	Arthrogryposis	1-5 years	standardised)
						Self-care domain of
						Child Engagement in
Bartlett DJ et al.	2014	Longitudinal Study	429	Cerebral Palsy	1-5 years	Daily Life Measure

	Maraa	Design as reported by		Description of		
Author/s	Year	authors	Participants	Population	Age Group	Outcome Measure
Blanco Martinez N				Neurodevelopmen-		
et al.	2020	Cross-sectional Study	40	tal Disorder	5-12 years	CASP
						Measurement of
		Individual Cohort study (B-				Activities of Daily Living
Blank R et al.	2008	A-B design)	64	Cerebral Palsy	3-6 years	(M-ADL)
Burgess A et al.	2019	Longitudinal Study	290	Cerebral Palsy	1-5 years	PEDI
Burgess A et al.	2020	Longitudinal Study	71	Cerebral Palsy	2-12 years	PEDI-CAT
Burgess A et al.	2021	Cross-sectional Study	74	Cerebral Palsy	8-12 years	PEDI-CAT
Chaovalit S, Dodd						
KJ, Taylor NF	2021	Randomised Control Study	42	Cerebral Palsy	4-12 years	WeeFIM
				With and without		
Chen KL et al.	2010	Comparative Study	604	DD	0-12 years	PEDI-C
				Autistic Spectrum		
Chi IJ, Lin LY	2021	Comparative Study	132	Disorder	4-6 years	PEDI-C
				Autistic Spectrum		
Chi IJ, Lin LY	2022	Cross-sectional Study	60	Disorder	4-5 years	PEDI-C, AMPS
		Multi-site prospective		With and without		Child Engagement in
Chiarello LA et al.	2014	cohort study	539	СР	1-4 years	Daily Life; PPT-OMS
		Nonrandomized, Cross-		With and without		
Chien CW et al.	2014	sectional Study	253	DD	2-12 years	VABS
Cho M, Kim DJ, Yang						
Υ	2015	Pre/post test	56	Cerebral Palsy	4-7 years	WeeFIM
						Assessment of Life
Colver A et al.	2012	Cross-sectional Study	818	Cerebral Palsy	8-12 years	Habits
				Arterial Ischemic		
Cooper An et al.	2019	Longitudinal Study	33	Stroke	9-10 years	VABS-II

Author/c	Voor	Design as reported by	Darticipante	Description of	Ago Group	Outcomo Moasuro
Authorys	Tear	autions	Participants	Population	Age Group	
Dang VM	2015	Longitudinal Study	010	Corobrol Dolou	9 12 years	Assessment of Life
Dang VIVI	2015		818	Cerebral Palsy	8-12 years	Habits
De Brito Brandao IVI	2010		16		F 7	
et al.	2010	Single Blinded RCT	16	Hemiplegic CP	5-7 years	PEDI
De Brito M, Gordon						
AM, Mancini MC	2012	Randomised Control Study	16	Cerebral Palsy	3-10 years	PEDI; COPM
Delgado-Lobete L et				Typically		
al.	2020	Cross-sectional study	300	Developing	5-8 years	DCDDailyQ
Delgado-Lobete L et				With and without		
al.	2022	Descriptive Study	370	DCD	5-10 years	DCDDailyQ
				Autistic Spectrum		
Di Rezze B et al.	2019	Longitudinal Study	421	Disorder	3-9 years	VABS-II
Dogruoz Karatekin						
BD et al.	2021	Cross-sectional Study	110	Cerebral Palsy	1-18 years	WeeFIM
Dolva AS, Kleiven J	2021	Longitudinal Study	43	Down Syndrome	5-14 years	PEDI
Donlau M, Mattison				Myelomeningocele		
S, Glad-Mattison G	2013	Pilot Study	22	(MMC)	3-17 years	GAS; COPM
		Observational Transversal		Myelomeningocele		
Ferreira FR et al.	2018	Study	15	(MMC)	1-4 years	PEDI
Figueiredo PR et al.	2020	Randomised Control Study	41	Cerebral Palsy	4-16 years	PEDI
		Nonrandomised, Cross-		Autistic Spectrum		
Fisher A et al.	2018	sectional Study	52	Disorder	6-17 years	VABS-II
Forst H et al.	2022	Cohort Study	73	Cerebral Palsy	4-17 years	PEDI-CAT, WeeFIM
				Leukemia/Non-		
				Hodgins		
Gaser D et al.	2022	Cross-sectional Study	41	Lymphoma	4-18 years	AskP

		Design as reported by		Description of		
Author/s	Year	authors	Participants	Population	Age Group	Outcome Measure
				Autistic Spectrum		
Green SA, Carter AS	2014	Longitudinal Study	162	Disorder	1-2 years	VABS
				Juvenile Ideopathic		
Halbig M, Horneff G	2009	Longitudinal Study	114	Arthritis	7-16 years	CHAQ
Hamer Rohrer U,		Single System (A-B-A-B-A)			4 years 9	
Smit N, Burger M	2012	Study	1	Cerebral Palsy	months	PEDI
				Autism Spectrum		
Holloway JM et al.	2021	Cross Sectional Study	22	Disorder	4-5 years	Preschool ACS
Ireland PJ et al.	2011	Cross Sectional Study	44	Achondroplasia	3-7 years	WeeFIM
Irwin LN et al.	2021	Cross Sectional Study	141	ADHD	8-13 years	BASC 2/3
		Randomized, Cross-				
James S et al.	2015	Sectional Study	101	Cerebral Palsy	8-17 years	AMPS
				Autistic Spectrum		
Jasmin E et al.	2009	Descriptive Study	35	Disorder	3-4 years	WeeFIM; VABS II
Josenby AL et al.	2015	Follow up Study	24	Cerebral Palsy	4-16 years	PEDI
		Nonrandomized, Cross-				
Joubert F, Franzen D	2016	Sectional Study	19	Arthrogryposis	0-7 years	PEDI
Jovellar-Isiegas P et						
al.	2020	Cross-sectional Study	53	Cerebral Palsy	6-15 years	PEDI-CAT
Kara OK et al.	2021	Cohort Study	55	ADHD	6-11 years	PEM CY
				Autistic Spectrum		Questionnaire
Kaur R et al.	2022	Comparative Study	30	Disorder	4-14 years	developed by authors
				Upper Motor		
Keller JW et al.	2021	Cross-sectional Study	31	Neuron Lesion	6-18 years	WeeFIM
Ketelaar M et al.	2015	Longitudinal Study	100	Cerebral Palsy	1-4 years	PEDI-FSS

		Design as reported by		Description of		
Author/s	Year	authors	Participants	Population	Age Group	Outcome Measure
				Autism Spectrum		Waisman Activities of
				Disorder,		Daily Living Scale, Basic
				Intellectual		Daily Living Skills (BDLS)
Kilincaslan A et al.	2019	Cross-sectional study	102	Disability	6-18 years	Questionnaire
Ko EJ et al.	2019	Randomised Control Study	18	Cerebral Palsy	4-7 years	PEDI
Kruisen Terpstra AJA						
et al.	2015	Longitudinal Study	92	Cerebral Palsy	1-4 years	PEDI-FSS
Kuijper MA et al.	2010	Cross-sectional Study	61	Cerebral Palsy	5-14 years	PEDI-NL
Kusumoto Y et al.	2021	Cross-sectional Study	76	Cerebral Palsy	5-18 years	PEDI
Kwon HY, Ahn SY	2016	Randomised Control Study	7	Spastic Diplegia	4-7 years	WeeFIM
Lopes O et al.	2022	Cross-sectional Study	33	Cancer	2-18 years	PEDI-CAT
Majnemer A et al.	2010	Cross-sectional Study	95	Cerebral Palsy	6-12 years	VABS
		Qualitative,		Fibrodysplasia		
		Phenomenological		Ossificans		
Markowitz JT et al.	2022	Approach	17	Progressiva (FOP)	4-7 years	N/A (parent interview)
		Qualitative,		Developmental		
		Phenomenological		Coordination		
Missiuna C et al.	2007	Approach	13	Disorder (DCD)	6-14 years	N/A (parent interview)
Montes-Montes R						
et al.	2021	Case Control Study	60	ADHD	5-15 years	DCDDailyQ
Mota LAT et al.	2022	Cohort Study	14	Stroke	2-6 years	PEDI (Brazilian Version)
		Qualitative,				
Naik SJ, Vajarattkar		Phenomenological		Autism Spectrum		
PV	2019	Approach	20	Disorder	5-9 years	N/A (parent interview)
Orvahl AM et al.	2010	Cross-Sectional Study	195	Cerebral Palsy	3-15 years	PEDI (Swedish Version)

		Design as reported by		Description of		
Author/s	Year	authors	Participants	Population	Age Group	Outcome Measure
		Multi-site Prospective				Child Engagement in
Palisano RJ et al.	2019	Cohort Study	708	Cerebral Palsy	1-11 years	Daily Life
		Nonrandomized Control				
Park ES	2014	Study	34	Cerebral Palsy	3-12 years	PEDI-FSS
Park EY	2018	Longitudinal Study	222	Cerebral Palsy	3-18 years	PEDI
Park EY, Kim EJ	2018	Longitudinal Study	162	Cerebral Palsy	3-15 years	PEDI
Park H et al.	2021	Cross-sectional Study	59	Cerebral Palsy	2-14 years	PEDI-CAT
Parkes J,						
McCullough N,		Nonrandomized, Cross-				
Madden A	2010	Sectional Study	102	Cerebral Palsy	8-12 years	Life-H
Pavao SL et al.	2014	Cross Sectional Study	10	Cerebral Palsy	5-12 years	PEDI
Pavao SL et al.	2021	Cross Sectional Study	28	Cerebral Palsy	5-15 years	PEDI
Richard PR, Noell				Autism Spectrum		
GH	2018	Experimental Study	3	Disorder	5 years	Task Analysis
Rigby PJ, Ryan SE,		Baseline-intervention-				COPM; Home Activity
Campbell KA	2009	baseline study.	30	Cerebral Palsy	2-6 years	Log Interview
				Typically		
Rosenberg L	2015	Cross-Sectional Study	60	developing	6-9 years	CPQ
Saquetto MB et al.	2018	Randomized Control Study	63	Cerebral Palsy	1-12 years	PEDI
Simsek TT et al.	2011	Randomized Control Study	30	Cerebral Palsy	1-12 years	WeeFIM
Simsek TT,						
Turkucuoglu B,						
Tezcan C	2015	Cross-Sectional Study	116	Spina Bifida	5-18 years	WeeFIM
Smits DW et al.	2011	Longitudinal Study	116	Cerebral Palsy	5-7 years	PEDI-NL
				Children born		
Snider L et al.	2009	Longitudinal Study	100	preterm	0-1 year	VABS

		Design as reported by		Description of		
Author/s	Year	authors	Participants	Population	Age Group	Outcome Measure
Song CS	2013	Cross-Sectional Study	68	Cerebral Palsy	1-3 years	WeeFIM
Sorsdahl AB et al.	2010	Repeated measures design	22	Cerebral Palsy	2-9 years	PEDI
		Nonrandomized, Cross-		Myelomeningocele		
Steinhart S et al.	2018	Sectional Study	113	(MMC)	3-18 years	PEDI
Sullivan MC & Msall		Nonrandomized, Cross-		Children born		
ME	2007	Sectional Study	155	preterm	4 years	WeeFIM
		Qualitative,				
Summers J, Larkin		phenomenological		With and without		
D, Dewey D	2008	approach	87	DCD	6-9 years	N/A (parent interview)
				With and without		
				Autistic Spectrum		
Travers BG et al.	2022	Descriptive study	101	Disorder	6-10 years	VABS-II
		Nonrandomised, Cross-				
Tseng MH et al.	2011	sectional Study	216	Cerebral Palsy	4-15 years	PEDI-C
				Developmental		
Van der Linde BW et		Nonrandomised, Cross-		Coordination		
al.	2015	sectional Study	50	Disorder (DCD)	5-8 years	DCDDailyQ
		Nonrandomised, Cross-				
Van Eck M et al.	2010	sectional Study	94	Cerebral Palsy	12-16 years	VABS-II
				VLBW children		
Verkerk G et al.	2013	Longitudinal Study	143	without CP	0-3 years	PEDI-NL
Viera MT, Da Silva J,		Nonrandomised, Cross-		Children born		
Fronio da Silva J	2017	Sectional Study	26	preterm	1-3 years	PEDI
Vos RC	2013	Longitudinal Study	497	Cerebral Palsy	1-16 years*	VABS
Voulgarakis HM et		Observational Transversal		Autistic Spectrum		
al.	2021	Study	657	Disorder	7-11 years	VABS-II

		Design as reported by		Description of		
Author/s	Year	authors	Participants	Population	Age Group	Outcome Measure
		Nonrandomised, Cross-		Children with and		
Wang TN et al.	2009	Sectional Study	104	without DCD	7-8 years	VABS-C
		Quasi-experimental, one-				
		group pre- intervention-				
		postintervention and				
Wu WC et al.	2013	follow-up trial	7	Hemiplegic CP	5-11 years	PEDI
Yela-Gonzales N et				Autistic Spectrum		
al.	2021	Cross-sectional Study	40	Disorder	4-10 years	PEDI
		Total participants:	12575			
Table 4.3 Key results from the primary studies extracted for each included study.

Authors	Year	Key result(s)	Intervention
Adler C et al.	2015	Mirror movements have a negative impact on bimanual performance and time needed to	No
		complete self-care (p=0.24)	intervention
Adler C et al.	2014	The motor skills scale of the AMPS correlated with motor competence, and the process skills scale	No
		of the AMPS correlated with cognitive abilities when measuring self-care	intervention
Alaniz ML et	2015	Grip and pinch strength correlated with independence in self-care in children with autism and	No
al.		typically developing children.	intervention
Alemdar D,	2014	Significantly higher scores on "Dressing," "Personal Care" skills of the Self-Care Skills Control List	No
Polat, S		for children attending nursery in comparison to children being cared for by their mothers and by	intervention
		baby-sitters	
Alemdaroğlu-	2019	A strong correlation was found between mobility, motor function and self-care independence as	No
Gürbüz I,		measure on the Barthel Index in children with CP.	intervention
Karakuş AB			
Assis-	2013	Children with severe CP with low SES presented worse performance in self-care skills	No
Madeira EA,			intervention
Carvalho SG,			
& Blascovi-			
Assis SM			
Babik I et al.	2019	Children with movement impairments demonstrated different feeding behaviours from typically	No
		developing children. This included spending less time lifting spoons from the table, placing food in	intervention
		spoons and transporting food to their mouths.	
Bartlett, DJ	2014	Higher motor function, fewer health conditions and higher levels of adaptive behaviour is	No
et al.		associated with greater self-care participation	intervention
Blanco	2020	Children with NDD presented with moderate or severe participation limitation in ADL in	No
Martinez N		comparison to TD children. (p<001)	intervention
et al.			

Authors	Year	Key result(s)				
Blank R et al.	2008	Conductive education increased self-care competence compared with no significant improvement	Conductive			
		under special education.	Education			
Burgess A et	2019	Self-care development achieved by 60 months was negatively associated with the severity of				
al.		manual ability impairment.	intervention			
Burgess A et	2020	Children classified in MACS levels I to IV showed progress in self-care development between the	No			
al.		ages of 5 and 12 years; Children in MACS level V showed a decline in self-care.	intervention			
Burgess A et	2021	Strong association between self-care and bimanual performance in children with CP.	No			
al.			intervention			
Chaovalit S,	2021	Sit-to-stand training improved independence and mobility for children with CP.	Sit-to-stand			
Dodd KJ,			training			
Taylor NF						
Chen KL et al.	2010	Taiwanese children in study needed more assistance with self-care than the American Children	No			
			intervention			
Chi IJ, Lin LY	2021	Young children with ASD obtained significantly lower scores for self-care performance and visual	No			
		perception compared to TD children. Study found positive correlation between self-care	intervention			
		performance and visual motor integration in children with ASD.				
Chi IJ, Lin LY	2022	Children with ASD present with poor self-care performance and needed assistance in comparison	No			
		to TD children.	intervention			
Chiarello LA	2014	Self-care varied by age and motor ability	No			
et al.			intervention			
Chien CW et	2014	Hand skill performance followed by children's age, disability status, cultural context most	No			
al.		significant predictors of self-care function	intervention			
Cho M, Kim	2015	WeeFIM scores and self-care performance improved for all children who participated in the study	Visual			
DJ, Yang Y			Perceptual			
			Intervention			
Colver A et	2012	Higher participation in self-care was significantly associated with a better physical environment at	No			
al.		home (p<0.1)	intervention			

Authors	Year	Key result(s)	Intervention
Cooper AN et	2019	At 5 years after a stroke, children presented with significantly poorer activities of daily living than	No
al.		age expectations.	intervention
Dang VM et	2015	Impairment predicted participation in self-care (p<0.001); Pain predicted participation in self-care	No
al.		(<0.001) except for mealtimes	intervention
De Brito	2010	Higher gains were observed in the intervention group for functional skills and independence post	CIMT
Brandao M		intervention (functional skills p=0.013, independence p=.0001) and follow-up (functional skills	
et al.		p=0.004; independence p=0.0016	
De Brito	2012	Both groups showed significant improvements on functional measures. Group \cdot Assessment	CIMT/
Brandao, M.		interaction in COPM performance revealed greater improvements for the HABIT group after	Bimanual
Gordon AM,		intervention (p = .04).	training
Mancini MC			
Delgado-	2020	Differences in self-care observed in boys and girls in Spanish participants whereas as both Dutch	No
Lobete L et		boys and girls performed self-care at the same level. Dutch children performed better than	intervention
al.		Spanish children in self-care as reported by parents.	
Delgado-	2022	Motor performance had a direct effect on daily participation and the delayed learning of ADL in	No
Lobete L et		children with and without DCD.	intervention
al.			
Di Rezze B et	2019	Improvement in Daily Living Skills (DLS) domain score from Vineland Adaptive associated with	No
al.		lower and improving ASD severity.	intervention
Dogruoz	2021	Children with CP presented with significantly worse spasticity and reduced scores on the WeeFIM	No
Karatekin BD		self-care subscale following the COVID-19 pandemic lockdown restrictions.	intervention
et al.			
Dolva AS,	2021	PEDI scores in self-care for children with DS was lower for TD children however for children with	No
Kleiven J		DS improvement in self-care score was observed until the age of 14 years.	intervention
Donlau M et	2013	Goalsetting showed a better outcome for improving toilet independence than traditionally	Goalsetting
al.		performed training or rehabilitation support.	training

Authors	Year	Key result(s)			
Ferreira FR et	2018	PEDI scores in self-care varied according to the age and level of participants	No		
al.			intervention		
Fiqueiredo	2020	Children in HABIT group showed greater improvement in functional and self-care skills compared	Hand-arm		
PR et al.		to children who received usual care.	bimanual		
			intensive		
			therapy		
			(HABIT)		
Fisher A et al.	2018	Positive association between balance and daily living skills specific to youths with below average	No		
		IQ (p<.001)	intervention		
Forst H et al.	2022	Children who received OT intervention after selective dorsal rhizotomy showed significant	OT after SDR		
		improvements in upper and lower body dressing skills.			
Gaser D et al.	2022	Multifunctional impairments in self-reported ADLs (Activities of Daily Living), motor performance	No		
		and physical activity observed in children shortly after a diagnosis of leukaemia or non-Hodgkin	intervention		
		lymphoma.			
Green SA,	2014	Self-care associated with parental stress levels. Children with lower IQ and more severe symptoms	No		
Carter AS		showed lower gains in self-care	intervention		
Halbig, M.	2009	All functional areas of the CHAQ improved significantly during therapy with etanercept (P <	Etanercept		
and Horneff,		0.0001)			
G.					
Hamer-Roher	2012	Intervention associated with increased scores in functional skills (FS) on the PEDI.	Constrained		
et al.			Induced		
			Movement		
			Therapy		
Holloway JM	2021	Children with ASD who had greater gross motor skills demonstrated greater participation in self-	No		
et al.		care	intervention		
Ireland PJ et	2011	Functioning improved in children with achondroplasia between the ages of 3 and 5 years	No		
al.		(p<0.001) but not subsequently (p=0.4)	intervention		

Authors	Year	Key result(s)	Intervention		
Irwin LN et	2021	Participants with ADHD presented with significant more difficulties in activities of daily living (ADL)	No		
al.		in comparison to participants without ADHD (p<.005). Study results indicated that lower working	intervention		
		memory in ADHD group predicted lower performance in ADL.			
James S et al.	2015	The AHA and JTTHF dominant upper limb score together explained 57% of the variance in AMPS			
		motor scale scores. TVPS-3 Visual Sequential Memory, TVPS-3 Visual Closure, and JTTHF dominant	intervention		
		upper limb score together explained 35% of the variance in AMPS process scale scores.			
Jasmin E et	2009	Significant correlation between sensory avoiding behaviour (p=0.4); fine motor quotient (p=0.3)	No		
al.		and self-care for children in autism group	intervention		
Josenby AL	2015	All scores improved significantly (p<0.01) during the first 5 years in patients assigned to GMFCS	Selective		
et al.		levels I–III and IV–V. Between 5 years and 10 years, changes were seen in GMFCS levels I–III in the	Dorsal		
		functional skills(p=0.04), caregiver assistance self-care (p=0.03), GMFCS levels IV–V showed small	Rhizotomy		
		changes between 5 years and 10 years after surgery.			
Joubert F,	2016	The infant and toddler group performed above expected levels in the self-care domain, whereas	No		
Franzsen D		the preschool and school-aged group performed below the expected level. Correlation between	intervention		
		the amount of caregiver assistance needed and the participants' level of independence (p=0.73)			
Jovellar-	2020	A significant relationship (p<.001) was found between sensory processing difference, particularly	No		
Isiegas P et		proprioception, and poor performance in ADL in children with UCP.	intervention		
al.					
Kara OK et al.	2021	Parents of children with ADHD reported that children showed a higher level of personal care	No		
		during the COVID-19 pandemic.	intervention		
Kaur R et al.	2022	A drastic regression in the mean values of pre and post lockdown ADL score observed in study	No		
		participants.	intervention		
Keller JW et	2021	Trunk control, followed by upper extremity SVMC, spasticity and strength explained most oof the	No		
al.		variance in self-care independence in children with upper motor neuron lesions.	intervention		
Ketelaar M	2014	Despite large variations among individuals in the development of mobility and self-care	No		
et al.		capabilities in young children with cerebral palsy, distinct developmental trajectories were found	intervention		
		for children in different GMFCS levels.			

Authors	Year	Key result(s)	Intervention		
Kilincaslan A	2019	ASD group scored significantly lower in daily living skills (DLS) compared to the ID group. Age,	No		
et al.		intellectual level, speech level, autism severity, and monthly household income identified as	intervention		
		independent correlates of DLS.			
Ko EJ et al.	2019	No significant improvement in self-care as measured on the PEDI-CAT observed in the			
		intervention group.	training		
Kruijsen-	2015	PEDI-FSS self-care scores increased over time (p < .001) Significant differences in self-care	No		
Terpstra AJA		development (i.e., significant interaction with time) for GMFCS level, type of CP, intellectual	intervention		
et al.		capacity, and epilepsy.			
Kuijper MA	2010	The Spearman correlation coefficient between the MACS and the self-care domain of the PEDI	No		
et al.		Caregiver Assistance Scale was high and statistically significant (r =.72)	intervention		
Kusumoto Y	2021	PEDI functional skills scale scores correlated with the Box and Block test in the dominant hand and	No		
et al.		GMFCS (r ² =0.71)	intervention		
Kwon HY,	2016	There were statistically significant differences in the amount of change before and after the	Task		
Ahn SY		training among the three intervention groups for the gross motor performance measure and	orientated		
		functional independence measure. (p<0.05)	training and		
			High variability		
			practice		
Lopes O et al.	2022	Children with cancer presented with lower mobility scores on the PEDI-CAT than healthy peers but	No		
		PEDI-CAT daily activities score was in the average expected.	intervention		
Majnemer A	2010	Functional limitations were more likely for children with quadriplegia (P < .0001), but not diplegia	No		
et al.		or hemiplegia, and for children in level IV-V, but similar for level I and level II-III.	intervention		
Markowitz JT	2022	Children and parents reported that FOP has a significant impact on children's ability to participate	No		
et al.		in ALD, in particularly dressing and toileting.	intervention		
Missiuna C et	2007	Nearly all parents identified performance in functional tasks such as feeding and dressing as	No		
al.		somewhat or very delayed.	intervention		

Authors	Year	Key result(s)				
Montes-	2021	Children with ADHD demonstrated poorer motor performance and less participation in ADL	No			
Montes R et		compared to TD children. (p<.01)				
al.						
Mota LAT et	2022	Preschool children showed age-appropriate functional outcomes on self-care domains on the PEDI				
al.		after stroke.	intervention			
Naik SJ,	2019	Parents of children with ASD reported that their children had the most difficulties with eating,	No			
Vajarattkar		followed by brushing and grooming, and least for toileting.	intervention			
PV						
Öhrvall AM	2010	Children classified as MACS and GMFCS levels I or II scored higher than children in MACS and	No			
et al.		GMFCS levels III to V on both the self-care and mobility domains of the PEDI, with significant	intervention			
		differences between all classification levels (p<0.001)				
Palisano RJ	2019	Children with GMF levels IV or V have limited self-care independence compared to levels I, II, or	No			
et al.		III.	intervention			
Park ES et al.	2014	Significant improvement in PEDI FSS scores after hippotherapy intervention	Hippotherapy			
Park EY	2018	Higher initial values of gross motor function correlated with higher initial values of ADL	No			
		performance (p<.001). Correlation between improvement in gross motor function and gradual	intervention			
		improvement in ADL performance (p=0.004). Initial high score of gross motor function correlated				
		with a high growth rate for ADL performance (p<.001)				
Park EY, Kim	2018	Correlation (p<0.01) between frequency of Occupational Therapy and improvement of PEDI FSS.	Occupational-			
EJ			and			
			Physiotherapy			
Park H et al.	2021	Range, accuracy, and fluency dimension of Melbourne Assessment of Unilateral Upper Limb	No			
		Function Version 2, and the Upper Limb Physician's Rating Scale correlated moderately with the	intervention			
		daily activity domain of the PEDI-CAT.				
Parkes J,	2010	Children with cerebral palsy and severe co-impairments were significantly less likely to experience	No			
McCullough		higher levels of participation in most areas of everyday life when compared to children with	intervention			
N, Madden A		cerebral palsy and no severe co-impairments.				

Authors	Year	Key result(s)	Intervention		
Pavão SL et	2014	Significant relationship (p<0.05) between postural control and functional abilities.			
al.			intervention		
Pavão SL et	2021	Behavioural outcome of sensory processing (as tested on sensory profile) a significant predictor	No		
al.		(p<0.05) of functioning for self-care in children with CP.	intervention		
Richard PR,	2018	A Video-Based Intervention (VBI), video prompting combined with backward chaining was	Video prompt		
Noell GH		effective in teaching children with ASD to tie their shoes	models and		
			backward		
			chaining		
Rigby PJ,	2009	Significant improved participation and improvement with self-care when children used the	Adaptive		
Ryan SE,		adaptive seating devices.	seating		
Campbell KA					
Rosenberg, L.	2015	Executive function found to predict self-care independence	No		
			intervention		
Saquetto,	2018	The addition of an education programme to supplement therapy demonstrated a significantly	Educational		
MB et al.		greater benefit in the self-care domain on the FSS	Programme		
Simsek TT et	2011	No direct effects of KT observed on gross motor function and functional independence.	Kinesio taping		
al.			(KT)		
Simsek, TT,	2015	A relationship was found between weight and self-care in both girls and boys	No		
Turkucuoglu			intervention		
B, Tezcan S					
Smits DW et	2011	Self-care predicted by level of gross motor function and intellectual capacity	No		
al.			intervention		
Snider L et al.	2009	Delays in functional performance for infants assessed at 1year who were born preterm	No		
			intervention		
Song CS	2013	Self-care significantly affected by CP type but not by age or standing independence	No		
			intervention		

Authors	Year	Key result(s)	Intervention
Sorsdahl AB	2010	Change scores in the Pediatric Evaluation of Disability Inventory (PEDI) ranged 2.0-6.7, p < 0.01 in	Intensive goal
et al.		the Self-care domain of the Functional Skills dimension, and the Self-care and Mobility domains of	directed
		the Caregiver Assistance dimension	physiotherapy
Steinhart S et	2018	The presence of hydrocephalus was the most significant determinant of dependence in self-care	No
al.		activities in this study	intervention
Sullivan MC,	2007	Neonatal illness, socioeconomic status, preschool health, and motor predictors explained 44% of	No
Msall ME		the variance in functional performance.	intervention
Summers J,	2008	Parents of children with DCD reported that coordination difficulties impacted on all areas of self-	No
Larkin D,		care for children in the study	intervention
Dewey D.			
Travers BG et	2022	Strong relationship (p=.02) between motor difficulties and all domains of daily living skills.	No
al.		Combined results for motor and sensory functioning a stronger predictor of difficulties in daily	intervention
		living skills than motor or sensory functioning alone. (p<.001)	
Tseng MH et	2011	Correlation between increase in GMFCS level and daily function (p<.0001)	No
al.			intervention
Van der	2015	Compared with their peers, children with DCD showed poor performance of self-care and less	No
Linde BW et		frequent participation in self-care	intervention
al.			
van Eck M et	2010	MACS and ABILHAND-Kids were both strongly associated with personal daily activities (explained	No
al.		variance 77% and 84%, respectively)	intervention
Verkerk, G et	2013	Higher frequency of disability in self-care in VLBW pre-schoolers compared to term born peers	No
al.			intervention
Vieira MT, da	2017	Day care centres seem to positively affect self-care independence in premature children between	No
Silva J, Frônio		18 and 42 months	intervention
da Silva J			
Vos RC et al.	2013	Significant relationship between intellectual disability and the developmental trajectory for	No
		performance of self-care (p<.001)	intervention

Authors	Year	Key result(s)	Intervention
Voulgarakis	2021	Significant correlation (p=.004) between gastrointestinal (GI) symptoms and daily living skills in	No
HM et al.		autistic children.	intervention
Wang, TN et	2009	The functional performance of children with DCD was statistically significantly lower than those	No
al.		without DCD (p's<0.05).	intervention
Wu WC et al.	2013	Significant improvement in PEDI scores after intervention	Group CIMT
Yela-	2021	A correlation was found between sensory processing differences and performance of activities of	No
Gonzales N		daily in living in autistic children (P<0.0001)	intervention
et al.			

Table 4.4	Self-care	Measures	and (Outcomes	in the	Included	Studies
	July cure	ivicusuics	unu v	Juccomes	in une	mendaca	Juanco

Outcome measures (n=29) (no. studies using measure)	Outcomes (n=97)
Assessment of life habits (2/97)	Self-care ^{123, 124}
Assessment of motor and process skills (AMPS)	Self-care ^{131, 192, 193}
(3/97)	
Ask Performance version (1/97)	Self-care ¹⁵⁹
Barthel Index (1/97)	Self-care ¹⁹⁴
Basic Daily Living Skills (BDLS) Questionnaire (1/97)	Self-care ¹⁶⁰
Behavioural Assessment for Children (BASC 2/3) (1/97)	Self-care ¹⁵⁰
Canadian Occupational Performance Measure (COPM) (3/97)	Self-care ^{145, 168, 188}
Child and Adolescent Scale of Participation (CASP) (1/97)	Participation in self- care ¹⁸
Child Health Assessment Questionnaire (CHAQ) (1/97)	Self-care ¹⁵⁴
Child Engagement in Daily Life (3/97)	Self-care 51, 181, 195
Children's Participation Questionnaire (CPQ) (1/97)	Self-care ¹⁹⁶
DCD Daily Q (4/97)	Performance of Self- care ^{127, 178, 186, 197}
Functional Independence Measure (Weefim) (12/97)	Self-care ^{40, 136, 143,} 155, 157, 162, 171, 172, 182, 189, 191, 198
Home Activity Log interview (1/97)	Self-care 168
Life habits questionnaire (Life H) (1/97)	Self-care ¹⁹⁹
Measurement of Activities of Daily living (M-ADL) (1/97)	Self-care ¹⁶⁶
Modified version of Pediatric Physical Therapy Outcomes Management System (PPT OMS) (1/97)	Self-care ¹⁸¹
Observations of feeding behaviours (non-standardised) (1/97)	Self-care ¹⁵²
Parent interview (4/97)	Self-care 42, 128, 138, 156
Participation and Environment Measure for Children and Youth (PEM-CY) (1/97)	Self-care ¹⁴⁹
Pediatric Evaluation of Disability Inventory (PEDI)	Self-care ^{24, 35, 65, 66,}
(Including PEDI Brazilian version; PEDI-NL; PEDI	120, 129, 131, 140-148, 151,
Sweaisn; PEDI-C Versions)	170, 174, 177, 180, 183, 185.
	187, 188, 200-207

Outcome measures (n=29) (no. studies using measure)	Outcomes (n=97) (study references)
Pediatric Evaluation of Disability Inventory Functional Skills Scale (PEDI-FSS) (3/97)	Self-care ^{190, 208, 209}
Pediatric Evaluation of Disability Inventory Computer	Self-care ^{40, 158, 176, 210-}
Adaptive Test (PEDI-CAT) (6/97)	212
Preschool Activity Sort Card (Preschool ACS) (1/97)	Self-care ¹³⁵
Study questionnaire developed by authors (1/97)	Self-care ²¹³
Self-care skills control list (1/97)	Self-care ²¹⁴
Task Analysis (1/97)	Self-care ¹³⁹

Vineland Adaptive Behavior Scale (VABS)	Self-care ^{4, 129, 134, 142,}
(6/97)	215, 216
Vineland Adaptive Behavior Scale 2 nd Edition (VABS-II)	Self-care ^{125, 132, 133,}
(7/97)	136, 140, 141, 217

Self-care¹⁶⁰

Waisman Activities of Daily Living Scale (W-ADL) (1/97)

Table 4.5 Summary of factors associated with self-care and their associations.

		Related	to self-care	Not related to self-care	Coding	
	Nr of studies	Nr of studies	Direction of association	Nr of studies	% of studies supporting Association	Association
Body functions						
Mental functions						
Executive function	1	1	+		100	+
Cognitive function	9	8	+	1	89	++
Mental functions of language	4	3	+	1		++
Attention functions	1	1	+			
Functions of the joints and bones						
Arthrogryposis	1	1	+		100	+
Achondroplasia	1	1	+		100	+
Fibrodysplasia Ossificans Progressiva (FOP)	1	1	+		100	+
Level of spinal cord lesion	1	1	+		100	+
Movement functions						
Functions of lower extremity structures	30	28	+	2	93	++
Functions of upper extremity structures	20	19	+	1	95	++
Sensory functions and pain						
Sensory functions unspecified	4	4	+		100	++
Pain	2	2	+		100	+
Seeing and related functions, other specified and unspecified	1	1	+		100	+
Functions of the digestive, metabolic and endocrine systems						
Weight	1	1	+		100	+

		Polatod	to colf care	Not related to	Coding	
	Nr of	Nr of	Direction of	Sell-cale	% of studies supporting	
	studies	studies	association	Nr of studies	Association	Association
Birthweight	3	0	-	3		
Environmental Factors						
Individual						
Socio-economic status	4	1	-	3	25	-
Physical environment	4	3	+	1		++
Cultural	2	2	+		100	+
COVID-19 lockdown restrictions	3	2	+		66	+
Personal factors						
Individual						
Child Mental Health	1		-	1		-
Child Behaviour	1		-	1		-
Health Status	1	1	+		100	+
Birth order	1		-	1		-
Educational placement	1	1	+		100	+
Developmental level	1	1	+		100	+
Age	5	5	+		100	++
Family factors						
Parental Stress	5	1	-	4	25	-
Caregiver Mental Health	1		-	1		-
Family ecology	1	1	+		100	+
Parental coping style	1		-	1		-
Number of children in family	1		-	1		-

(The number of studies refer to the number of studies that examined the association of the factors above with self-care. Double summary codes (e.g. ++ were applied when 3 or more studies showed an association. Code '+/-" was applied when studies differed in respect to the established association.)

Table 4.6 Summary of interventions associated with self-care and their associations.

				Not related to		
		Related to improvement in self-care		self-care	Coding	
	Nr of studies	Nr of studies	Direction of association	Nr of studies	% of studies supporting Ass	Association
Interventions						
Therapy Interventions						
Constrained Induced Movement Therapy	3	3	+		100	++
Education Programme for Caregivers	1	1	+		100	+
Intensive Goal Directed Physiotherapy	1	1	+		100	+
Goalsetting training	1	1	+		100	+
Conductive Education	1	1	+		100	+
Hand-arm bimanual intensive therapy	1	1	+		100	+
Adaptive Seating	1	1	+		100	+
Sit-to-stand training	1	1	+		100	+
Task-Oriented Training	1	1	+		100	+
Increased frequency Occupational Therapy and Physiotherapy	1	1	+		100	+
Hippotherapy	1	1	+		100	+
Visual Perceptual Training	1	1	+		100	+
Video prompt modelling	1	1	+		100	+
Kinesiotaping	1			1		-
Surgical Interventions						
Selective Dorsal Rhizotomy	2	2	+		100	+
Pharmaceutical Interventions						

				Not related to improvement in		
		Related to i	improvement in self-care	self-care	Coding	
					% of studies	
	Nr of	Nr of			supporting	
	studies	studies	Direction of association	Nr of studies	Ass	Association
Etanercept	1	1	+		100	+

(The number of studies refer to the number of studies that examined the association of the factors above with self-care. Double summary codes (e.g. ++ were applied when 3 or more studies showed an association. Code '+/-" was applied when studies differed in respect to the established association.)

Chapter 5: EASIER - Study of early self-care development

5.1 Background

The primary aim of this chapter is to describe the EASIER (Early Self-care in Children with and without Motor Impairments) study which formed the original basis for this doctoral research programme. The EASIER study originally aimed to investigate the levels and trajectories (path of development) of self-care in children aged 3-6 years old with and without motor impairments and the importance of demographic factors in explaining levels of self-care participation and path of development, including interactions with the level of motor impairment, at different time points. Questionnaires and assessments were selected based on evidence of parental and environmental factors influencing selfcare, as discussed in Chapter 4, a systematic review of self-care in children and young people. This chapter focusses on the background, process followed, a descriptive analysis of the data obtained, and conclusions drawn.

5.2 Study design

The EASIER study was designed as a longitudinal cohort study, of which the overall aim was to generate new knowledge and evidence by identifying the trajectories, variation, and potential predictors of early self-care development in children with and without motor impairments, to provide evidence for guiding self-care interventions in children. The plan was for participants to be followed up every six months for three years from the point of participant's third birthday. As the data collection was discontinued after two rounds of follow up, due to a lack of participants, it was not possible to follow the original study design.

5.3 Sampling and recruitment

For this longitudinal study, the aim was to recruit two groups of children, n=100 children each. One group that consisted of children aged three years who had impairments in neuromusculoskeletal and movement related functions or mobility limitations; had a least some independent movement using skeletal muscles; and whose parents agreed to participate. A second group that consisted of children aged three years of where there

were no concerns about development; no known impairments; and whose parents agreed to their participation in the study. The study looked to recruit children from a range of sociodemographic backgrounds and with a range of health statuses.

Pre-prepared recruitment packs for the study were designed, which consisted of information sheets for both parents and children. Packs were to be handed out to the parents of eligible children. It was anticipated that children with motor impairments would have been identified by therapy providers whilst typically developing 3-year-olds would have been presented with recruitment packs from the health visiting team.

As with most observational studies, the key parameters for a sample size calculation for the EASIER study were unknown until the study was completed. Therefore, instead of a formal size calculation, I used an estimate for a number of children likely to be needed to capture important, significant relationships in the study in relation to factors influencing self-care.

This age group was selected as limited information was available on the development of self-care in children aged 3-6 years old at the commence of this PhD project. Further, this age group was selected as an area for focus as children in England typically enter formal education (reception) in the year they turn 5 years old, and this is a time where children are often referred to occupational therapy due to challenges with participation in self-care. The study would add to the body of the knowledge to increase understanding of children's readiness and ability to participate in the formal school environment, as well as in the wider society.

5.4 Ethics

The study had favourable opinions from the NHS Research Ethics Committee and Health Regulation Authority (Reference IRAS 246896, 19-EM-0310).

The research project did not present any major ethical issues beyond the general issues related to non-invasive research with children and parents. Within these general issues,

two are of specific importance: 1) children's right to contribute and 2) children's right to be safe from harm.

A report¹¹³ by the Nuffield Council on Bioethics recommended that the best way of ensuring that children do not become vulnerable in research is to involve children and/or their parents in designing the studies and to ensure that they are enabled to make informed decisions throughout the research process.¹¹³ The report also recommended that the nature of child and parent involvement and enablement depends on the population of children (e.g., their capabilities and interests) and the nature of the research. The EASIER study focused on young children who were unlikely to be able to make fully informed choices about their participation in research and who were likely to have limited attention spans and understanding for contributing directly to the research design.

It is recommended that in these circumstances, the children's parents are usually best placed to inform the research and make decisions on their children's behalf.¹¹³ However, the children should also have opportunities to be involved in ways that suit them. Throughout the project:

- Good relationships and trust were proactively built with parents to facilitate open communication and reduce any worry about the research.
- Parents were provided with clear information about the study before they were asked to take part to enable them to make the best choice for their children.
 (Appendix B or web version

https://blogs.ncl.ac.uk/lbrewer2/2020/09/20/information-for-parents-andcarers-on-the-easier-study/)

- Potential participants were offered opportunities to discuss the studies appropriately and sensitively so that they were able to make free and informed choices about whether to take part.
- Children were given as much control over their participation as possible. A special participation information sheet was created for children and this information used visuals to explain what the study was about. (Appendix C or

web version <u>https://blogs.ncl.ac.uk/lbrewer2/2020/09/20/study-information-for-children/</u>) Parents were encouraged to show the information sheet to children and discuss their willingness to participate in the study. Sensitivity was shown to their preferences not to participate (ongoing 'assent').

• The context of any data collection with children was carefully considered.

Ethical approval from the NHS Research Ethics Committee (REC) and Health Research Authority (HRA) specified that the study would be hosted in an NHS trust in the North of England and that the service providers would be able to identify eligible children against a prior selection criterion explained to them.

5.5 Data collection

The primary outcome, children's self-care, was set out to be measured using the daily activities domain on the PEDI-CAT. Children's mobility and cognitive skills were set to be measured using the PEDI-CAT Mobility and Social/Cognitive domain on the PEDI-CAT. Demographic information to be collected included: the postcode and main carer's educational level through an initial background questionnaire at baseline, along with details of whether the child attends nursery or preschool, and whether they have siblings and if so what ages.

The final measures for data collection included a background questionnaire (Table 5.1) designed for the study, the Parental Stress Scale (PSS)²¹⁸ and the Pediatric Evaluation of Disability Computer Adaptive Test (PEDI-CAT).²¹⁹ An important consideration for all assessment tools was that they needed to be succinct, as parents have limited time to spend on completing research questionnaires, and that they should be relatively easy to access and complete.

5.5.1 Sociodemographic and background details

Sociodemographic and background information were collected for all participations in the form of the EASIER study questionnaire (Table 5.1) using an electronic form on Qualtrics. By completing the electronic form, participants indicated that they consented to the study and a copy of the response was sent to participants by email upon

completion. The questionnaire contained 12 questions related to demographics and participants' characteristics.

The purpose of these questions was to identify whether parents had concerns about their child's development prior to participating in the study. For example, question three, "Does your child handle objects easily" referred to children's ability to carry out fine motor tasks. The question was included due to the number of studies in Chapter 4 that referred to the impact of poor fine motor skills on children's self-care, particularly in relation to dressing themselves.

Although one can argue that these questions are subjective, the questions provided parents with the opportunity to voice their opinions or concerns about their children's development and fine motor skills without the additional stressor of another, possibly time-consuming, standardised assessment to complete. Some researchers²²⁰ also take the view that parents know their children best and that researchers should value their contributions in this respect.

For questions related to family members, I investigated the association between family factors and independent participation in self-care. Parental working hours were included in the background questionnaire as previous research²²¹ has examined the impact of parental non-standard work schedules on a wide range of child outcomes. Positive associations were between parental working hours and child cognitive ability²²²⁻²²⁴, one of the domains that is measured by the PEDI-CAT. I also wanted to investigate the impact of parental education on self-care and hypothesised based on previous research^{225, 226}, that parents who were educated to a higher level might have a better understanding of their child's developmental needs and how to best support them.

Following the studies discussed in Chapter 4, I also aimed to better understand the role that the family environment and ecology play in influencing children's development and participation in self-care. For example, researchers^{227, 228} found that working parents in the UK report that grandparents are the most common source of informal childcare in their families. Sometimes grandparents can have different expectations from children,

or rules in the house that impact on children's behaviour and development. For example, a recent study²²⁹ found that grandparents are more likely than the child's parents to restrict participation in physical activities and outside play. In terms of family, other data that was deemed useful to obtain was whether the child had siblings, and if they were older or younger than the child.

The question regarding time spent at nursery followed on the from the results from one of the studies¹⁴⁴ included in the systematic review in Chapter 4. This study indicated that children who attended nursery or day-care settings, often referred to as childminders in the UK, had better self-care outcomes than children who did not attend nursery. I was interested to learn more about this phenomenon, particularly in the context of the high fees for childcare in the UK.²³⁰ A study²³¹ reported that the UK has some of the most expensive child-care costs compared to other Western countries. Had I been able to demonstrate a clear link between nursery attendance and children's self-care development from the EASIER study discussed in this chapter, this research could have contributed to the evidence base advocating for more government subsidised child-care.

Finally, the intent of question seven was to ascertain from the response whether there might be cultural barriers to answering some of the questions in the study. Post codes of participants were asked for the in the questionnaire with the intention to sort them into indices of multiple deprivation (IMD) deciles. Previous research²³² has indicated that neighbourhood deprivation can impact on children's health and behavioural outcomes.

The questions included in the background questionnaire are included in table 5.1.

Que	stion:	Response Option:
1.	Is your child?	a. A boy
		b. A girl
2.	What is your child's date of birth?*	
3.	Do you have concerns about your	a. Yes
	child's development?	b. No
4.	Does your child handle objects	a. Yes
	easily?	b. No
5.	Does your child have any siblings?	a. Yes – If yes, how many are older
		than your child?
		b. No
6.	Does your child attend nursery/go to	a. Yes
	a childminder?	b. No
7.	What language does your child speak at home?*	
8.	Who is your child's main carer?	a. Mother
		b. Father
		c. Grandparent
		d. Other
9.	What is the main carer's highest qualification?*	
10.	On average, how many hours does	a. Less than 10 hours
	the main carer work outside home	b. 10-20 hours
	per week?	c. 21-30 hours
		d. 31-40 hours
		e. More than 40 hours
11.	What postcode does your child live in?*	
12.	Where did you hear about the study?*	

Table 5.1 Background Questionnaire for EASIER study

*open-ended questions

5.5.2. Parental Stress Scale (PSS)

The PSS²¹⁸ was created in 1995 as a shorter alternative to other parental stress measures such as the parenting stress index (PSI) which is a lengthier and more invasive test than the PSS.²³³ It was designed to assess both stressful and rewarding components of parenting and consists of 4 domains: parental rewards, parental stressors, lack of

control, and parental satisfaction. This 18-item questionnaire was selected as the questionnaire demonstrated evidence of excellent content validity²³⁴ and was also available as a free tool online. It has also been used in studies similar to the EASIER.^{235, 236}

The 18 questions for the PSS are:

- 1. I am happy in my role as a parent.
- 2. There is little or nothing I wouldn't do for my child(ren) if it were necessary.
- 3. Caring for my child(ren) sometimes takes more time and energy than I have to give.
- 4. I sometimes worry whether I am doing enough for my child(ren).
- 5. I feel close to my child(ren).
- 6. I enjoy spending time with my child(ren).
- 7. My child(ren) is an important source of affection for me.
- 8. Having child(ren) gives me a more certain and optimistic view for the future.
- 9. The major source of stress in my life is my child(ren).
- 10. Having child(ren) leaves little time and flexibility in my life.
- 11. Having child(ren) has been a financial burden.
- 12. It is difficult to balance different responsibilities because of my child(ren).
- 13. The behaviour of my child(ren) is often embarrassing or stressful to me.
- 14. If I had to do it over again, I might decide not to have child(ren).
- 15. I feel overwhelmed by the responsibility of being a parent.
- 16. Having child(ren) has meant too few choices and too little control over my life.
- 17. I am satisfied as a parent.
- 18. I find my child(ren) enjoyable.

The scoring for this test consisted of a 5-point scale. Response options included strongly disagree, disagree, undecided, agree and strongly agree.

5.5.3 Pediatric Inventory of Disability Inventory-Computer Adaptive Test (PEDI-CAT) The PEDI-CAT was selected as an outcome measure for children's self-care as it is an established, widely used and psychometrically sound instrument.^{237, 238} As seen in Chapter 4, a systematic review on children's self-care, it is also a tool used frequently in other research studies^{40, 211} investigating children's self-care. An advantage of the PEDI-CAT is that it is not as time-consuming as other standardised tests for this population due to the nature of the computerised adaptive testing, which only selects test items relevant for each participant. It is also reported that the approximate administration time per child is twelve to fifteen minutes which made this a realistic tool to consider for a large study timewise. Further, the ability to carry out the test remotely makes it a useful assessment tool for researchers.

The PEDI-CAT is a norm referenced²³⁹ standardised test, a type of test which yields an estimate of the individual being tested in comparison to others from a predefined population in relation to a specific trait being measured. It consists of a caregiver questionnaire and comprises of a comprehensive item bank of 276 functional activities acquired through early childhood up till adulthood in four domains: 1) Daily Activities, 2) Mobility, 3) Social/Cognitive and 4) Responsibility.

- Daily activities: These include 68 items in daily activities which include items like getting dressed, keeping clean, and eating & mealtime.
 Sample daily activities questions (in the exact wording of the PEDI-CAT) include:
- Pulls open a sealed bag of snack food
- Puts on and fastens pants
- Tucks in shirt or blouse
- Puts on a T-shirt
- Pours liquid from a large carton into a glass
- Cuts vegetables or meat with a fork and table knife
- Wipes self with toilet paper after a bowel movement

An example of the format in which questions are presented can be seen in Box 5.1.

Box 5.1 Example of PEDI-CAT question.



2) Mobility: The Mobility domain consists of 75 items in four content areas, including basic movement and transfers, standing and walking, steps, and inclines, and running & playing. There are also an additional 10 items specifically for children who use mobility devices such as walking aids (canes, crutches, walkers) and a wheelchair subdomain with 12 items. Parents were asked at the start of the test to indicate whether their child used mobility devices, and appropriate test questions were selected based on the parent's response to that question. Researchers²⁴⁰ have found that the PEDI-CAT is reliable in discriminating between ambulatory and non-ambulatory, as well as manually independent (i.e., children who are able to self-propel a wheelchair) and dependent (children who use a power wheelchair) children.

Sample Mobility questions include:

- Walks down a flight of stairs holding onto handrail. Please do not consider use of walking aids.
- Gets in and out of van, truck or four-wheel drive. Please do not consider use of walking aids.

- Pumps legs and swings on playground swing
- Stands whilst holding on in a moving vehicle (i.e. bus or ferry)
- Social/Cognitive: The Social/Cognitive domain includes 60 items in four content areas of interaction, communication, everyday cognition, and self-management. Sample social/cognitive test questions include:
- Recognises numbers such as on a clock or phone
- Provides own address and telephone number when asked
- Understands signs in the community such as Restrooms or EXIT
- Uses the words yesterday/tomorrow/today correctly
- Recognises his/her printed name
- 4) Responsibility: The Responsibility domain includes 51 items that assess the extent to which a child or young person is managing life tasks that enable independent living in four content areas of organisation and planning, taking care of daily needs, health management, and staying safe. Sample responsibility test questions include:
- Having all items that will be needed before leaving home for the day
- Selecting clothing that is appropriate given the weather, daily schedule, and activities.
- Staying safe in a familiar location that is known to be safe such as a friend's home or park.
- Putting items and objects away after use

The test utilises a computer algorithm to select appropriate questions based on previous responses thereby ensuring that only relevant questions are asked based on the level of ability of the child.²³⁸ All PEDI-CAT respondents start the test with the same item in all domains in the middle range of difficulty. Based on the response to the first question, a harder or easier question will be asked next. Answering the questions required parents or caregivers to select the most relevant answer from a choice of 4 or 5 options. For the three functional skills domains of Daily Activities, Mobility, and Social/Cognitive,

children's ability is rated on a 4-point difficulty scale with responses ranging from "Unable" to "Easy." Responses in between include "Hard" and "A Little Hard".

The Responsibility domain has its own 5-point responsibility scale with responses ranging from 'Adult/caregiver has full responsibility if the child does not take any responsibility' to 'Child takes full responsibility without any direction, supervision or guidance from an adult/caregiver'. Other response options in between include 'Adult/caregiver has most responsibility and child takes a little responsibility', 'Adult/caregiver and child share responsibility about equally' and 'child has most responsibility with a little direction, supervision or guidance from an adult/caregiver'. For all domains there was also the option to enter 'I don't know'. Box 5.2 contains an example of the instructions provided to parents completing the test.

Box 5.2 Example of PEDI-CAT instructions for parents or caregivers.

Daily Activities

Please choose which response best describes your child's ability in the following activities.

You will be using the following scale to rate your child's typical performance

Unable: Child can't do, doesn't know how, or is too young.
Hard: Child does with a lot of help, extra time, or effort.
A Little Hard: Child does with a little help, extra time, or effort.
Easy: Child does with no help, extra time, or effort, or child's skills are past this level.
I don't know.

The purpose of the PEDI-CAT is to assist clinicians with formulating an accurate description of a child's current functional status or the child's development in relation to acquisition of functional skills required for daily activities.²⁴¹ For the EASIER study, the 'Daily Activities' section was used as the outcome for self-care whilst the other three sections were used to collate information on participants' motor skills and cognitive skills, supplemented by answers from the background information questionnaire.

Adequate test-retest reliability for the PEDI-CAT has been reported for children and young people children 3 through 20 years of age with and without disabilities.²¹⁹ Test-retest reliability estimates are high for all four domains of the PEDI-CAT. The intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) is lowest for the responsibility domain (ICC = 0.96, 95% confidence interval (CI) = 0.91–0.98) and highest for the daily activities (ICC = 0.99, 95% CI = 0.99–1.00) and mobility domains (ICC = 0.98, 95% CI = 0.97–0.99), with the social/cognitive domain in the middle (ICC = 0.98, 95% CI = 0.95–0.99).²⁴²

In comparison to other assessments, another study²⁴³ found a statistically significant correlation (p<0.001) between the PEDI-CAT mobility domain and GMFM-66 scores in children with CP. Both tests were able to pick up the same level of motor difficulties in this group of children. A comparison between the Vineland third edition (VABS-III) and the PEDI-CAT daily activities domain for the purpose of assessing young children was less favourable, with the PEDI-CAT being less sensitive to find out whether nursery aged children present with functional difficulties.²⁴⁴ However, in another study²⁴⁵, scores for the PEDI-CAT Daily Activities, Mobility, Social/Cognitive and Responsibility domains all significantly correlated with most of the VABS-III domains for children with fragile X syndrome.

Two options were available for the PEDI-CAT, Content-Balanced and Speedy-CAT. For the data collection, the Speedy CAT option was selected as it is quicker and reduces the possibility of irrelevant questions. It also felt inappropriate to ask parents of children with disabilities and complex needs irrelevant questions related to their child's functional abilities. A study²⁴⁶ which investigated the use of the Content-Balanced and Speedy version found a strong agreement between the results obtained in the scaled scores for all domains of both versions of PEDI-CAT. This demonstrates that the two versions are comparable and can provide similar information on children's performance for researchers and clinicians.

Overall, the PEDI-CAT was deemed a good option for the EASIER study as the test consists of four domains, of which all four are areas that I was interested in to investigate in this study. It has also been described as including all the activity and

participation components of the ICF^{2, 247}, the framework that was used to structure the findings of the systematic review discussed in the previous chapter. In comparison to the VABS-III, the PEDI-CAT speedy version is better suited to research studies as it can take up to forty minutes to administer the VABS-III.²⁴⁸

Upon completion of the study, my only criticism of the PEDI-CAT relates to the use of language in the test, which I perceive as a potential barrier to using this test in the UK. The test is written in US English, and I believe there is a risk of phrases such as: "Puts on and fastens pants" or "Pours liquid from a large carton into a glass" being misunderstood or being misinterpreted. Even more so in the case of participants where English is not their first language. As the PEDI-CAT is a standardised test, it was not possible to make changes to the wording of the online test however this should be taken into account in the analysis of responses.

5.6 Method of data collection

Information about the study was shared to participants in the form of study information packs by participating NHS trusts, and flyers with the study details on social media. Information packs and flyers contained the email address for the principal researcher. Interested study participants were asked to contact the author and principal researcher, myself, by email to express their interest. Upon receipt of their email, an email detailing the data collection procedure, which also contained the Qualtrics links for the background information questionnaire and the Parental Stress Scale, was sent to participants. Upon receipt of the notification for the completed background questionnaire, which also indicated that participants consented to the study terms and conditions, a study profile was created for them on the Q-global Pearson assessment website. Q-global is a web-based platform for test administration, scoring and reporting. It houses assessment tools for a range of health care professionals and is accessible from any computer which is connected to the internet. To create a test profile, researchers need to provide verification of their professional status and, where relevant professional registration details in order to ensure the appropriate use and administration of assessments.

This assessment profile sat within my test profile for the publisher and required twofactor authentication to log into the publisher's website. From here, a link for the PEDI-CAT was generated for participants based on the information in their profile, including the date of birth and sex of children in the study.

The link for the PEDI-CAT was sent to parents by email and a follow up email was sent for parents who did not complete the assessment on the link for the first time. Participants were informed at the start of the study that it would entail completing the PEDI-CAT at the start of the study and then repeating it every six months from commencing the study for a duration of three years in total.

Once a parent completed the online form a notification was sent to me to complete the automatic online scoring report, which was generated by Pearson Q-global. The completed scoring reports were then downloaded and saved anonymously with the participant number in a secure file stored on the Newcastle University server which is only accessible by two factor authentication.

Further data management included, entering the PEDI-CAT T-scores for all participants in an excel spreadsheet, which was then entered into STATA. This was stored on the Newcastle University server along with the PSS and questionnaire data collected on Qualtrics. No cleaning of data was required as the scores were in the format required for descriptive data analysis in STATA.

5.7 Description of dataset

Despite being on the NIHR portfolio and extensive social media posts along with letters to parents distributed by nursery headteachers, there was a poor uptake of participants for the study. Initially 32 participants expressed interested in the study and contacted the principal researcher to participate. Of these participants, 24 completed the PSS and the PEDI-CAT assessment for the first wave of data collection.

As this number of participants were too low to draw significant conclusions from responses from an ongoing attempt was made to recruit more participants to the study. Unfortunately, this attempt was not successful and for the second wave of data collection respondents dropped down to 16 participants.

A breakdown of participants for the first wave and the second wave of data collection can be seen in table 5.2 below.

Sex	Developmental Concerns			
	Yes	Νο		
Male (wave 1)	4	9		
Male (wave 2)	3	6		
Female (wave 1)	2	9		
Female (wave 2)	2	5		

Table 5.2 EASIER participants characteristics

From the graph in Figure 5.1 below it can be observed that there was a higher frequency of parents of boys expressing concerns about their child's development.





The data set for participants include interval-level scaled scores for all PEDI-CAT domains for two waves of data collection. This was analysed and is reported, along with questionnaire data using descriptive statistics, further on in this chapter. It was not possible to conduct statistical tests for significance of study results as the sample size was too small. Data collection for the EASIER study was also discontinued after the second wave of data collection as it was felt that it would be unethical to continue to collect data from children and families that would be void in a statistical analysis.

5.8 Data analysis

To analyse which of the child, family or environmental determinants are related to the development of self-care the aim was to use random co-efficient analysis or multilevel analysis. This analysis method²⁴⁹ allows for consideration of the dependency of repeated measures within the same children in the study and a difference in regression coefficients between subjects. Following this, the initial goal was to construct a multivariable model to identify which determinants are most significantly linked to the development of self-care. However, as the sample size for the final data collection was too small to draw significant conclusions this process was not followed, and data entered in Stata 17 is discussed below.

Demographic characteristics for study participants were summarised using descriptive statistics. Normative or T-scores for all the four PEDI-CAT domains for all participants were entered into Stata. The T-scores were obtained from the electronically generated report for each participant. Data for each of these domains were summarised using means and standard deviations (SDs) and is shown in table 5.4. For T-scores, the mean for each age group is 50, with a standard deviation of 10 (the same format used for normative scores in the original PEDI). Typically, T-scores between 30 and 70 (i.e., mean ± 2 standard deviations) are considered within the expected range for a child in comparison to others in their age group.²¹⁹. Normative scores below 30 indicate decreased functional ability compared to what is typically expected for that age range. In contrast, normative scores above 70 indicate scores above what is typically expected for that age range. (PEDICAT website https://www.pedicat.com/faq/)

The PEDI-CAT has no total score which is the sum for test items across all domains. Instead, children's normative scores are used to describe their overall performance in comparison to other children in their age group. Normative PEDI-CAT scores were derived from the standardisation of 2,205 typically developing children and this process was carried out in the United States. Therefore PEDI-CAT normative scores are reflective of the general US paediatric population, which should be considered when using this test in countries with different norms and expectations. The mean T-score for every age group is 50, and for each age group the pattern of items completed with no difficulty with this mean score will vary considerably.

5.9 Results

5.9.1 Demographic information

Participants were from the North, South and Midlands of England. All parents (n=24) who completed the study questionnaire as main carers of their children indicated that they were working parents.

The hours that parents worked varied across participants with the majority (75%) indicating that they worked more than 21 hours per week. These data are summarised in Table 5.3. For the main carers, 23 out 24 (96%) indicated that they had completed a university education, and of these responses, five (21.74%) included postgraduate degrees.

Number of participants	Hours worked by main carer
4 (16.67%)	Less than 10 hours
2 (8.33%)	10-20 hours
6 (25%)	21-30 hours
12 (50%)	31- 40 hours

Table 5.3 Summary of hours worked by the main carer per week.

All children in the study attended nursery, or went to a child minder, during the daytime. Parents indicated that 19 out of 24 (79,17%) children had siblings, of which 11 were older than study participants.

5.9.2 Daily Activities (Self-Care)

For the first wave of data collection, (n=24), the mean normative score for daily activities was 47.88, with the minimum score being 16 and the maximum score being 59. The maximum score and the mean scores were both in the average score range, which is 30 to 70. The standard deviation for this first wave of data collection was 9.48. Of the 24 participants, only 1 participant scored below 30 (score of 16) which indicated difficulty with self-care.

For the second wave of the data collection, (n=16), there was a small increase in the mean score to 48.06 and the standard deviation decreased from 9.48 to 7.10 which indicated that the values of scores tended to be closer to the mean for this data set. For this dataset, the minimum score was 28 with the maximum being 59. Again only 1 participant presented with a T-score below 30 and showed difficulties with self-care, and the score of 28 was closer to the average range of 30-70 compared to the first wave of data collection. PEDI-CAT scores for all domains, for both the first and second wave of data collection are included in Table 5.4.

5.9.3 Explanatory variables

Mobility, Social/Cognitive and Responsibility PEDI-CAT scores for both waves of data collection were considered as explanatory variables. The scores for all PEDI-CAT domains are included in table 5.4.
Variable	Obs (n)	Mean	Std. dev.	Min	Max
Daily activities Wave 1	24	47.88	9.48	16	59
Daily activities Wave 2	16	48.06	7.10	28	58
Mobility Wave 1	24	49.54	8.96	21	57
Mobility Wave 2	16	48.94	7.20	29	57
Social/Cognitive Wave 1	24	49	6.78	26	56
Social/Cognitive Wave 2	16	50.19	2.74	29	55
Responsibility Wave 1	23	54.22	11.93	16	69
Responsibility Wave 2	16	56.63	4.76	46	64

Table 5.4 Descriptive summary of PEDI-CAT Scores

After the daily activities scores, the second lowest PEDI-CAT scores were for mobility, however only a small number of participants had difficulties in this area. For the first wave of data collection, (n=24), the mean T-score for Mobility was 49.54 with the minimum score being 21 and the maximum score being 61. Of the 24 participants only 2 participants scored below 30 (scores of 21 and 29), which indicated difficulty with mobility. For the second wave of the data collection, (n=16), there was a slight decrease in the mean T-score to 48.94, and the standard deviation decreased from 8.96 to 7.20, which indicated that the values of scores tended to be closer to the mean for this data set. For this dataset, the minimum T-score was 29, with the maximum being 57. For the mobility subtests on the second wave of data collection, only one participant showed difficulties with mobility, and the score of 29 was closer to the average range of 30-70 compared to the lower score for the first wave of the data collection.

For the domain, Social/Cognitive most of the participants presented with T-scores in the range expected for their age group. For the first wave of data collection, (n=24), the mean T-score for Social/Cognitive was 49, with the minimum score being 26 and the maximum score being 56. Of the 24 participants, only 1 participant scored below 30 (score of 26) which indicated difficulties in this domain. For the second wave of the data collection, (n=16), there was a slight increase in the mean T-score to 50.19 and the standard deviation decreased from 6.79 to 2.74 which indicated that the values of

scores tended to be closer to the mean for this dataset. For this dataset, the minimum score was 45, with the maximum being 55. For the second wave, all remaining participants scores in this domain were within the average expected for their age group.

Similarly, for the domain Responsibility, I observed few difficulties in this domain. For the first wave of data collection, (n=24), the mean T-score for Responsibility was 54.22 with the minimum score being 16 and the maximum score being 69. This subtest was completed by 23 participants, of which one scored below the average range expected for their age group. For the second wave of the data collection, (N=16), there was a slight increase in the mean score to 56.63 and the standard deviation decreased from 11.93 to 4.76 which indicated that the values of scores tended to be close to the mean for this dataset. For this dataset the minimum score was 46 with the maximum being 64. For the second wave all participants' T-scores in this domain were within the higher end of the average expected for their age group.

As all the mean scores for the PEDI-CAT domains discussed above are in the average range expected for participants' age group, it was not possible for me to make any definite conclusions as to how these three variables interacted with participants' ability to participate in self-care.

5.9.4 Parental stress

Data on parental stress were collected at the start of the study for participants, and in total, 23 participants completed the PSS. Scoring for the PSS ranges from 18 to 90, with a lower score indicating a low amount of parental stress and a higher score a high amount of parental stress.

Scores for the PSS in this study ranged from 52 to 83 with a median of 63 and a standard deviation of 7.36. This suggests that participants were experiencing moderate to high levels of parental stress at the time of completion of the PSS.

5.10 Bias

For this study it is important to consider attrition bias, bias due to differences in the two study groups for wave 1 and wave 2 because of differences in participant numbers and

the way participants are lost from the study. This could have been influenced by the timing and circumstances of the study. It is possible that the stressors of the COVID-19 pandemic contributed to the low uptake of participants for the study²⁵⁰. It was observed in a few cases after the data collection was completed that where parents achieved a higher score for parental stress that they also did not complete the data required for the second wave of the data collection. For participants who completed both waves of the study the average PSS score was 61.8 whilst for participants who dropped out after the first wave of data collection the average PSS score was 67.9. Beyond the differences in PSS scores there were no other demographic differences between participants who participated in both waves of data collections and those who dropped out after the first wave.

5.11 Discussion of results

Due to the small sample size, it was not possible to make any real inference from the study results obtained. Further, the majority of participants scored within the average range expected for their age group on the Daily Activities subtest indicating that most participants in the study were participating in self-care at the level expected for their age group. In fact, whilst six parents indicated that they were concerned about their child's development only one child actually scored below the average range for their age group in the Daily Activities subtest on the PEDI-CAT. A similar pattern was seen in the other three PEDI-CAT subtests: Mobility; Social/Cognitive; and Responsibility.

It was observed that all parents in the study presented with moderate to high scores for parental stress. As these data were collected during the second lockdown (December 2020) of the COVID-19 pandemic it is more than likely that these scores were related to the stressors of raising children during the pandemic, rather than being worried about children's development. Particularly as all respondents were working parents. A study²⁵¹ carried out in 2020 found a significantly higher rate of parental stress than before the pandemic and found that some of the stressors included changes in children's routines, worry about the pandemic and online school demands. As almost all children presented with self-care within the average range for their age group, no

self-care. This is in contrast with the findings of the literature discussed in Chapter 4 which found a positive correlation between parental stress and children's self-care difficulties.¹³⁴ However, it is not possible to make definite conclusions about the association between parental stress and children's self-care in this chapter due to the limited sample size of the EASIER study.

In some cases, it could have been possible for children with older siblings that their parents expected them to perform at a higher developmental level than was appropriate for their age group. As a result, parents could have assumed that their younger child had difficulties with self-care in comparison to their older siblings and this was the concern that was passed onto the researcher. However, due to the small sample size this is a speculation and not a confirmed association.

5.12 Conclusion

In summary, this chapter described the rationale, methods, and description of data for the EASIER study. The study was significantly impacted on by the COVID-19 pandemic, and several changes had to be made to the study throughout the research process. There was a poor uptake for the study and the sample size was limited as a result, potentially at least in part explained by increased stress of the pandemic on an already high-stress population of parents with young children. Therefore, in this chapter, it is not possible to make associations and predictions regarding the self-care of children with and without motor impairments. In the next chapter, Chapter 6, I will discuss self-care in another longitudinal study, the ActiveCHILD study, which consists of a significantly larger sample size.

Chapter 6: ActiveCHILD - Data analysis of self-care from a longitudinal study

6.1 Background

In this chapter I describe the development of self-care, and factors influencing self-care, in a representative sample of children aged 1 to 5 years, with and without physical limitations, from a selection of thirteen sites in England. The data analysed in this chapter originate from the ActiveCHILD study^{252, 253}, a National Institute of Health Research, HEE/NIHR Integrated Clinical Academic Senior Clinical Lecturer funded study (NIHR ICA-SCL-2015-01-00). The ActiveCHILD study was originally led by one supervisor (NK), and another (MP) was a co-applicant.

The ActiveCHILD study aimed to advance interventions for physical activity for young children across abilities. As part of this, it also collected data on children's self-care at two waves.²⁵⁴ This chapter uses data related to self-care for a secondary analysis, to explore how self-care interacted with other variables in the study.

In this chapter, I consider explanatory measures influencing self-care, discuss the data set used, the descriptive secondary analysis of the data obtained, and conclusions drawn from this. My contribution to the study solely consisted of contributing to the data collection for the second wave of the study and analysing data in relation to participants' self-care.

6.2 Design

I conducted a quantitative secondary analysis on selected data from the ActiveCHILD longitudinal study. The primary study²⁵⁴ focused on generating evidence about children's participation in physical activity and its relationship with physical limitations, social and behavioural factors, and health in children with and without physical limitations. Detailed methods for the primary study are available to access in the ActiveCHILD study protocol.²⁵³ In the primary study²⁵⁴, children 1-5 years across developmental and health states, including children who had impairments in neuromusculoskeletal and movement-related functions or mobility limitations, as well

as children with no known impairments, and their parents were recruited. The primary study²⁵⁴ used purposive sampling across health pathways and sociodemographic factors. Children and parents had been recruited through routine contact with health visitors and other child health professionals, who identified eligible children for the study. Eligible participants had been sent a recruitment pack, and families who returned the consent form were contacted for data collection. Data collection for the PEDI-CAT took place by phone or in person depending on parent preference.²⁵⁴ The primary study had the relevant NHS Research Ethics Committee (REC) and Health Research Authority (HRA) approval, and as the data were anonymised no further approval was required for the secondary data analysis discussed in this chapter.

6.3 Outcome variable: Self-care

The main outcome for the secondary data analysis in this chapter was self-care. One of the measurement tools that was used to collect data for the ActiveCHILD study, the Paediatric Evaluation of Disability Inventory Computer Adaptive Test (PEDICAT)²³⁷, contained a domain for daily activities, which was used to measure self-care in study participants.

The PEDI-CAT^{219, 237} is a norm-referenced standardised test, which consists of a caregiver questionnaire. The test utilises a computer algorithm to select appropriate questions based on previous responses, thereby ensuring that only relevant questions are asked based on the level of ability of the child.²³⁸ In total, the PEDI-CAT item banks, which measure function in 4 domains: (1) Daily Activities, (2) Mobility, (3) Social/Cognitive, and (4) Responsibility, consist of 276 test items. I shared examples of these test items in the previous chapter, Chapter 5.

The purpose of the PEDI-CAT is to assist clinicians with formulating an accurate description of a child's current functional status or the child's development in relation to the acquisition of functional skills required for daily activities. The PEDI-CAT results, which were collected in two waves over a period of 2-3 years for all willing study

participants, form part of the dataset used for the data analysis discussed in this chapter.

6.4 Explanatory variables

In this chapter, I was seeking to investigate the variables influencing children's self-care. Scores from the PEDICAT domains, Mobility, Social/Cognitive and Responsibility were considered as explanatory variables influencing participants' self-care. Other data taken into account for the secondary analysis to explain self-care included the following: the child's date of birth and sex, the child's cognitive and mobility level as reported by their NHS provider, the recruitment pathway, and Indices of multiple deprivation (IMD) deciles previously derived from the child's postcode by the ActiveCHILD researchers. All of the variables considered are listed in table 6.1. For self-care at waves one and two, I used univariate and multivariable linear regression to explore potential explanatory factors influencing participants' T-scores for daily activities. This method measured the strength of the association between T-scores for daily activities and the independent variables which were age, sex, NHS Cognitive levels, Mobility T-scores, Social Cognitive T-scores, and Responsibility T-scores. I also used the adjusted r² to assess the percentage variance in outcome explained by the variables in the regression model.

Parents who consented to their children participating in the study were asked to complete and return a baseline demographic questionnaire, which included their postcode which was used to identify IMD deciles. Deciles are calculated by ranking lower-layer super output areas (LSOAs) in England according to levels of social deprivation. Areas in decile 1 fall within the most deprived 10% of LSOAs in England, whereas areas in decile 10 fall in the 10% of least deprived LSOAs nationally.

Data on NHS cognitive levels and NHS mobility levels were collected through a form completed by either the health visitor in the case of the first recruitment pathway or the physio or occupational therapist in the case of children recruited through the second recruitment pathway. Response options for NHS cognitive levels for the primary study consisted of four options which were: 1) There are no concerns about the child's

development; 2) I am not able to comment; 3) The child has a global delay; and 4) There are concerns about the child's development. For mobility levels, the primary study considered three levels of mobility as indicated by NHS providers. These three levels were: 1) the child moves around using his/her body (e.g crawling, shuffling); 2) the child moves around using aids/equipment/human help; and 3) the child walks on his/her own (including cruising along furniture). However, the NHS mobility levels were excluded from the secondary data analysis as these were similar to the PEDI-CAT mobility questions, which provided more details about children's mobility and motor skills. The PEDI-CAT data was collected by team members from the primary study, following the standardised test instructions.

Variable	Measurement/Assessment	Type of Variable
NHS Cognitive	4 Response options	Categorical
	reported by NHS provider	
Date of Birth (Age)	Recorded by research team	Continuous
Sex	Recorded by research team	Ordinal
IMD Decile	Derived from participant's	Categorical
	postcode by research team	
Mobility (PEDICAT) (T-	Caregiver questionnaire	Categorical
score)		
Social Cognitive (PEDICAT)	Caregiver questionnaire	Categorical
(T-score)		
Responsibility (PEDICAT T-	Caregiver questionnaire	Categorical
score)		

Table 6.1 Explanatory variables considered in secondary data analysis

To represent the relationships between explanatory variables influencing self-care, and possible confounders in this dataset, I created DAGs (directed acyclic graphs).²⁵⁵ A DAG is a specific type of graph that consists of nodes that are directionally related to each other and do not form a directional closed loop. DAGs are a useful addition to statistical

analysis in health research to add transparency to identifying confounding variables that require conditioning to estimate causal effects.²⁵⁶

The DAGs in this section show the proposed causal relationships affecting self-care, and the arrows represent the proposed causal relationships pointing from cause to affect. In this figure, self-care (measured through the PEDI-CAT daily living normative or T-scores) is the outcome represented in the DAG. An important point to consider about DAGs is that causal relationships between the variables are always unidirectional, and therefore there are no feedback loops. As a result, the two variables cannot influence each other. Instead, two variables can be joined by what is defined as a path. In open paths, there is a statistical correlation between the variables at either side of the arrow, whereas in closed paths, this correlation is lacking.

There are three main types of paths in DAGS. These are: 1) directed paths; 2) backdoor paths; and 3) closed paths. In directed paths, the association between variables are the result of a causal relationship, and in the graph, all arrows are showing in the same direction. In backdoor paths, two variables are influenced by the same cause even though there is no relationship between these two variables. In this case, the cause which is referred to as the backdoor path, is representative of the confounder in the results. In the case of closed paths, two different variables have the same effect even though there are no associations between these two variables. The effect is referred to as a collider.

In this chapter, I anticipated that the recruitment pathway for the primary study would influence self-care outcomes for children, with those recruited from the specialist pathways – more likely to present with developmental problems - showing more challenges with self-care compared to those recruited through health visiting appointments. In this case, the recruitment pathway is shown as the mediator in Figure 6.1, whilst children's mobility as measured through the T-score for Mobility on the PEDI-CAT, are the exposure affecting children's self-care.



Figure 6.1 DAG showing recruitment pathway as a mediator in relation to Daily Activities/Self-care outcomes

Further, I predicted IMD Deciles as a confounder in this study. Whilst there was a strong correlation between IMD Deciles and self-care (p<0.01 for the first wave for participants who participated in both waves and p=0.12 for the second wave), there was a higher percentage of children recruited through the specialist pathway who were well in the most deprived LSOAs compared to children recruited through regular health visiting appointments. Through this pathway illustrated in Figure 6.2, IMD Deciles impacted on the PEDI-CAT Daily Activities T-scores.



Figure 6.2 DAG showing IMD Deciles as a confounder in relation to Daily Activities/Self-care

6.5 Description of dataset

The analysis in this chapter draws on data from 299 children, born between 02/2015 and 07/ 2018, who provided eligible data, collected from 07/2017 to 08/2021. The dataset consists of 299 participants for the first wave of data collection and 153 participants for the second wave. For both waves of data collection, there were significantly more female than male participants (149 and 111 for the first wave, respectively, and 82 compared with 68 for the second wave, respectively).

Demographic characteristics for participants in the primary study²⁵⁴ are shown in Table 6.2. Participants were patients from the NHS trust in the North-West and North-East or Midlands of England and participants came from one of two recruitment paths. Details of the recruitment pathway, along with a breakdown of age and sex of participants, for both waves of data collection can be seen in Table 6.2.

	Wave 1	Wave 2
	(n=299)	(n=153)
Age, month: mean (25 th , 75 th	21.9 (14,28)	55.62 (49, 61)
centiles) n	260*	150**
Sample size at each age point		
- Females, <i>n(%)</i>	149 (57)	82 (55)
- Males, n(%)	111 (43)	68 (45)
Recruitment Pathway ***		
- one, n(%)	147 (56)	81 (54)
- two, n(%)	115 (44)	70 (46)

Table 6.2 Breakdown of participants according to age, sex, and recruitment pathway

*260/299 participants

** 150/153 participants

***For both time points there are participants where data was not provided in relation to the pathway of recruitment. For time point one, 262/299 provided this data and for time point two, 151/153

For the first wave of data collection, data on NHS cognitive levels were obtained for 245/299 (82%) participants (Table 6.3). For these participants, it was indicated that 4% of participants presented with a cognitive delay, and for another 28% of participants, it was noted that there are concerns about their cognitive development—the second cohort of participants presented with similar numbers. Information about cognitive levels was provided for 139/153 (90%) participants. In the second cohort, one participant presented with a global developmental delay and concerns were expressed about the cognitive development of 43 other participants.

A breakdown of NHS cognitive levels provided for study participants at the two different waves can be seen in Table 6.3.

Table 6.3 NHS cognitive levels for study participants

NHS cognitive levels	Wave 1	Wave 2
There are no concerns about the	130 (53)	79 (57)
child's development, n(%)		
I am not able to comment, n(%)	37 (15)	16 (12)
The child has a global delay, n(%)	9 (4)	1 (1)
There are concerns about the	69 (28)	43 (31)
child's development, n(%)		
Total	245*	139**

*245/299 participants

*139/153 participants

NHS mobility levels at wave 1 and wave 2 are tabulated in Table 6.4.

NHS Mobility Levels	Wave 1	Wave 2
The child moves around using	19 (10)	8 (7)
aids/equipment/human help,		
n(%)		
The child moves around using	20 (11)	11 (10)
his/her body, n(%)		
The child walks on his/her own,	150 (79)	88 (82)
n(%)		
Total	189*	108**

Table 6.4 NHS Mobility levels for study participants

*189/299 participants (63%)

**108/153 participants (70%)

The dataset included indices of multiple deprivation (IMD) deciles¹⁶¹ for study participants from the primary study. There was a spread of participants across deciles 1 to 10 for both waves of data collection, with a similar number of participants in decile 1 (most deprived; 14% for wave 1 and 13% for wave 2) and decile 10 (least deprived; 12% for both wave 1 and 2). However, it is important to note that 18% more of children recruited through specialist services (indicating that they had additional needs) were in the bottom 20% of the deprivation index (deciles one and two) compared to children recruited through regular health visiting check-ups. For children recruited through health visitors, 26/162 participants (16%) fell in the bottom 20% of the deprivation index. This means that these participants were from some of the most deprived LSOAs in the UK. For children recruited through the specialist pathway, this figure was 34% (45/132 participants). This finding is similar to another UK study²⁵⁷ which found that there is a higher rate of children with disabilities living in deprivation and poverty, in comparison to children without disabilities. For children from the least deprived LSOAs, there were 58/162 participants (35%) who fell in the top 20% of the deprivation index (deciles 9 and 10), and for children recruited through the specialist pathway, the representation for these deciles were 18/132 participants (14%).

6.6 Data analysis

Mobility, Social/Cognitive and Responsibility T-scores on the PEDI-CAT were assessed as potential predictors of participants' self-care, along with the variables age, sex, IMDDecile, and NHS cognitive levels using linear regression. Univariate linear regression was first used to determine the relationship between these variables and the outcome, self-care, which was measured through the PEDI-CAT daily living T-scores. Following this, a multivariable model²⁵⁸ was constructed to identify which determinants were most significantly associated with the development of self-care. The multivariable linear regression also took into account confounding variables.

The dataset was cleaned by the research team on the primary study who took the necessary steps to ensure the validity of quantitative data and the accuracy of all findings in the study. The analysis therefore consisted of relevant, accurate data which already had been entered in the computer programme used, Stata 17 by Stata Corp, and the data set included both the scaled and the T-scores for the PEDI-CAT. Participant data was anonymised before any statistical analysis and the significance was set at P<0.05.

Demographic characteristics for study participants were also summarised using descriptive statistics in Stata 17. The scaled scores for the four PEDI-CAT domains which were included in the dataset were first calculated according to instructions from the

PEDI-CAT manual. Data for each of these domains were then summarised using means and standard deviations (SDs) as they were normally distributed. Scaled scores for the PEDI-CAT test represent a child's status along a continuum of functional ability represented by the test items. An increase in scaled scores indicate an increase in the child's ability to perform tasks from one of the test domains.

For each of the 4 domains, in addition to scaled scores, normative standard scores (provided as T-scores and age percentiles) were calculated. Normative scores describe the child's performance in comparison to other children of the same age (in one-year intervals). For T-scores, the mean for each age group is 50, with a standard deviation of 10 (the same format used for normative scores in the original PEDI). Typically, T-scores between 30 and 70 (i.e., mean ± 2 standard deviations) are considered within the expected range for age. Scores below 30 indicate decreased functional ability compared to what is typically expected for that age range. Scores above 70 indicate scores above what is typically expected for that age range. (PEDICAT website https://www.pedicat.com/faq/)

Although the scaled scores were calculated first for all participants, they are not included in this data set as they are more useful to refer to the performance of one specific child, whereas the T-scores provided information on children's performance in comparison to other participants. It was therefore thought that it would be more clinically relevant to discuss the T-scores, for participants in the study, in this chapter.

6.7 Results

The results for this chapter included the PEDI-CAT scores and other explanatory variables shown in Table 6.1 for 140 participants who participated in both waves of the primary study. Overall, there were no key major differences in the key characteristics, which included age, sex, recruitment pathway and IMD Decile, for this sample in comparison to the main sample of the primary study.

6.7.1 Descriptive characteristics

In this section I describe the PEDI-CAT T-scores for wave 1 and 2, and report on the differences and similarities between the two waves of data collection. PEDI-CAT scores for both waves of data collection are summarised in Table 6.5. T-scores ranging from 30-70 are in the typical range, and T-scores below 30 indicate difficulties with tasks in a domain.

	Wave 1 N=140		Wave 2 N=140			P value	
	Mean	SD	(Min, Max)	Mean	SD	(Min, Max)	
Daily activities	50.65	10.46	7,77	50.21	12.69	14,79	0.65
Mobility	48.89	15.17	-6,75	47.20		-53,70	0.13
					17.75		
Social/cognitive	50.74	8.54	27,66	47.40		3,61	<0.01
					10.18		
Responsibility	48.17	11.65	11,70	51.96		13,69	<0.01
					10.41		

Overall, there was a small increase in the number of participants who presented with difficulties with self-care in the second wave of data collection in comparison to the first wave. I observed that for self-care, measured through the daily activities PEDI-CAT T-Scores, that there was a minimal decrease in the mean score from 50.65 for the first wave to 50.21 for the second wave. Both the minimum and maximum scores for Daily Activities shown in Table 6.5 increased for the second wave of data collection. However, the standard deviation increased from 10.46 to 12.69 which indicated that the Daily Activities T-scores for the second data were more varied.

The distribution of Daily Activity scores for both waves of data collections (n=140) are shown in figure 6.3. For the first wave of data collection, 5 out 140 participants (3.5%) achieved a T-score below 30 which indicates difficulties in the Daily Activities domain, and for the second wave this number was 12 out 140 participants (8.6%). This demonstrates an increase of 5.1% in the number of participants who presented with difficulties with self-care in the second wave of data collection in comparison to the first wave.



Figure 6.3 Distribution of PEDI-CAT T-scores for Daily Activities for waves 1 and 2

For mobility, I also found a minimal increase (0.71%) in the number of participants who presented with difficulties in the PEDI-CAT Mobility subtest in the second wave in comparison to the first wave of data collection. In the first wave, 15/140 (10.71%) of participants had a T-score below 30 for this subtest, and for the second wave this number was 16/140 (11.42%). I also observed a decrease in the mean score from 48.89 for the first wave to 47.20 for the second wave of data collection. For the first wave of data collection (n=140), the lowest T-score for mobility was -6 with the highest T-score being 78. (M=48.89, SD=15.17). For the second wave of the data collection (n=140) the lowest T-score was -53 with the highest being 70. (M=47.20, SD=17,75). This demonstrates an increase from 15.17 to 17.75 in the standard deviation of the T-score for participants, who participated both in the first and second wave of data collection. This is similar to the daily activities T-scores where T-scores for the second wave showed greater variation.

The distribution of mobility T-scores for both waves of data collections (n=140) are shown in Figure 6.4. The results in Figure 6.4 show that a high number of participants

presented with challenges with mobility. For the first wave of data collection 15 out 140 participants (10.71%) achieved a T-score below 30 which indicates difficulties in this domain and for the second wave this number was 16 out 140 participants (11.42%).



Figure 6.4 Distribution of PEDI-CAT T-scores for mobility for waves 1 and 2

Next, I found a 5.7% increase in the number of participants who showed difficulties with social/cognitive from the first to the second wave of data collection. For social/cognitive, the lowest T-score for the first wave of data collection (n=140) was 27 and the highest, 66. (M= 50.74, SD=8.54). For the second wave of data collection (n=140) the lowest T-score was 3 with the highest being 61. (M=47.30, SD=10.18).

In Figure 6.5 one can observe the higher number of participants in the second wave with a T-score of below 30 which indicates difficulties in this area. For the first wave of data collection, two out of 140 participants (1.43%) achieved a T-score below 30 which indicates difficulties in this domain and for the second wave, this number was 10 out of 140 participants (7.14 %).



Figure 6.5 Distribution of PEDI-CAT T-scores for Social/Cognitive for waves 1 and 2

For the last of the four PEDI-CAT domains, Responsibility, I also observed a small increase in the number of participants who presented with lower T-scores for this domain in the second wave of data collection. For Responsibility, the lowest T-score for the first wave of data collection (n=140) was 24 and the highest, 75. (M=48.17, SD=11.65) For the second wave of the data collection, the lowest T-score was 13 and the highest, 69. (M=51.96, SD=10.41). Figure 6.6 shows that T-scores for this domain were more evenly distributed for the second wave of data collection. For the first wave of data collection, seven out of 140 participants (5%) achieved a T-score below 30 which indicates difficulties in this domain and for the second wave, this number increased slightly to eight out of 140 participants (5.8%) as shown in Figure 6.6. This increase could be indicative of the PEDI-CAT questions making higher demands of responsibility skills at the second time point of data collection, which made the difficulties experienced by participants more pronounced than at the first time point of data collection.



Figure 6.6 Distribution of PEDI-CAT T-scores for Responsibility for waves 1 and 2

6.7.2 Univariate analysis

As seen in section 6.7.1 above, 3.5% of children in the first wave of this secondary dataset presented with difficulties with self-care as measured through the PEDI-CAT daily activities domain. For the second wave of data collection, this number was 8.6%.

For the univariate analysis of potential explanatory variables influencing children in the dataset's self-care, I included the following variables as potential predictors: age, sex, and NHS cognitive levels. Recruitment pathway as a mediator was not included in the univariate analysis, and the analysis adjusted for IMD Decile as a confounder. The results of the univariate analyses of waves 1 and 2 are shown in Tables 6.6 and 6.7.

Variable	Coefficient	95% CI	P-Value
Age	0.03	-0.21 to	0.78
		0.28	
Sex	-4.02	-7.48,	0.02
		to 0.57	
NHS Cognitive Level	-0.97	-2.16 to	0.11
		0.23	
Mobility (PEDI-CAT) (T-	0.51	0.43 to	<0.001
Scores)		0.59	
Social/Cognitive (PEDI-CAT)	0.98	0.86 to	<0.001
(T-scores)		1.10	
Responsibility (PEDI-CAT)	0.48	0.35 to	<0.001
(T-scores)		0.60	

Table 6.6 Univariate Analysis of potential predictors for self-care (Wave 1)

Table 6.7 Univariate Analysis of potential predictors for self-care (Wave 2)

Variable	Coefficient	95% CI	P-Value
Age	0.03	-0.19 to	0.77
		0.26	
Sex	-6.30	-10.45	0.003
		to -2.16	
NHS Cognitive Level	-1.68	-3.28 to	0.03
		-0.14	
Mobility (PEDI-CAT) (T-	0.57	0.50 to	<0.001
Scores)		0.64	
Social/Cognitive (PEDI-CAT)	0.99	0.86 to	<0.001
(T-scores)		1.11	
Responsibility (PEDI-CAT) (T-	0.91	0.77 to	<0.001
scores)		1.04	

From the univariate analysis for wave 1, I found that sex (p=0.03), along with PEDI-CAT T-scores for Mobility (p<0.001), Social/Cognitive (p<0.001) and Responsibility (p<0.001) showed strong associations with PEDI-CAT T-scores for Daily Activities. Similarly, from the univariate analysis from wave 2, I found that I found that sex (p=0.0.001), along with

PEDI-CAT T-scores for Mobility (p<0.001), Social/Cognitive (p<0.001) and Responsibility (p<0.001) showed strong associations with PEDI-CAT T-scores for Daily Activities. The association between sex and the Daily Activities T-score is unclear as the data included for the secondary analysis showed a similar distribution between boys and girls from the two recruitment pathways for both waves of data collection.

6.7.3 Multivariate analysis

To establish which factors influenced participants' score for Daily Activities (the outcome measure for self-care) a multivariable linear regression analysis was carried out to investigate explanatory factors influencing the outcome variable, self-care (Daily Activity T-score), at waves one and two.

The multivariable analysis consisted of a multiple linear regression model with the variables above indicates as predictors. Recruitment pathway, as a mediator, was excluded from the regression models. The regression model also adjusted for IMD Deciles, which is a potentially confounding variable. The regression model for the first wave had complete data for 112 children and the regression model for the second wave had complete data for 121 children. Coefficients, confidence intervals, and p-values from the multivariable analysis are reported in the regression results which are recorded in Tables 6.8 and 6.9.

Table 6.8 Multivariable linear regression model of variables influencing participant's self-care at wave one.

Variable	Results of linear regression with IMD Deciles (adjusted)			
	Coefficient	95%CI	P-value	
Age (months)	-0.10	-0.22 to 0.02	0.09	
Sex (M)	-0.48	-2.36 to 1.39	0.61	
NHS Cognitive	0.24	-0.45 to 0.93	0.50	
Mobility (PEDI-CAT) (T-Scores)	0.17	0.08 to 0.26	<0.001	
Social Cognitive (PEDI-CAT) (T-scores)	0.74	0.57 to 0.90	<0.001	
Responsibility (PEDI-CAT) (T-scores)	0.002	-0.10 to 0.10	0.97	
IMDDecile	-0.11	-0.41 to 0.19	0.46	

* Number of observations = 112

Table 6.9 Multivariable linear regression model of variables influencing participant's self-care at wave two.

Independent Variable	Results of linear regression with IMD Deciles (adjusted)			
	Coefficient	95%CI	P-value	
Age (months)	-0.01	-0.11 to 0.10	0.88	
Sex (M)	-2.39	-4.48 to -0.29	0.03	
NHS Cognitive	-0.55	-1.31 to 0.22	0.17	
Mobility (PEDI-CAT) (T-Scores)	0.48	0.38 to 0.57	<0.001	
Social Cognitive (PEDI-CAT) (T-scores)	0.28	0.05 to 0.46	0.02	
Responsibility (PEDI-CAT) (T-scores)	0.26	0.10 to 0.43	0.003	
IMDDecile	-0.26	-0.60 to 0.09	0.14	

* Number of observations = 121

Overall, the predictors in the multivariable models accounted in total for 74% of the variance in daily activities T-scores at the first wave of data collection and 80% of the variance at the second time point of data collection. I found significant positive associations between self-care and the PEDI-CAT Mobility T-scores (p<0.01), and between self-care and PEDI-CAT Social Cognitive T-scores (p<0.01 and p=0.02) for the first wave and second wave of data collection. Lower scores for the PEDI-CAT domains, Mobility and Social Cognitive, therefore accounted for lower scores in the PEDI-CAT Daily Living domain. For the second wave of data collection, I also found a positive

relationship between self-care and the PEDI-CAT Responsibility T-scores (p<0.01), where lower scores correlated with difficulties with self-care.

6.8 Discussion

This secondary date analysis set out to investigate how children's self-care develops over time, as measured by the PEDI-CAT, and to contribute to the evidence base for factors that contribute to self-care over time. PEDI-CAT Social/Cognitive T-scores (p<0.01 and p=0.01) and PEDI-CAT Mobility T-scores (p<0.01) emerged as key positive predictors of self-care aged 1-5 years in this secondary data analysis.

In this secondary data analysis, I observed a small increase (5.1%) in the percentage of participants who presented with self-care difficulties from baseline to follow up. As seen in section 6.6 the predictors in the multivariable models showed a high level of correlation and accounted in total for 74% of the variance in Daily Activities T-scores for the first wave of data collection and 80% of the variance for the second wave of data collection. Of the predictors included in the model, PEDI-CAT Mobility T-scores and PEDI-CAT Social/Cognitive T-scores showed the highest correlation followed by PEDI-CAT Responsibility T-Scores for participants in the second wave of data collection. The influence of age on Daily Activities T-scores was found not to be significant. In the multivariable analysis I observed that the sex of participants was not significant in predicting Daily Activities T-scores in the first wave of data collection, but in the second wave of date collection boys presented with higher levels of difficulty with Daily Activities (P=0.03).

Another study²⁵⁹ carried out on children aged 4-7 years with CP also found that the PEDI-CAT Mobility T-Score was a significant predictor of the Daily Activities T-Score. In this secondary data analysis, 10.71% (15/140) of the dataset presented with Mobility T-Scores below 30 which indicates difficulty with this domain for the first wave of data collection. For the second wave of data collection this percentage was 11.42% (16/140) of the dataset. The lowest scores for waves 1 and 2 were -6 and -53 respectively which indicated that these participants presented with significant mobility difficulties. A

previous study²⁶⁰ investigating mother-child interactions in children with disabilities found that in some circumstances, the parents of children with reduced mobility assisted their child with self-care activities regardless of whether the child required assistance. As the PEDI-CAT is a caregiver questionnaire, it would be useful to also investigate the correlation between mobility and self-care in other ways, which include qualitative views from children on what aspects of self-care they find challenging themselves.

These findings have implications for health care providers addressing self-care concerns in young children as it indicates that these areas need to be considered in conjunction with self-care. In this secondary analysis there was insufficient evidence to suggest that any of the other variables including socio-economic status, as indicated by areas of deprivation, or the recruitment pathway directly played a role in children's ability to participate in self-care. The results of this secondary data analysis align with the findings in Chapter 4 which showed cognitive skills and motor skills (including mobility) as predictors of self-care.

6.9 Comparison of the ActiveCHILD and EASIER datasets.

There were a number of similarities between the primary study where the data for this secondary analysis was obtained from, and the EASIER study described in Chapter 5. Most of the similarities relate to the methodology, as both studies were longitudinal studies and with a similar target population.

Firstly, the study recruited children from a range of sociodemographic backgrounds and with a range of health statuses, similar to the selection criteria of the EASIER study discussed in Chapter 5. The only difference in the selection criteria was the age range, as the EASIER study collected data on children aged three years and over. However, the sample discussed in this chapter consisted of data for 140 participants for two waves whereas the number of participants in the EASIER study were significantly less.

Secondly, as with the EASIER study, the primary study in this chapter did not present any major ethics issues, beyond the general issues related to non-invasive research with children and parents. To recap, within these general issues, two are of specific importance: 1) children's right to contribute and 2) children's right to be safe from harm. Just as in the EASIER study, the ActiveCHILD study involved young children who were unlikely to be able to make informed choices about their participation in the study and possibly lacked the understanding to actively contribute to the research design of the study. Recommendations from a report¹¹³ by the Nuffield Council on Bioethics, state that the nature of child and parent involvement and enablement depends on the population of children (e.g. their capabilities and interests) and the nature of the research were also considered in this study. Therefore, in the ActiveCHILD study, parents were asked to make decisions on their children's behalf, and parents' views were drawn upon to inform the research.

Thirdly, as with the EASIER study discussed in Chapter 5, the PEDI-CAT²³⁷ was used to measure participation in self-care for study participants in the ActiveCHILD study. The PEDI-CAT, a parent questionnaire, was completed by parents and caregivers in two waves. Whilst the PEDI-CAT was used in both the EASIER and ActiveCHILD studies, a significant difference in the method compared to the previous chapter is that the PEDI-CAT was completed by research assistants over the phone or by interviewing parents in person. In the EASIER study discussed in Chapter 5 parents of participating children were sent a link to complete the PEDI-CAT on their own devices, in their own time. The online version of the PEDI-CAT which enable researchers to send links to participants launched a couple of years after the first wave of data collection for the ActiveCHILD study which is why this version was not used for the ActiveCHILD study. The PEDI-CAT data discussed in this chapter was collected by the research team by telephone. PEDI-CAT profiles were set up for each participant on a study account, and the test profile for each participant was anonymised with a study participation number allocated to it. Unlike the web version, Q-global, used for data collection in Chapter 5, there was no automated scoring and report generation for this manual version of the test. This version did also not present the option for parents to open the questionnaire by Weblink and only had the option to be administered by a member of the research team. Questions were read out

over the phone by a member of the research team, and the answers were completed by the same individual whilst talking to the parent over the phone. During the first wave of data collection, before the COVID-19 pandemic, parents were also presented with the option to complete the PEDI-CAT in person with a member of the research team. However, this option was not possible for the second wave of data collection due to social distancing and lockdown restrictions in the UK.

6.10 Strengths and limitations of the study process and results

A strength of the data in this chapter was the high sample (n=140) of data on children's self-care for two waves of data collection. Data were collected on children from a range of socio-economic circumstances and two different recruitment pathways. This provided a balanced representation of children at approximately two years of development.

Limitations relate to the administration of the PEDI-CAT. For the second round of PEDI-CAT data collection, all interviews took place by phone, as opposed to the additional option of in-person data collection for the first round of data collection. Due to the lockdown restrictions associated with the Covid19 pandemic, and the fact that many individuals with health conditions were shielding²⁶¹ during the pandemic, it was not possible to offer the option for collecting PEDI-CAT in person for the follow-up data collection. This meant that the research team had to contact parents by telephone to arrange for the PEDI-CAT data collection and rely on telephone numbers provided at the start of the study for this. The pandemic itself also possibly influenced attrition due to children or their parents being unwell with the virus, or participants being unable to participate due to being indirectly affected by the virus.²⁵⁰

In comparison to the PEDI-CAT data collection in the previous chapter, EASIER, in which the data collection was completed by parents online in their own time, in the primary data collection for the present chapter the parents were read out the questions over the phone. This is an older version of the PEDI-CAT that was the only version available to the researchers at the start of the primary study. Whilst the content of questions was the

same as for the EASIER study the significant difference in the administration of the PEDI-CAT could have possibly impacted on the data collected.

In contrast to the EASIER study discussed in the previous chapter, the method of researchers reading the parents the questions over the phone allowed for parents to clarify the meaning of a question they were not sure about. However, it is possible that parents who find telephone conversations difficult and would have preferred to see the questions in writing, might have preferred to receive a PEDI-CAT questionnaire to complete in their own time the same as participants in the EASIER study.

Whilst parents in the primary study were presented with the opportunity to ask the researchers to clarify questions over the phone, parents would not have seen the written questions in front of them. That could have presented parents with auditory processing difficulties with some challenges, and parents with English as a second language who might not have found it easy to ask the researchers to clarify terms that they were unsure of. Further, parents who answered the questions directly to the research team could have felt under pressure to answer questions in a particular way which could have skewed the results. Further differences on how the method of data collection for the EASIER study and ActiveCHILD varied with the same test battery are reflected on in section 9.4.3.

Finally, a further limitation of the study was that whilst the quantitative results provided a snapshot of factors influencing self-care in the dataset analysed, further details around the context and children and parent's in-depth experiences with self-care are lacking.

6.11 Conclusion

The quantitative results of the secondary data analysed in this chapter showed strong evidence that children with developmental (particularly mobility and cognitive) difficulties are more likely to present with an increase of self-care difficulties over time as activity and environmental demands increase. It is therefore important to keep monitoring this area of performance in children with developmental difficulties over time in order to ensure that they do not fall behind at a later stage, and to ensure that

they get the support they need. Further, as in Chapter 4 mobility and social/cognitive skills emerged as key predictors for self-care in young children included in this secondary data analysis. In the next chapter, chapter 7, I discuss the findings from qualitative data collected from online parent forums on how the COVID-19 lockdown measures impacted on their children's self-care. The next chapter provides a real-life insight in how the numerical data discussed in this chapter can impact on children and their families.

Chapter 7: A qualitative investigation of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic lockdown restrictions on children's self-care as reported by their parents

In Chapters 1 to 3, I set out the real-world problem on which this research programme was based: children and young people with motor impairments are more restricted in participation in self-care than their peers without motor impairments. Whilst allied health professionals are well positioned to support self-care, they have limited evidence of factors influencing self-care in children and young people, and evidence-based intervention options from which to choose. Chapter 4 consists of a systematic evidence synthesis of on this topic and in Chapters 5 and 6 I presented quantitative data on children's self-care. In this chapter, I will present qualitative data from online parent forums on how the COVID-19 lockdown measures impacted on their children's self-care, and how this subsequently impacted on parents, and their relationships with their children.

7.1 Background

As this doctoral programme of research was carried out during the COVID-19 pandemic, it was important to consider the impact of this global event on children and young people's self-care. Early years of life are a period particularly sensitive to stress, with known negative impacts both on the health and wellbeing of children.²⁶² The global COVID-19 pandemic, and the associated lockdown measures have been a new, extreme stressor affecting most of the world population^{263, 264}, and little is known about how it impacted on children's participation in daily activities and their self-care independence. Therefore, I sought out the views of parents on this topic in two online parent forums, Mumsnet and Netmums.^{103, 265}

In recent years, there has been an increase in participation in online forums with the aim to seek health information and support by communication with others who have similar health issues.²⁶⁶ With the use of online health forums steadily increasing, greater efforts are being made to understand this mode of data collection for qualitative research. Online patient communities represent an important source of information, offering

access to hard-to-reach groups who are often excluded (or exclude themselves) from traditional research studies. This can include for example, participants with mobility problems, individuals based in rural areas and parents of young children who can respond to online forum posts at a time and place of their own convenience.²⁶⁷

Online forums allow users to engage in discussions and interact in a supportive way with other individuals facing similar challenges, through the medium of asynchronous written communication.²⁶⁸ Whilst forum postings and discussions for many forums can be viewed by every Internet user, members must register and log in to be able to post messages and participate in forum discussions. The ability to view such forums in the public domain provides researchers with a rich and valuable source of primary data about users' perspectives and experiences of a particular health issue related to themselves and/or their children. It also provides researchers with the opportunity of analysing discourses taking place within the online setting in relation to these topics.²⁶⁹ In addition to the above, awareness of what families discuss in online forums can provide health care professionals with valuable insight into the perspectives, expectations, and experiences of families who have concerns regarding their children's development and self-care.²⁶⁷

The setting for the use of online discussion forums in this study is the COVID-19 pandemic and the associated lockdown measures. The COVID-19 pandemic had a significant impact on the daily routines of parents across the world.²⁷⁰ In the UK where this study took place, schools and pre-schools closed for all children, except vulnerable children and the children of keyworkers from the 20th of March 2020 and school attendance only resumed in many parts of the UK in September 2020. Following this, schools were locked down again between January and late February 2021 in Scotland and Wales, and between January and March 2021 in England and Northern Ireland. For most UK parents this meant that they were responsible for caring and educating their children at home whilst also fulfilling other family and personal obligations, which included work and household tasks.²⁷⁰ It was suggested that caring and educating responsibilities were disproportionately carried out by woman during the pandemic as

they were more likely to lose their jobs or cut back their working hours. Further, they were also more likely to have their work interrupted by their children.^{270, 271}

7.2 Method

7.2.1 Data source and retrieval

I systematically explored online discussions by parent and carried out a qualitative analysis about the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic lockdown measures on children's self-care on two UK-based online discussion forums for mothers. The source of data was discussions on the Chat and Talk threads of two UK based online forums, Mumsnet and Netmums, between March 2020 and January 2021. These are moderated forums, with the scope of facilitating online communication between parents and caregivers, sharing information on any aspect of parenthood and children, and offering emotional support. Mumsnet states that their aim is to: " Make parents' lives easier by pooling knowledge, advice and support" whilst Netmums state that their aims are: " We're here to make parents feel heard, supported and entertained on every step of their parenting journey."

Within the selected forum, the search function was used to identify user-generated content relating to COVID-19 and children's self-care. Date restrictions were applied in the search and posts between 26 March 2020 and 31 January 2021 were collected. The start date coincided with the start of the first UK COVID-19 lockdown measures.

I searched for forum content using key search terms including "COVID," "corona," or "pandemic." The search identified articles, comments, and posts, which was then narrowed to posts. All posts were extracted in a deidentified format into a Word (Microsoft Corporation) document, which included the post title, date, and content. The inclusion criteria were posts related to children's self-care and the COVID-19 lockdown measures up until 30 January 2021 (inclusive). The exclusion criteria were posts that did not relate to self-care and the COVID-19 lockdown, and post that were duplicates (the original post was collected once).

The final data set includes responses by 69 participants. Whilst the dominant demographic for Mumsnet Talk and Netmums Chat are typically mothers, the

membership has broadened²⁷² and in this study one of the respondents identified himself as male on the thread. As posts on forums are anonymous, it is possible that other respondents could possibly be male, too, but there is no means of verifying these details without contacting individuals directly. Further, for the sake of the data analysis it was not required to know the sex of the parents. A couple of posters also indicated that they were grandparents. In this chapter, parents are referred to as parent 1,2,3 etc, to cover both mothers and fathers; however, for the purpose of data analysis, the assumption is that the majority of respondents were mothers posting about their own children.

7.2.2 Critical discourse analysis of parents' views of the impact of the COVID-19 lockdown restrictions on their children's self-care

Critical Discourse Analysis (CDA) is a particular method of qualitative analysis that focuses on the role of language in society and in political processes. The aim of this method is to reveal discourses buried in language used to maintain power and sustain existing social relations.²⁷³ CDA was deemed a relevant approach to analyse the qualitative data collected for this chapter as this method provides the opportunity to examine how social structures, such as identity and inequality manifest through language.²⁷⁴

The Discourse-Historical Approach (DHA)²⁷⁵, a method of CDA, was utilised to analyse the data collected on the topic of children's self-care on Mumsnet Talk and Netmums Chat threads. According to Reisigl²⁷⁵, this approach considers discourse analysis to be a multidimensional project incorporating theory and methodology rather than just a method of language analysis. Analysis using DHA follows a three-dimensional approach: 1) identifying the specific contents or topics for a specific discourse; 2) investigating discursive strategies, which includes referential and predicational strategies and 3) examining linguistic means (as tokens) and specific linguistic realisations related to a specific context (as tokens).^{275, 276} In the DHA, discourse is considered at micro, meso and macro levels.²⁷⁵ In this study micro level analysis considers the forum posts made by parents in the study, and macro-level analysis considers to the broader social context of parenting, and in particular, mothering during the lockdown. Meso analysis interprets

the discourse of the parents in the study in relation to the context identified in the macro-level analysis.

When using the DHA, there are five questions²⁷⁵ to consider when analysing a specific discourse, in this case, parent discussions on a public forum around the impact of the COVID-19 lockdown restrictions on their children's self-care.

- 1. Which linguistical terms are used to name and refer to persons, objects, phenomes/events, processes, and actions? This question assists in recognising the referential and predicational strategies utilised by study participants. In the text discussed in this chapter, this relates to nicknames given for individuals, for example, dd (darling daughter) or ds (darling son), and the way parents describe their children's self-care and experiences. When a parent describes their child as their 'darling daughter', 'daughter' is the referential and 'darling' is the predication that is attributed by the parent to the social actor, which in this case is the child.
- 2. What characteristics are assigned to the text's social actors, events, and processes? In this text, we can see different characteristics assigned to events relating to the lockdown experience and individual's experience of it. For example, one parent states that their child is "feeling lonely and insecure". Another parent states: "It really is a weird time for us all".
- What is the argument in the discourse of question? In the body of text analysed, we were particularly interested to see how the lockdown impacted on children's self-care.
- 4. From which perspective are individuals who are expressing their arguments coming from? In the body of the text analysed, the pandemic and the lockdown restrictions would have played a role in the perspective of Mumsnet and Netmum forum users.
- How are the utterances articulated, are they intensified or mitigated? Throughout the body of the text, a variation of tone was noted between different participants in the forums.

Ideally, DHA follows eight steps which are implemented recursively.²⁷⁵ The steps are discussed below.

- 1) Consulting preceding theoretical knowledge: Throughout the analysis process, research on the topic of using discourse analysis for social media and internet forums was consulted. There has been a particular increase in research interest around online media communication and interaction between mothers or on the topic of motherhood, now known as the unique of field of interdisciplinary study, 'motherhood online'.²⁷⁷ Whilst motherhood and practices of mothers have been the subject of scholarly interest in several disciplines over a long time, the role of digital media and social media in shaping identity and social practices in mothers is a more recent area of study.²⁷⁷ It has been stated that the evolution of new environments created through new digital technologies, has created the space for mothers to contest and redefine practices of motherhood; especially the stereotype of the 'natural mother.²⁷⁷ The ideology of intensive mothering²⁷⁸ which consists of the idea that mothers need to invest a great deal of personal resources in mothering has particularly been challenged in online forums for mothers.^{279, 280} In this doctoral research programme, the DHA was utilised to examine the practices of parents, including mothers, in the dataset, and their willingness to challenge this ideology by admitting their true experiences in relation to their children's self-care during the lockdown.
- 2) Collecting data and context information systematically: First, I entered the search terms referred to in section 7.2.1 within the dates specified. Links for threads that came up with the search terms were pasted manually into a word document along with the date accessed. Each thread was manually searched, and the content of relevant threads were then copied into a transcript into an offline, word format. This was important step in retaining the data for analysis, as it is possible for online forum users to go back and edit their posts.

Following this, the text was entered into NVivo 17 where analysis took place. Throughout the analysis process I considered the rationale, range and relevance of data collected. Along with information on children's self-care, the data set also

referred to parent's experiences of children's self-care and their associated feelings. Alongside the analysis of texts, I searched the literature to explore the use and contexts of parent discussion forums. Further, I explored the social and cultural fabrics in relation to the use of MumsNet and NetMums with specific focus on parent experiences and expectations.²⁷⁹⁻²⁸¹

- 3) The selection and preparation of data for specific analyses. This included selecting threads only relevant to children's self-care during as captured from the commencement of the COVID-19 lockdown restrictions up till the date referred to in section 7.2.1. To prepare the data for analyses, quotes were grouped in self-care categories toileting, dressing skills, and getting ready, and eating.
- 4) The specification of the research questions and the formulation of assumptions in the data based on reviewing the literature in this area, and skimming data available on this topic: This step was carried out concurrently with step number 2, the systematic collection of data and context information. The context information collected (macro level analysis) supported the assumptions made from posts made by parents in the study.
- 5) A qualitative pilot analysis of the data to test categories and first assumptions: Data analysis for this study consisted of a pilot analysis to investigate categories of self-care difficulties mentioned. From this pilot analysis, clear themes from contributors emerged which supported the use of DHA as a method of data analysis for this study.²⁷⁷
- 6) Detailing the range of qualitative and quantitative data: During this step, responses in relation to children's self-care were grouped together and the frequency of comments in relation to a theme or topic was also considered to inform the data analysis.
- 7) Formulating the critique of the data which includes the interpretation of the results and the context: As part of this step, I followed the three-layer model of
data thickening²⁸² used for thickening data (enhancing the depth of the data)²⁸³ in social media research:

a. Contextualisation:

This is a key step in setting the scene for any critical discourse discussion. The context of the discussion taking place on a public online forum and during a pandemic is crucial to understand the discussion that follows in the rest of this chapter. Participation in the forum suggests that parents were reaching out to other parents and perhaps felt that posting in forums was easier than reaching out to family members or friends for help or that participation in the forum was more convenient. A number of studies^{104, 284, 285} agree that women value parent forums for support and information and that the anonymity of the forums means that participants are not constrained by the norms expected from them in face-to-face contact. Another study suggested that parents of children with special needs also perceive less judgment online than in person when discussing their children's difficulties.²⁸⁶

It is also important to consider that many child health appointments and other standard appointments were cancelled during the pandemic and labelled as non- essential, therefore it is likely that many participants in the study would not have had the opportunity to present these questions or comments to a health care professional. According to these forums, social contact was also limited during the lockdown in the UK and parents would not have had the opportunity to participate in in-person support groups or take their children to play groups where they could have had these types of discussions with other parents.

Finally, one needs to consider the context of the two sites themselves. It is reported that the culture of Mumsnet is skewed towards middle-

to upper-middle-class, with users often well-educated and older mothers.²⁸⁷ In contrast, Netmums skews more towards the lowermiddle or working-class.²⁸⁸

b. Description of events:

This refers to the types of experience posters were reporting. A few parents reported that their children used to be independent with dressing and toileting pre pandemic, but by the time they were posting on forums during the pandemic, their children were no longer able to carry out these activities. Some posts appeared anxious in nature with parents expressing concerns over their children's development. Some parents posted:

"I'm just worried about his physical development" – Parent 50 (21st June 2020)

"I am starting to worry about him doing things independently when he starts school in Sept" – Parent 67 (27th May 2020)

c. Signification

In this step I looked at what the forum tells us about how parents were finding their children's self-care during the pandemic, and how this made them feel. It was clear from forum posts that the associated experience was impacted on parents' overall mental wellbeing.

"I'm really losing patience with this one" – Parent 11 (13th October 2020)

"I'm at the end of my rope with this particular daily battle. What do I do?!" - Parent 21 (20th May 2020)

"But now he will do nothing on his own and its driving me crazy" – Parent 67 (27th May 2020)

8) Application of the detailed analytical results: The final step of the DHA is sharing and applying the findings. A poster abstract based on the results of this study

was accepted for the European Academy of Childhood Disability Conference in Ljubljana in 2023. Beyond scientific conferences the aim is to make the results of this accessible to the general public post PhD to raise awareness of the impact of children's developmental difficulties on parents' mental health.

7.3 Ethical Considerations:

The data for this study consisted of posts openly available to the general public without registration or log in. Users on both Netmums Chat and Mumsnet Talk are informed in the terms of conditions of joining the sites that all posts they make, are in the public domain.

Prior to data collection, the administrators for both sites were contacted regarding the study and permission to use posts as the terms and conditions for both sites state that content posted on these sites are the intellectual property of Netmums and Mumsnet. Approval was obtained and it was agreed that the study would take the format of observational rather than a participatory approach. This means that the participants were not aware of the study as the author did not contact participants to ask them for permission to use their content. This study was agreed on the terms that the author should not interact with participants on the forum by asking them questions, and that the identity of participants should remain anonymous. For this reason, the online pseudonyms were removed from all quotes.

As with research carried out offline, it was important to consider the autonomy of forum participants. In this context autonomy refers to the concept that all individuals have the right to privacy and dignity, and where participants were unable to provide consents for their posts to be used, it is the duty of researchers to protect the personal information of internet users or disclose information of which their personal information can be inferred from.²⁸⁹ Whilst this method²⁹⁰ of secondary online content analysis, without researcher interaction and influence, is similar to the approach that researchers might take with other written texts it is important to avoid online searchability for participants.²⁹¹

Despite the steps and measures taken above, social media data analysis presents with unique ethical challenges that are discussed in more detail in the following section.

7.3.1 Ethical dilemmas of online research

The availability of vast amounts of data in the public domain have created new opportunities for social science researchers along with methodological and technical challenges.²⁹² Along with this, research generated from social media and online forums also present unique ethical challenges.²⁹²⁻²⁹⁴ Risk of harm, the use of private vs public data, informed consent and anonymity are four key areas to consider when conducting research online.²⁹⁴

When collecting data online, there is a risk that researchers may come across data on social media which could reveal activities that suggests that participants are at risk in real time.²⁹⁴ These activities could have ethical implications for researchers and their duty of care.²⁹⁵ In the data collected for this chapter, I did not come across any data which raised concerns or appeared to be harmful to others. Both Mumsnet and Netmums, where the data was collected from, indicate in their terms, conditions and guidelines that their forums are moderated and that they remove posts considered to be harmful or hateful to others.^{288, 296} Mumsnet also state that whilst they do not pass on any personal information of users as stated in their privacy policy, it might be necessary on rare occasions to contact relevant local authorities to safeguard the welfare of forum users or their families about a clearly identifiable member and their post.²⁹⁷

The second and third ethical dilemmas identified by researchers relates to the use of private vs public data and the need for informed consent from the social media users or forum users whose data is being analysed.²⁹⁴ This refers to social media and forum posts that are restricted by the user as opposed to posts that are in the public domain and can be found through an internet browser search without being a member of the social media application or forum. In the case of research carried out in closed social media groups where posts are restricted, direct consent from participants to analyse

and use their data is advised.²⁹⁸ The data collected for this chapter from Mumsnet and Netmums is in the public domain and can be read by both members and non-members of the forums. Members are also informed in the terms and conditions that any internet user can view their comments and that threads can be searched for by non-members.^{288,} ²⁹⁹ It is usual in this case not to contact individual forum participants for informed consent; only the data controllers which were Mumsnet and Netmums in this study.^{296,} ²⁹⁹ I followed this procedure and the instructions of Mumsnet and Netmums, which included only observing in forums and not contacting forum users in any way or eliciting data by commenting on posts.

The fourth ethical area of concern when conducting research in cyberspace is maintaining anonymity of participants.²⁹⁴ The concept of anonymity of research participants ideally refers to the non-traceability of participants based on the data presented about them.²⁹³ However, researchers^{293, 300} argue that anonymisation is a complex process. Changing names, including usernames on online forums, or disguising other details such as religion, profession or placenames are just the first steps in the more nuanced process of addressing identifying details from research participants.²⁹³ Some³⁰⁰ argue that anonymity should be viewed as a continuum along where researchers have to juggle the competing demands of maximising the protection of participants' identity against maintaining the integrity of the data obtained.

In the analysis and transcription of the data collected this data, I removed pseudonyms used by participants on Mumsnet and Netmums, and allocated participant numbers instead when including direct quotes. In studies where consent is obtained from participants, participants are usually informed about the risk of traceability from their direct quotes.³⁰¹ However, as I was not permitted to interact with participants in any form and I only obtained consent from the data controllers there was no opportunity to make participants aware of the fact that their quotes were being used for research purposes. In relation to the ethical aspects of using quotes from Mumsnet and Netmums in relation to anonymity, both sites advise users in their guidelines and policies^{302, 303} that their posts are visible to all internet users. Users are encouraged to use

pseudonyms and are reminded to be mindful of creating posts that could compromise their anonymity, especially in relation to sensitive topics.³⁰³

Nevertheless, it is recommended that the use of direct quotes should be carefully considered and should only be used in full if the benefits outweigh the risks.^{293, 301} For the quotes extracted in this chapter, only text that was relevant to the discourse analysis steps in section 7.2.2 were selected. In some instances that was a complete quote if relevant, and in other instances only part of the quote was selected. The date was included to give context with regards to the time within the lockdown period, i.e. how far into the lockdown the comments were made. Whilst the quotes can be traced back to the forums when entered in an internet search engine, posters generally used pseudonyms as encouraged by Mumsnet and Netmums.^{297, 302} Further posts were scrutinised to ensure that no placenames or other potentially identifying information was included in the direct quotations in this chapter.

All the quotes selected were integral to my analysis and for the reasons listed above I deemed the risk of exposing participants offline identities as minimal. Therefore, I made the decision to include the quotes in the analysis as seen in other papers^{270, 304} applying discourse analysis to data collected from forums in the public domain. If the quotes had been obtained from sources such as blogs or social media sites like LinkedIn or X (formerly Twitter) where participants' offline identity could easily be exposed further measures such as changing details such as sex or age would have been applied.²⁹³

7.4 Discourse Analysis Themes

Three key themes emerged from analysis of these posts on children's self-care: feelings, the role of online forums and need for social support, and self-care practices that work. (Figure 7.1). Discussion of each theme will identify key concerns of these forum users. This section will then explore the relationship between these concerns and the narrative of raising a child with disabilities or developmental delays.

7.4.1 Feelings

A significant recurring theme in the discussion threads from parents was the feeling of referring to being in a 'battle' with their child. The Oxford Dictionary³⁰⁵ defines 'battle' as "struggle tenaciously to achieve or resist something".

"No tips but my son is 3 in March abs he's started to do this lately, resist me taking his clothes off etc is is a battle" – Parent 9 (3rd January 2021)

"Has always dressed himself but it has been an ongoing battle over the last few months" – Parent 21 (20th May 2020)

"..but without fail, every morning it is a battle to get him dressed" – Parent 11 (13th October 2020)

"God we went through this. What a battle!" – Parent 20 (14th October 2020)

"..*I'm at the end of the rope with this particular daily battle. What do I do?!"* – Parent 21 (20th May 2020)

"Has always dressed himself but it has been an ongoing battle over the last few months" – Parent 21 (20th May 2020)

"Just refuse to engage. I wouldn't get into a battle" – Parent 23 (20th May 2020)

"To be honest, I just assist him to dress. I know he can do it, I'm sure when he's a little older he will want to do it himself, but I pick my battles" – Parent 24 (20th May 2020)

By using adverbs such as 'ongoing', 'every morning' etc, these parents persisted with these battles, possibly in the hope that they could facilitate a change in their child's ability to participate in daily self-care activities.

By expressions such as 'God we went through this', 'I'm at the end of my rope' or without fail' other parents indicated that they were exhausted by the experience and appeared to have reached a limit to be in a 'battle' with their child. The repetition of the word 'battle' provided me with the impression and sense that parents were in a power struggle with their children over aspects of parenting that they appeared to find challenging during the pandemic. In the case of the participants, this often related to children being unable or unwilling to participate in daily activities such as dressing or using the bathroom in the same way that they did before the COVID-19 pandemic. This power struggle appeared to exacerbate the stress that parents were already experiencing as a result of the pandemic.

During the period that data collection for this study took place (January 2021), Mumsnet released the findings of its own survey to find out how 1500 of its users experienced the pandemic. Of the 1500 respondents, 76% indicated that they felt that the pandemic had a negative impact on their mental health, and 79% indicated that they largely had the responsibility for home-schooling in their household.²⁸¹ To demonstrate the burdens placed on mothers (and parents in general) Mumsnet shared a graph indicating a significant increase in swearing at time points when the UK government announced a school closure.²⁸¹ This use of language was also observed in the data for this study.

"The only way to get my 2 year old into clothes is to put Blippi on YouTube...So I put Blippi on every.fucking.morning" – Parent 14 (13th October 2020)

"My son is 5 next month, he has been able to dress himself for well over a year. Still takes fucking ages and still 'forgets' certain items...when he's spending half an hour putting a sock on I go back to the living area and mentally scream my head off" – Parent 26 (20th May 2020)

These findings indicate that Mumsnet is a space where parents feel free to express their anger and frustrations, perhaps in ways (e.g. swearing) that are not acceptable to them in other contexts.²⁸¹

7.4.2 Role of online forums and need for social support

Following the theme of parents being in a 'battle' with their children and feeling fed up, another theme that emerged was the supporting role that the online forum played for parents during the COVID-19 lockdown restrictions. Solidarity, defined by the Oxford Dictionary³⁰⁵ as "unity or agreement of feeling or action, especially among individuals with a common interest; mutual support within a group", came through strongly on the forum posts.

"I don't know what to suggest for your son, sorry, as my son is younger. But I can relate that I think even young children pick up on stress and change and sometimes this comes out in behaviours we aren't expecting. Hope things improve soon x'' – Parent 2 (23rd April 2020)

"Lockdown has been pretty tough on the little ones, i think maybe cut them some slack, the odd day of pyjamas isn't going to do any harm" – Parent 22 (20th May 2020)

"It's so hard but it won't be forever. You're not alone in this x" – Parent 4 (30th April 2020).

Many parents also shared their experiences to provide reassurance to others.

"Yes regression is normal when stressful or things change for children. My dd [darling daughter] who is 3.5 we have had her wetting herself on / off during this & same for some of her nursery friends" – Parent 6 (30th April 2020).

"We have this issue..." – Parent 17 (13th October 2020)

Besides parents providing reassurance for others, some were also actively looking for reassurance and expressing gratefulness for help from others.

"Sorry if this is not in the correct place but just looking for some advice if I can... Anyone else finding their children seem stressed with the lockdown in place I know children will all react differently." - Parent 1 (23rd April 2020)

"Keen to hear from anyone's experiences and learnings. Thanks so much" – Parent 8 (3rd January 2021)

"Thanks soooo much for these ideas! I'm really grateful for the help." – Parent 11 (13th October 2020)

"This has been very helpful for me" – Parent 19 (13th October 2020)

"Some very helpful advice, thanks everyone." – Parent 21 (20th May 2020)

"Thank you everyone, Thanks" – Parent 50 (21st June 2020)

Other researchers have reported many benefits of online support for mothers.³⁰⁶ Online networks provide mothers, and parents in general, with the opportunity to look for others who share the same life experiences and a community who are willing to listen to

complaints and frustrations, offer sympathy, and practical parenting advice. For some parents, the anonymity of online interactions without the fear of being judged might be preferable. Further, anonymous online interactions provide individuals with more freedom to post or not to respond without feeling guilty. Overall, support in online forums offers the opportunity to increase mothers' sense of empowerment in their parenting roles.³⁰⁷

7.4.3 Self-care practices that work

Another theme that emerged from the data was parents sharing advice and tips for what worked well for them and their children.

"Timers are good I had egg timers for one of mine she was such a faffer and needed the motivation to concentrate on" – Parent 68 (27th May 2020)

"On getting dressed by himself, I have been using a combination of reverse psychology (so putting his clothes out and acting all surprised when he appears dressing/asking if he had some help etc." – Parent 69 (27th May 2020)

"You could try letting your DC [Darling Child] pick out their outfit. Or give a choice of two if they're likely to pick something completely unsuitable. Then try a reward chart. But start small and manageable eg they put their own socks on and build it up." – Parent 13 (13 October 2020)

"The only way to get my 2 year old into clothes is to put Blippi on YouTube. No amount of encouragement, cajoling, bribery will work for him. I've held him down and put his leggings on before- he just takes them right back off. So I put Blippi on every. fucking. morning. I know all his "songs"." – Parent 14 (13 October 2020).

Sharing resources and techniques are not unique to this study, and in another similar study, over 50% of the threads had a theme of providing advice and information to others.¹⁰⁴ Other research²⁶⁵ has indicated that sharing advice is an important motivating factor and source of satisfaction for parents participating in online forums. In a 2009 survey of Mumsnet users, 76% of respondents indicated that they derived satisfaction by providing advice to others.²⁶⁵ For other parents, this provides them with the opportunity to have their experience and expertise validated by other parents, and for some, this fulfils a need to act out their role as caregivers even when not providing care to their own children.²⁶⁵ For parents of children with special needs, it is also common practice to share advice with each other online.²⁸⁶ This is attributed to the information

and support needed for this population to be complex and presenting with unique challenges not commonly experienced by parents of typically developing children.²⁸⁶

It was noticeable that whilst parents were giving practical tips and advice to others, the topic of getting support from a healthcare professional was rarely mentioned. Only one parent mentioned an occupational therapy assessment and asked whether a child had been assessed for dyspraxia.

7.5 Self-care difficulties

Two key areas of self-care difficulties emerged from the posts in the online forums: toileting and dressing/getting ready. In addition, one parent posted that they had concerns with their child's ability to feed themselves. Toileting and dressing skills are discussed in more detail below.

7.5.1 Toileting

Several posters reported that there was a regression in their child's ability to use the toilet and an increase in children wetting and soiling themselves both during the day and at night.

"So my 4 year old has been dry through the night for over a year now and the past 2 weeks he has been wetting the bed pretty much every night!..is it normal for children to go back to a stage of wetting the bed?" – Parent 1 (23rd April 2020)

"My 4 year old DD [darling daughter] has had a few changes since lockdown. She has had a few nightmares, wed during the day on several occasions..." – Parent 4 (30th April 2020)

"My sons 3 4 in june hes been potty trained over a year. Since all this started hes been wetting and pooping him self daily." – Parent 5 (30th April 2020)

"...my DD [darling daughter] who is 3.5 we have had her wetting herself on/off during this & the same for some of her nursery friends" – Parent 6 (2nd May 2020)

It is reported that involuntary urination, also known as enuresis, usually occurs in children as a symptom of psychological stress.³⁰⁸ However, regardless of the cause this regression in children's toileting has impacted on some families' ability to participate in daily activities.

"I think it is having a negative effect on children, my 2.5yo dd was completely potty trained for 4 months, has now gone back to being worse than she was before she started potty training, weeing everywhere, even in the trolley at asda the other day! Its driving me mad I feel like putting her back in nappies until this is all over and starting from scratch." – Parent 7 (2nd May 2020)

"My 4 yo DS [Darling Son] (only child) is very able and can be pretty independent when he wants. During lockdown he has had either my or my husband's attention as we are both wfh [working from home] but in shifts to deal with childcare, but now he will do nothing on his own and its driving me crazy! He used to take himself to the toilet and now he asks for help before he goes every time." – Parent 67 (27th May 2020)

Some of the stressors during the pandemic that could have impacted on children's psychological wellbeing include fear of infection and lack of information, frustration and boredom, lack of contact with family and friends, as well as family difficulties.³⁰⁹

7.5.2 Dressing

Challenges with dressing was another one of the key concerns raised by parents and the most frequently mentioned. From the data provide two themes emerged: 1) children who had difficulties with dressing themselves, and 2) children who refused to get dressed or changed during the pandemic.

"My son is 5 next month, he has been able to dress himself for well over a year. Still takes fucking ages and still sometimes 'forgets' certain items' or " Daddy I can't reach my feet."" – Parent 26 (20th May 2020)

"Hi all, my son has begun to massively resist clothes changes. I've been wondering about what's wrong in our routine but it's dawned on me tonight that perhaps the issue lies in his lack of independence with this activity" – Parent 8 (3rd January 2021)

The posts above suggest that self-care was already an area of difficulty, pre-pandemic, for the children discussed. However, as many children's health services came to a standstill in March 2020³¹⁰, with staff being redeployed in Covid wards, it is likely that there was reduced support for children and parents. This could have potentially impacted on some children's ability to get the help they need to improve self-care at the start of the pandemic. Further, whilst many child health services moved on to provide telehealth services during the pandemic, challenges in using telehealth in diagnosing and providing care for children have been identified. These include missing out on nuances

of children's responses, not getting a complete sense of parental emotional states, as well as interruptions due to technical difficulties.³¹¹

Other parents noted a deterioration in their children's ability to dress themselves during the lockdown period.

"Every day is the same pantomime- repeated requests to get dressed followed by tantrum, sometimes shouting (both them and I). They are physically capable but act like they aren't. Dressed self from around 2 and suddenly struggles with socks in particular."- Parent 21 (20th May 2020)

"My DS [Darling Son] is 5 next month. Perfectly physically capable of getting himself fully dressed and we had a routine pre lockdown. Nowadays it takes him forever to get dressed as we have nowhere to be and I just roll with it, although it does drive me mad" – Parent 47 (20th May 2020)

"Just before this could dress herself quite easily and even put her own coat on but now almost a year later I usually end up dressing her myself coz otherwise we'd never get anywhere lol and she still insists that she can't get her tops off although I'm sure she must have the skill." – Parent 10 (3rd January 2021)

Currently, there are no other studies that specifically focused on children's self-care deteriorating during the pandemic. However, a systematic review³¹² investigating the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on child growth and development more broadly found that, for both parents and children, the balance of daily activities was altered during the lockdown period and that there was an increase in mental health difficulties. Several parents posted that their children were refusing to get dressed since the start of the pandemic, which is referred to in one study as a common symptom of psychological distress in younger children.³¹³

"I feel ridiculous saying this - I'm 36, he's 2. Every morning I have to almost physically restrain him to get his clothes on. Is this normal?" – Parent 11 (13th October 2020)

"My 4yo can dress herself but also often refuses when it's to order, ie morning and bedtime." – Parent 37 (20th May 2020)

The same parent goes on to say that they think the lockdown has contributed to this. *'It is just a comfort thing made worse by the lockdown I think"* – Parent 37 (20th May 2020)

The main findings from sections 7.4 and 7.5 are summarised in Figure 7.1 below.





7.6 Discussion

In this chapter, I explored the question of how the COVID-19 pandemic impacted on children's self-care drawing on online posts by parents about the self-care difficulties that children presented with during the lockdown. In this doctoral programme of research, along with new evidence about the self-care difficulties that children presented with during the lockdown, three themes emerged from parents' posts: 1) feelings of parents; 2) the use of online forums as support; and 3) self-care practices that work, including the practice of giving advice or tips to others.

Posts from parents suggest that they welcomed having an online space to share concerns and provide each other with reassurance regarding their children's development and ability to participate in daily activities. Considering the impact of the pandemic and lockdown on parental mental health and changes to support systems, it appears that online parent forums have a valuable contribution to make in terms of providing parents with a place of support. This study also demonstrated the level of support needed by parents of children with developmental difficulties. The COVID-19 pandemic was a global emergency, which led to unprecedented public health policy changes and behavioural adherence to limit viral spread. This vital public health response also came at a significant health, societal, and economic cost. It has been shown to have a profound effect on well-being and mental health for both adults and children.^{309, 314} In a UK study, five themes were identified that affected parental mental health and well-being during the pandemic: 1) navigation of multiple responsibilities and change inside the home; 2) disruption to home life; 3) changes to usuals support networks; 4) changes in personal relationships; and 5) use of coping strategies.³¹⁴ From the data I collected, I observed that children's self-care difficulties also impacted on the stress levels and wellbeing of parents.

During childhood, children have specific developmental needs and are vulnerable to factors influencing their development, and health and well-being.^{62, 63} In this study, the impact of the lockdown on children's self-care in relation to toileting and dressing was observed. This adds to the body of knowledge of the impact of the pandemic and lockdown measures on children's health and development.

In summary, understanding the unique needs of children and parents, and the developmental impact, because of the COVID-19 lockdown measures is critical in informing healthcare interventions for the well-being of children and their families. This is also a useful point for healthcare professionals to consider for similar situations in the future, such as future pandemics. Alongside considering the health and development of children, it is vital that parental stress and mental health are taken into account.

7.7 Strengths and limitations

A limitation of online forums is the natural selection of specific participants who have access to and can use the Internet.²⁶⁷ Internet forum users in particular, tend to be highly educated, predominantly white, and younger participants.²⁶⁷ In particular, it has been shown that Mumsnet users tend to be well educated, and in a 2009 Mumsnet Survey, 74% of respondents indicated a household income above the UK average.²⁶⁵ Therefore, the sample in this study is not representative of the average UK family. Furthermore, compared with simple Internet survey questionnaires, online forums

require more advanced IT skills because online forums usually require the users to register and log in using usernames and passwords.³¹⁵

A further limitation was that anonymised data were analysed and, therefore, no information about demographical information about the user could be obtained that may have influenced the user's engagement with the forum; and their perception and reaction to the impact of the COVID-19 lockdown measures on their child's development. In addition, with this method of data collection, it is not possible to confirm that all posts were true and accurate. Although forum users are required to enter details of their child's date of birth to become a forum member, there is no guarantee that the information entered is accurate.³¹⁶

Additionally, the real-world implications of users' online posts are unclear, and detrimental effects may have been exaggerated in the absence of sufficient data pertaining to real-world behaviour. For example, parents may use forums when they feel frustrated with their child's behaviour or in need of advice to address these behaviours. In turn, they may stop posting when they have no concerns or their child presents with positive behaviours, which may lead to bias where negative behaviours and parenting challenges are overrepresented.³¹⁶ A further limitation is the lack of non-verbal cues that would have enhanced data provided in face-to-face interviews.³¹⁷

In contrast, a strength of the study was that this online study had the ability to include research participants who are commonly excluded from research activity, for example parents of young children, disabled parents and parents living in rural settings. Further, in online forums participants are more likely to respond at a time of their own convenience than wait for a turn which could give parents who are more reserved in face-to-face interactions an opportunity to have their voice heard online.²⁶⁷ Others report that forum discussion can be considered more naturalistic as the researcher, as an observer, has no influence on the topic being discussed or the interaction between forum users.³¹⁶

Another strength of this study was that the anonymity of the forums provided participants with the opportunity to be more open about the experiences of themselves and their children during the lockdown.²⁶⁹ Contribution in forums also typically provoke more content and more detailed responses as participants have more time to think and to respond in an online forum than in a face-to-face group.²⁶⁹

General benefits of the methodology utilised in this study was that the study was relatively quick to carry out as there was no need to recruit participants, conduct interviews or surveys, and transcribe the data. Public forums also archive messages under headings for the benefit of forum users to easily find topics that they are searching for. This in turn makes it easy for researchers to find forum and messages related to a specific research topic.³¹⁶

7.8 Implications for research and practice

This study shows that the COVID-19 Pandemic lockdown measures have impacted on children's health and wellbeing in many ways, including their development. Whilst restriction measures were implemented to safeguard the public to exposure of the virus the lockdown measures in themselves increased the risk of developmental difficulties for some children.^{309, 312} Further research is needed to see the extent of how the pandemic affected children's participation in daily activities across other spheres.

It is anticipated from the study results that there might be an increased number of parents and carers might pick up on concerns related to their child's participation in selfcare now that public health restrictions are lifted, and children's participation in activities outside their homes has increased. Healthcare professionals need to be aware of this, and the possibility that a number of children with developmental difficulties "have fallen through the net" during this period. Difficulties with self-care that have not been addressed during this time can impact on children's overall participation in activities and school readiness.

The study results also demonstrate that a number of parents found an internet discussion group a useful place to reach out for support and to support others in a similar position. The value of an anonymous space for parents to share experiences and support without fear of being judged should be further investigated in health research.

7.9 Conclusion

The results from this chapter demonstrate that for some children, early self-care development has been uniquely impacted by the lockdown measures as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. The lack of social support appears to have exacerbated the risk of difficulties in self-care. These findings suggest the need for targeted and accessible support to meet the unique needs of this cohort of children affected by the COVID-19 pandemic lockdown restrictions. Further, it was observed that a number of parents had strong feelings about their children's self-care during the lockdown and sought support on parent forums to address their concerns. In the next chapter, chapter 8, I discuss teachers' perceptions of children's self-care difficulties in school following the pandemic.

Chapter 8: Self-care at UK schools following the COVID-19 pandemic

In Chapters 4,5,6 and 7, a systematic evidence synthesis, two quantitative studies, and one qualitative study looking at children's self-care, factors influencing their self-care, and the impact on their parents were discussed. In this chapter, I will discuss findings related to self-care at school and the educational implications following YouGov reports^{41, 106} on school readiness published in November 2021 and 2022. I investigated the impact of children's self-care difficulties on their participation in school, including the impact on teachers and other pupils. My aim was to demonstrate the impact on children, teachers, and the wider society when self-care is a challenge for young children and to outline why addressing participation in self-care in young children should be a priority for professionals involved in early intervention.

8.1 Background

Following the parental discourse analysis discussed in the previous chapter, Chapter 7, on how the pandemic and lockdown restrictions impacted children's self-care, I also deemed it important to investigate teachers' perspectives on this topic. Particularly as some parents who participated in the qualitative study discussed in Chapter 7 expressed concern about how their children will manage independently in school after the lockdown. In Chapter 1, I also referred to the importance of being independent in selfcare to participate in age-appropriate activities in the school environment.

Parents expressed how the pandemic impacted on children's ability in key schoolreadiness tasks (e.g. getting dressed and using the toilet). Therefore, I decided that it would be useful to gain the perspectives of reception teachers in England on how children in reception presented in relation to their ability to participate in self-care tasks after the pandemic. Particularly in comparison to cohorts of children who entered reception prior to the pandemic, as this perspective was missing from the findings so far.

I initially intended to carry out a focus group with reception teachers on the topic of children's self-care but failed to recruit participants for this stream of research. I have reflected on the reasons for this in Chapter 9 in Section 9.4.4.

Based on the findings from Chapter 7, I drafted questions for teachers (Appendix D) and requested ethics permission from Newcastle University to carry out a focus group with reception teachers. Questions related to observations of children's self-care in the school environment and comparisons of children in their first year of formal schooling's self-care before and after the pandemic. Following the ethics approval, I designed a flyer (Appendix E) to circulate to teachers and circulated this amongst teachers in the North-East of England. After initially expressing an interest in participating in the study, there were no responses from the teachers who were approached by email regarding the focus group. Following this, I discussed the possibility of providing a financial incentive in the form of vouchers for classroom supplies to study participants with the supervisory team. I then approached the SENCO of a primary school based in South London with the details of the financial incentive, who again thought this was a worthwhile study after explaining the study aims to her. Unfortunately, there was no uptake from the reception teachers in her school following the details being shared with them and therefore, a decision was made not to continue with the focus group.

Recruiting participants for qualitative research can be challenging.³¹⁸ One of the systemic barriers is potential participants being reluctant to enrol and participate in research they consider as time-consuming and burdensome.³¹⁸ Even more so if they perceive the research to be exploring sensitive topics.³¹⁸ Barriers specific to recruiting teachers for research include their availability and the willingness of the school's headteacher to allow them to participate. In the case of my study, a practical obstacle was classroom cover when the teachers were participating in the focus group. On the other hand, participating in the research when children were not around would have impacted on their own free time. Other barriers include school demands such as reports and school events when participation in research may not be a priority for teachers. This can result in emails sent to teachers being overlooked and teachers failing to get in contact with researchers.³¹⁹

I therefore decided not to approach any other schools as the data collection period would have coincided with teacher strikes³²⁰ in the UK, and other end-of-year activities. Instead, I carried out a document analysis (quantitative and qualitative) of recent UK government reports and other relevant reports and studies on children's self-care and school readiness. I discuss the method for this in the section below.

8.2 Method

In this descriptive document analysis³²¹, I defined the problem as the impact of self-care difficulties on children's participation in school. My objectives were to find out how children's self-care difficulties impacted on them and others in the school environment, and to see if there were any differences in children's self-care in school before and after the COVID-19 pandemic. The analysis drew on UK government school readiness reports published just after (2021 and 2022) the COVID-19 pandemic, and it focused on teachers' perspectives on children's self-care after the COVID-19 pandemic and lockdown restrictions.

For this document analysis, I followed the READ³²² approach. This approach consists of four steps. The first step is 'ready the materials'³²² which refers to the process of setting parameters around the number of documents to analyse and the type of information one plans to extract from them. I searched online for relevant teacher or education reports using the search term 'UK government school readiness survey'. This search term was used as school readiness in the UK refers to being ready from a developmental perspective, not just academic attainment. ³²² I chose the search term survey as I was specifically looking for survey results whilst UK government restricted the search to schools in the UK.

Through using the Google search tool, I came across the Kindred Square School Readiness surveys^{41, 106} and upon further online inspection, I observed that these survey results were also referred to by other publishers and news agencies. I used this to conclude that the Kindred Square surveys are reliable surveys on this topic. As the Kindred Squared School Readiness surveys were carried out in 2021 and 2022 after

being introduced in 2021, I analysed the reports from these two years. To learn more about self-care and school readiness pre-pandemic, my search brought up a Department of Education report³²³ which was the closest match to the surveys that I analysed from 2021 and 2022.

The second step in this approach is to extract the relevant data. I focused on quantitative and qualitative data related to children's self-care. The reports^{41, 106} that I extracted the data form included questions on toilet training, eating independently and drinking from a cup without a lid as part of the school readiness survey. I extracted the numerical data from responses to these questions, along with qualitative feedback from study participants related to these questions. From Department of Education reports^{323, 324} I extracted numerical data on level of development, which included health and self-care. Numerical data for all reports comprised of percentages of children with difficulties in the areas discussed above, and these percentages were extracted to Excel.

The third step is to analyse the data. In my analysis I asked questions related to the individual documents and the overall body of documents suggested by the authors of the READ³²² method. The method uses analysis at a level of key concepts which include the following: the purpose and audience of the documents; the contributors or authors of the reports; the credibility of the reports; the agenda of the reports; sources of evidence cited; the voices represented in the documents; and the issues identified. Where questions were identical, I compared quantitative data (raw data consisting of percentages included in the reports) for different periods of time for the survey questions identified in the data extraction whereas in my qualitative analysis I considered the impact of children's self-care on respondents in the reports. I used a mixed method content analysis approach³²⁵ to analyse the data from the documents.

The fourth and final step of the READ method is to distil the data, which refers to the refining of the data obtained.³²² In line with my research objective, to identify the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic restrictions on children's self-care and parents I focused on children's self-care at school post the COVID-19 pandemic. Following the mixed method content analysis³²⁵ in the previous step, I identified three key themes

from the findings. To support my findings, I used a triangulation approach³²⁶ to refer to other research findings in this Thesis and other recent literature on the topic. The findings from the analysis following the refining process are discussed in the section below.

8.3 Analysis findings

I identified three themes based on the qualitative and quantitative findings from my content analysis. These were as follows: 1) The overall impact of children not being independent with self-care at school; 2) Self-care and school readiness following the COVID-19 pandemic; 3) What needs to be done to support self-care in young children?

8.3.1 The impact of children not being independent with self-care at school

The first theme that I identified from the reports was the significant impact that children's self-care difficulties had on themselves, other learners, and school staff. Teachers reported that the behaviours and needs of children who are not independent in self-care and ready for school significantly impacted on other pupils in the classroom as they lost out on teacher time and attention. As a result, children's learning was also affected as, in some cases, helping children with self-care detracted from teachers' time to teach and support academic learning.^{41, 106} Teachers who participated in the focus groups of the study carried out by Kindred Squared⁴¹ reported that the quality of whole class teaching and learning has been impacted on recently because of so many children being behind in their development, and not being able to carry out personal care tasks. Direct quotes from teachers who participated in the 2022 survey⁴¹ demonstrate the impact of this on all children and staff.

"Teachers often can't get down to the 'meat and potatoes' of teaching the curriculum because they're doing things like changing wet children, dealing with emotional outbreaks etc. Many of our Reception staff, especially this autumn term, have missed out on their lunches and thus their prep time due to supporting children who can't feed themselves." - Teacher, West Midlands.

"You try to not let it impact [the children] too much, but they are having learning time taken away whilst adults deal with behaviour/toileting etc." - Teacher, East Midlands

Teachers who participated in the 2021 Kindred Squared report¹⁰⁶ observed similar challenges with self-care along with the impact that it had on all individuals in the classroom, and school. Their quotes¹⁰⁶ demonstrate toileting as a particular area of concern.

"Some children who aren't fully toilet trained are having to change their clothes 2 or 3 times a day - that's a lot of time out of class, and other children start to notice as well" - Teacher, East of England

"Children that aren't ready toilet-wise, that takes up a lot of time, if they can't do their buttons themselves, or their trousers up"- Teacher, Scotland

Further, participants of the recent YouGov study⁴¹ reported that limited school readiness and challenges have a significant impact on schools and staffing. As a result of these difficulties, participants reported that schools need higher levels of staffing to be able to support children to focus on basic self-care tasks, such as toileting and dressing. In some cases, other members of staff, including admin support staff, were asked to help with children who needed support with self-care, which in turn left another department of the school unattended.⁴¹

However, many of the respondents of the survey⁴¹ who were headteachers and senior leaders in education reported that increasing staffing levels is not a realistic or doable option for most primary schools, particularly government-funded state schools. There are already significant financial constraints in the teaching sector which limits schools' ability to employ extra staff to support children with self-care. This has caused a significant amount of stress in schools, as can be seen in the following quotes.

"Staff in our school are being pushed to their limit at the moment. Lots of children not toilet trained means two members of staff are having to be released from classes to change a child each time they have an accident." - Teacher, West Midlands.

"You are just forever playing catch up, so you are starting behind ... we're in a huge deficit budget and we have got nowhere near enough staff to be able to catch the children up." - Assistant Headteacher, East Midlands A respondent from the 2021 survey¹⁰⁶ reported the same which shows the impact of children not being independent in self-care on school staffing in the whole school.

"A couple are not toilet trained – does draw on teachers' time. I have to help! I go in and help clean up a child. Secretary may help. It is not ideal. It's expensive time – me cleaning up etc."-Teacher, East of England

Besides staffing levels, teachers who participated in the survey⁴¹ also indicated that they estimated that the average financial cost to their school for the additional time spent supporting children, who were not school ready, was £21,652. This was an increase from the estimated £17,784 in 2021.¹⁰⁶ Furthermore, senior school leaders costed this at £23,403, which was higher than estimated and an amount that is equivalent to a full-time staff member's salary. Based on the survey results, it is estimated that the cost of children not being school ready equates to approximately £450 million per year in the UK.

Headteachers have expressed concern that the financial resources to support children with difficulties with self-care and school readiness are lacking and are worried that they are not able to provide children with the support they need in order to progress.^{41, 106} One headteacher stated:

"Adults are the most valuable but most expensive resource in schools and this is essential to support these children as effectively as we can. We simply do not have the finances to meet these needs and I feel we are failing a number of children because of these limitations." - Headteacher, South of England

It is clear from the statements above that there are significant cost implications, along with other detrimental impacts on staffing and children's learning, if children are not supported with self-care at an earlier stage of their development. Children who are independent with self-care at reception age will be able to participate in the activities expected for their age group and better able to focus on their learning. If children are supported with self-care before they start formal schooling from their reception year and require less support from staff and financial resources from school, there will also be more resources available to support all children in other areas of their development.

As mentioned in Chapter 1, self-care has been identified as a priority area of improvement by children, families and commissioners, and difficulty with self-care is also one of the biggest reasons for children in primary schools to be referred to children's occupational therapy services in the UK. There is a significant waiting list for children with developmental difficulties to be seen for therapy appointments, and in some cases, children are waiting up to two years to be seen for a therapy appointment.³²⁷ This highlights the further need to support children's participation in self-care before it gets to the stage where they are waiting for therapy assessments and intervention, and their challenges with self-care disrupt their education and social development.

8.3.2 Self-care and school readiness following the COVID-19 pandemic

The second theme that emerged from my analysis was the impact of the pandemic on children's self-care as observed by teachers. In the recent YouGov school readiness survey⁴¹, reception teachers indicated that they expected children to be "sufficiently independent, able to use the toilet, dress and feed themselves and to be separate from parents". In this 2022 school readiness report⁴¹, teachers reported that they had observed an increase in the number of children who are not independent in self-care activities. Of the teachers who participated in the survey, 91% of participants reported that they had at least one child in their class who was not toilet trained, and 89% of participants indicated that they had at least one child in their class who was not able to eat independently. This was a one percent increase in both areas of self-care from the 2021 report¹⁰⁶, where 90% of teachers indicated that at least one child in their class was not toilet trained, and 88% of teachers indicated that at least one child in their class was unable to eat independently.

The Kindred Squared school readiness reports^{41, 106} were only launched in 2021, and therefore, there is no exact match to compare these results with before the pandemic. However, a 2019 Department of Education report³²³ found that in England, based on the Early Years foundation stage profile, that 71.8% of children nationally achieved what is described as a 'good level of development'. In the most recent report³²⁴ completed in

2022, the number of children with a 'good level of development' decreased to 65.2%. Unfortunately, these reports did not refer to specific self-care tasks like the Kindred Squared reports, but instead referred to general health and self-care needed for school readiness. Based on comparing statistics from these reports for before and after the pandemic I was able to draw conclusions on how children's general levels of self-care and school readiness decreased from before the pandemic.

In line with these findings, two studies included in the systematic evidence synthesis in Chapter 4, found that the pandemic had a detrimental impact on children's self-care. In Chapter 7, I also saw that parents expressed their concern that their children were not going to manage with carrying out self-care activities independently in the school environment once they started in reception after the lockdown. Further, In the YouGov survey⁴¹ carried out in 2022, both parents and teachers indicated that they thought that the COVID-19 pandemic played a significant role in the deterioration of children's school readiness for starting reception in a mainstream school.

Another UK study³²⁸ explored the implications of the COVID-19 restrictions on the transition from Early Years Education to Key Stage 1 for children with special educational needs and disability. The study³²⁸ also found that professionals observed significant disruptions and delays in children's self-care and independence skills and in adhering to behavioural expectations, in comparison to children in previous academic years. Usually, the potentially complex needs of children with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND) are considered by schools within their planning and provision, and it was speculated by the authors of the study that the COVID-19 pandemic interrupted this process. As teachers did not have the opportunity to support SEND children with this transition process due to the pandemic, it is likely that many of the behavioural difficulties, typically a sign of anxiety in SEND children, can be attributed to this change in transition preparation necessitated by the lockdown restrictions.³²⁸

Further, in a "Children's access to occupational therapy" survey carried out by the Royal College of Occupational Therapists (RCOT) in the UK in 2022³²⁹, 85% of respondents reported that there has been an 85% increase in the demand for OT since July 2021. Of

these respondents, 52% indicated an increase in the number of younger children referred for OT assessments due missed early developmental opportunities during the COVID-19 pandemic. This survey³²⁹ included valid responses from 339 children's occupational therapists working in the NHS, charity settings, and independent practices across the UK. The survey and report do not specifically imply that children were referred to OT due to challenges with self-care, however it does show that there is a significant increase in the demand for OT assessments and interventions following the COVID-19 pandemic. This correlates with parents' and teachers' views that the pandemic and circumstances related to it impacted on children's overall development.

8.3.3 What needs to be done to support self-care in young children?

The third theme that emerged from the data analysis was the identification of actions and guidance required to support children to participate in self-care. This includes education and awareness. A significant finding in the 2022 YouGov report⁴¹ was the discrepancy between parent's and teacher's perception on what self-care activities were essential for participation in school. Teachers believed that they have observed a decrease in parents' understanding of what activities form part of school readiness and attributed this to a reduction of government funding in early years education and support.

A key concern was that many parents⁴¹ (44% of respondents from the YouGov survey) stated that they were unaware of the developmental milestones their children needed to reach before starting reception. This is much too late for parents to be able to seek appropriate guidance and support to their child for their entry into reception. In fact, several interviewees stated that it would be most helpful for parents to learn about the expected milestones in self-care their children needed to achieve when their children were infants. As there was a significant reduction in health visitor support, and many children were not able to attend a nursery during the COVID-19 pandemic, it can be inferred that there will be a further decrease in parents' understanding of school readiness in the future.

Staff in education also feel the need for guidance on self-care independence and school readiness to be distributed at a national level with one head teacher stating⁴¹:

"At the national level, there just could be better information for new parents about what will really help children in those first few years. Just a few key things that become very common knowledge." - Headteacher, South of England

Other teachers stated⁴¹:

"I think there should definitely be more support and guidance out there for what is expected of parents. Some parents choose not to do things for an easy life and leave certain areas for teachers to tackle, whereas other parents genuinely don't know what is expected." – Teacher, West Midlands

"I really don't think parents have any idea [of the developmental milestones expected by Reception]. There is so little given to them before they start school, the most in-depth information is around the two-year developmental check but then there's a huge gap between that and starting school." – Senior teacher, West Midlands

These perspectives align with my views that it will be useful to have self-care milestones detailed in a central place (i.e., the NHS red book) where parents can tick off self-care milestones alongside other developmental milestones. This might also contribute to health visitor, including questions related to nursery and pre-school, check-ups.

Some teachers also felt, that along with some parents being unclear about children's expectations, there was a mismatch between whom teachers and parents considered being responsible for teaching children self-care. One teacher stated⁴¹:

"Parents need to know what the priorities are for children at school and realise that parenting is not a teacher's job. There needs to be a distinction between what parents should teach their children and what teachers are there to teach.'" – Teacher, East Midlands

Another teacher illustrated how some parents do not consider that it is their role to support their children with self-care and highlighted the need for clearer guidance for parents.⁴¹

"It is parents' responsibility, but I think there are a lot of parents in our school who don't realise they are doing far too much for their children. If they had clear advice, I think a lot of parents would take this on board." - Teacher, South of England A qualitative study³³⁰ which explored the understanding of parents' and teachers' perspectives on motor skills related to self-care skills, also found that many parents demonstrated a limited understanding of their children's needs and developments in relation to self-care. There was also evidence to show that nursery or pre-school teachers had limited knowledge of motor skills in young children and how this related to their self-care ability in nursery or preschool settings.

From that qualitative study³³⁰, five main themes emerged in relation to children's selfcare: 1) a lack of knowledge; 2) time constraints; 3) child factors; 4) the need for guidance; and 5) non-standardised guidance.³³⁰ A lack of knowledge referred to parents' understanding of their child's development and needs and teacher's knowledge of developmental motor milestones and how this relates to participation in self-care in young children. Time constraints referred to working parents and the barrier that working life presented with in relation to monitoring their children's self-care. Child factors related to children's varying needs and attitudes and how some children responded better to certain adults when learning self-care tasks.

In relation to the need for guidance, teachers who participated in the study³³⁰ expressed that they had no formal guidance on children's self-care and would value guidance on this topic. Parents expressed the same need. Preschool teachers particularly expressed that they were lacking in ideas to help children with a range of self-care needs and would value a teaching module to better support children who were developing at a different level or pace. The fifth theme, non-standardised guidance, related to limited continuity between home and school, with a number of parents expressing concern that there was a lack of consistency at how self-care was supported in nursery in comparison to home.³³⁰

8.4 Discussion

The findings from this chapter highlight the importance of professionals being aware of self-care development and challenges in young children, to best support them to participate in daily life. As seen in section 8.3.1, the impact of children not being

independent in daily activities has a significant impact on children and others involved in their care. Besides impacting on individual children's participation at home, school and in the public domain, there is a significant societal cost to pay for school aged children who are not able to participate in self-care activities independently.

On a local level, their inability to complete personal care tasks independently impacts directly on their peers. On a larger scale there are significant financial implications for the schools and local authorities to meet the extra costs of providing children with self-care challenges with the support they need to function independently in the mainstream school setting. Teachers reported that difficulties with self-care in reception have been exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic and associated lockdown restrictions. This was the case for both children in mainstream and special education school settings. These difficulties impact on all children's learning, not just the child who presents with delays and difficulties with self-care. Further, there are also financial and human resource implications for schools and local authorities due to the increasing number of children requiring support with self-care in the school setting. Alongside this, children's occupational therapists in the UK also reported a significant increase in referrals for children to be assessed by OT since July 2021, indicating implications for therapists and children sa well.

The findings from this chapter also highlight the need to support children at a younger age to facilitate their participation in self-care and to provide appropriate intervention and guidance to children and their families in this area of development. This includes increasing parental awareness of self-care demands at different developmental stages, including self-care expectations for school starters. Throughout this Thesis, there has been a focus on investigating factors influencing self-care in young children, and to contribute to the evidence base on this topic for professionals to draw on when supporting this population with self-care challenges. For parents to be aware of self-care challenges it is also important for them to understand what factors can influence selfcare in young children and why participation in self-care is an important part of a child's daily life.

8.5 Strengths and limitations

There are several strengths and limitations for conducting a document analysis, and more specifically the document analysis carried out in this chapter. The first strength of this method is the opportunity to collect data that would have been difficult or event impossible to do.³³¹ Due to a lack of participants, I did not have the opportunity to discuss self-care and school readiness in reception pupils with research participants directly. However, recent YouGov surveys^{41, 106} and other reports from the Department of Education^{323, 324, 332} reported on the type of data that I was planning to obtain from teachers, and I reported on this instead.

Whilst speaking with teachers directly would have been ideal, there were distinct strengths and advantages in reporting on secondary data from these reports. Firstly, there was a higher number of participants from across the UK who shared their views. For example, the 2022 Kindred Squared School Readiness Report⁴¹ included quantitative data from 1043 participants working in primary education. Qualitative data for this report⁴¹ was sourced through two focus groups for teachers and 15 interviews with headteachers. Sourcing this quantity of data through document analysis was more cost effective and less time consuming then obtaining the same amount of info through research fieldwork. This is a strength of this particular research method.³³¹ Similarly data obtained from the Early Years Foundation Stage Profile results^{323, 324} draw on data collected from all local authorities in England which is a significant sample size.

Another strength of the analysis is the voices represented in the documents, and particularly the inclusion of the view of headteachers. In my initial research plan, I intended to carry out a focus group with reception teachers which would have provided insight of how children's self-care difficulties impacted children and staff in the classroom. However, the YouGov reports also included the views of senior leaders in education who were able to provide insight on the financial impact in schools from children who required extra support with self-care tasks in the school environment. This has added to the findings and provides more in-depth feedback of the real-world impact of children's self-care difficulties.

Finally, another strength of the analysis and this research methods was the robustness of the data and the credibility of the sources. Data for the Early Year Foundation Stage results were collected by local authorities through a bespoke data collection system which identifies invalid data.³²³ Kindred School Readiness surveys also clearly documented the research methods and analysis used for the data in their reports. The main purpose of these reports is to provide advice for policy monitoring and setting future policies regarding early years education.

A limitation of the data is that whilst it included useful information on children's selfcare and the impact of self-care challenges at school, research with teachers directly would have been able to explore the exact self-care challenges in more detail. In relation to the methodology itself, it is important to realise that information in documents is not without bias and that documents and sources should be viewed critically.³³³

8.6 Conclusion

In summary, this chapter found that a significant number of children in the UK are not ready for school and present with challenges with self-care that impacts on their ability to participate in daily activities at school. The findings from the reports discussed in this chapter, along with the findings from the overall doctoral research programme, highlight the urgency of ensuring that both children in mainstream school settings and children in special schools get the support they need at an early stage to participate in self-care activities. In the next chapter, Chapter 9, I bring the findings from all the research streams discussed in Chapters 4-8 together.

Chapter 9: Discussion of key overarching themes

In Chapters 4 to 7, a systematic evidence synthesis, two quantitative studies, and one qualitative study looking at children's self-care and factors influencing children's self-care found that that children's mobility and cognitive ability are consistent and significant predictors of self-care development, and that the COVID-19 pandemic impacted on children's self-care and parental stress levels. Chapter 8, an analysis of UK Government documents, found that there was an increase in the number of children who presented with difficulties with self-care at school following the COVID-19 pandemic in comparison to school starters before the pandemic. In this chapter, I synthesise the findings from these previous five chapters and present them in the format of the conceptual framework discussed in Chapter 2. I also share reflections on my experience of the research in this doctoral programme.

Early childhood is the time when individuals form skills and behaviours that may influence the rest of their life.³³⁴ Recent observational studies and feedback from other stakeholders, for example, teachers and headteachers, have provided evidence that outcomes in self-care affect other areas of participation, such as education and participation in social events, across the life course.^{41, 42, 106} These outcomes in self-care are facilitated and created by a complex range of interconnecting factors, including individual determinants such as body factors, household characteristics, including socioeconomic status, the socio-political and social context, and neighbourhood-level factors including access to healthcare as seen from figure 2.1 in Chapter 2. To help children achieve their full potential in the domain of self-care independence. Rather than focusing on individual dimensions, child health and well-being needs are better tackled by combining policies and resources at these wider social determinants of health and well-being.³³⁵⁻³³⁸

Analysis and synthesis of the four studies and policy documents discussed in the previous chapters informed the development of interrelated concepts that are described in this chapter. In this chapter, I report the synthesised data in relation to the

concepts identified from the previous studies discussed. I followed a sequential synthesis design³³⁹ throughout this doctoral research programme, where data extraction and analysis of one type of evidence informed the collection and synthesis of other types of data collected. The theory generated from the systematic evidence synthesis in Chapter 4, informed the research questions for the quantitative data analyses in Chapters 5 and 6. In turn, findings from these chapters informed the need for the qualitative data that was collected in Chapters 7 and 8. Therefore the integration of evidence of each phase occurred before the next phase, and is brought together in the discussion, key themes, below.

9.1 Key themes drawn from the analysis in this research programme

From across the studies included in this doctoral programme of research, four key themes emerged. The first relates to the evidence base for self-care interventions and method of intervention for self-care. In the UK, children's interventions are mostly offered by OTs and interventions are offered by the NHS, in clinics or schools. In this doctoral research programme, I investigated the factors influencing children's self-care and interventions for self-care. What emerged was an opportunity for a populationbased approach to address self-care to supplement the existing NHS-based interventions. There may be unexploited opportunities, for example, engagement in community activities impacted by self-care difficulties. This was particularly evident from the analysis of qualitative data in Chapter 7 where parents used online forums to seek support and support others in relation to children's self-care. From that analysis it was also found that only one parent in the threads analysed mentioned OT as a source of support for self-care difficulties. Whilst the synthesis in Chapter 4 discussed interventions known to be effective to support self-care, I suggest that interventions need to be more accessible and be pitched a population-based level, shifting the focus from reactive care to proactive, preventative care. This way more children will benefit from self-care support and children will not be excluded from care through long waiting lists, or inability to access care as a direct result of poverty. This includes children with mobility and social/cognitive difficulties as seen in Chapter 6.

Secondly, the findings from Chapters 4 and 6 found similarly to other research in this field that mobility and cognitive skills are consistent predictors of children's self-care. However, while this evidence comes across as conclusive, there are some caveats. For example, this evidence is mostly informed by quantitative approaches that use definitions and outcomes of self-care set by adults. The existing models do not explore or capture children's views about how they experience self-care and difficulties in this area. Further in Chapter 6, 10.71% of the dataset presented with mobility difficulties for the first wave of data collection, and for the second wave of the data collection this percentage was 11.42% of the dataset. As mentioned in Chapter 6, a previous study²⁶⁰ investigating mother-child interactions in children with disabilities found that in some circumstances, the parents of children with reduced mobility assisted their child with self-care activities regardless of whether the child required assistance with self-care. As the PEDI-CAT is a caregiver questionnaire capturing parents' views on their child's ability, it would be useful to also investigate the correlation between mobility and selfcare in other ways. This should include qualitative data from children on what aspects of self-care they find challenging themselves, and why.

Thirdly, there is a sociocultural nature of self-care practice that needs to be taken into account for all children and families. For example, the social nature of eating together and celebrations. Another context to consider is cultural practices in relation to self-care for example different the use of different eating utensils, a knife and fork vs chopsticks. In Chapter 4, a number of studies also made reference to cultural expectations in terms of children's self-care. This sociocultural aspect falls within the macrosystem in Bronfenbrenner's ecological systems theory model.⁶³ As discussed in Chapter 2, this system encompasses the broader cultural, societal, and ideological forces that play a role in an individual's development and accounts for the impact of cultural beliefs, values, customs, and social norms on a child's development.

Finally, the fourth point is the importance of observing children's self-care alongside their family dynamics. In Chapter 5, parents presented with high levels of parental stress and in Chapter 7, the impact of children's self-care difficulties on parents' wellbeing was also visible. In Chapter 4, it was observed that parental stress levels can negatively
impact on children's self-care. Therefore, it is important for researchers and health care professionals to consider the whole family when investigating and addressing children's health needs and difficulties with self-care.

9.2 Self-care in children seen through the perspective of an ecological systems theory

Personal and Contextual factors influencing self-care in this doctoral research programme are discussed below in the context of Bronfenbrenner's⁶³ ecological systems theory model. The logic model discussed in chapter two has also been revised following the analysis of the findings discussed in Chapters 3 to seven 8. This model⁶³ is seen as a suitable framework for representing factors influencing children's self-care due to the range of ecological factors found in this programme of research. One of the first researchers to adopt this framework to investigate childhood development and disabilities was Joanne Sontag.³⁴⁰ She argued that this framework allowed for the influence of children's environments and families to be included to have a better understanding of their development. Another study³⁴¹, outlining trends and implications in current child research, also suggested that the interrelated biological, psychological, and social aspects should be considered when recommending interventions for children.

The five levels of Bronfenbrenner's ecological systems theory⁶³, the microsystem, mesosystem, exosystem, macrosystem, and chronosystem were discussed in detail in Chapter 2. In this section, I will discuss the findings from Chapters 3 to 8 in the context of these levels to demonstrate how the five systems contribute to children's development and participation in self-care in England where this programme of research took place. Bi-directional and reciprocal relationships are addressed by focussing on the effect of personal and contextual factors influencing self-care. One of the key points about the ecological systems theory framework, is Bronfenbrenner's idea that it is not one or a few factors that influence children's development, but rather the interaction of a range of factors, which can take place across time.³⁴² In this programme of research, I identified the four themes described above in section 9.1 but also recognised factors

influencing self-care in the context of the ecological systems theory. These are discussed in more detail below.

9.2.1 The microsystem

As discussed in Chapter 2, the microsystem refers to the immediate environment surrounding an individual, and family dynamics play a key role in this system, including daily interactions with others who play a significant role in children's lives. In Chapter 7, where the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic lockdown restrictions on children's self-care and their families was discussed, family dynamics came up as one of the key themes. Parents who had children who presented with challenges with self-care described how they were in a 'battle with their child', and others described how they were in a uncooperative with self-care.

Parents' responses from the Mumsnet and Netmums forums indicated that parents were under a significant amount of stress due to the lockdown. Many parents in the Mumsnet and Netmums forums also noted that their children's self-care deteriorated and that this exacerbated the stress that they were under, as seen in the quote below.

"My 4 yo DS [darling son] (only child) is very able and can be pretty independent when he wants. During lockdown he has had either my or my husband's attention as we are both wfh [work from home] but in shifts to deal with childcare, but now he will do nothing on his own and its driving me crazy!" - Parent 67, 27 May 2020

It is possible that these high levels of stress, directly or indirectly, impacted on the relationships between parents and their children and also the overall family dynamics. This, in turn, could have resulted in a spiral affecting children's participation in self-care. This result was echoed by one study included in the systematic evidence synthesis in Chapter 4, which found an association between children's self-care and parental stress levels. Although the impact of parental stress on children's self-care was not seen in all the studies in Chapter 4, one can see a distinct bidirectional relationship between

children's self-care and their interaction with their parents, particularly during the COVID-19 lockdown, from the qualitative findings discussed in Chapter 7.

Further, children from single-parent households are subjected to different tensions in their household than a child from a two-parent household. In single-parent families, there is an increased risk of parental stress, particularly when children are developmentally delayed or present with a disability.³⁴³ Whilst data on household demographics in relation to family status, were not collected for the two longitudinal studies, the increased stress levels in single parents were observed in parent responses analysed in a government report.³⁴⁴ During the lockdown, single parents were under increased stress due to financial constraints and lack of support with home-schooling as illustrated in the quote below.

"'I'm on my own and I found the lockdown with both children at home stressful... It's been horrendous. I think it's really affected my three-year-old because ... she's barely been at nursery... and the school putting a lot of pressure on me to homeschool and it's like, I don't think they take into appreciation it's quite difficult when you've got children at home... ... I went on to the Universal Credit at the beginning of lockdown ... I've had to use food banks and stuff a couple of times, because we just really, really struggle. I don't think they've taken into a consideration the extra cost of having the children at home all the time. So I'm like having to find different ways to entertain them" - parent quote from Implications of COVID for Early Childhood Education and Care in England Report.³⁴⁴

Another study³⁴⁵ found that the lockdown restrictions from the pandemic affected children's mental health between single-parent and two-parent households disproportionately, with children from single-parent homes presenting with higher levels of poor mental health.

At the microsystem level, personal factors including motor and cognitive abilities can significantly influence an individual's development and ability to participate in self-care. Chapters 4 and 6 discussed personal factors influencing self-care development and participation in self-care. Some of the most significant child factors that influenced self-care were children's mobility, gross and fine motor abilities, along with cognitive skills. Sensory processing differences also impacted on children's ability to participate in self-care.

Additionally, environmental factors such as socioeconomic status, family resources, and community resources can have a significant impact on an individual's experiences within this level. From the studies analysed in Chapter 4, I found that children with Cerebral Palsy who came from a higher socio-economic background were more independent in self-care than children from a lower socioeconomic background.¹⁸⁵ Another study¹²³ also reported that a higher level of self-care independence was significantly associated with a better physical environment at home. However, as IMD-Deciles were identified as a confounder in Chapter 6, further research needs to be done in this area to confirm a definitive link between socioeconomic status and self-care for all children.

Health services and access to care also fall within the microsystem, and the results from the systematic evidence synthesis in Chapter 4 demonstrated that therapy or medical interventions made a difference in facilitating participation in self-care. The interventions discussed included CIMT, which showed some positive outcomes in selfcare for children with CP. Other therapy interventions that were described as facilitating self-care in children and young people included: conductive education for children with CP; sit-to-stand training for children with CP; a visual perceptual intervention; goalsetting training; hand-arm bimanual intensive therapy; occupational therapy; hippotherapy; video prompt models and backward chaining for autistic children; and intensive goal-directed physiotherapy. However, in Table 4.6 one can see that the strongest intervention evidence was for CIMT for children with CP.

Medical and pharmaceutical interventions that facilitated self-care included dorsal rhizotomy, a surgical procedure that aims to reduce spasticity in the lower limbs for children with CP, and the drug Etanercept, which is used to treat autoimmune conditions such as juvenile idiopathic arthritis. On this system level, one can see how children who had access to healthcare and interventions that contributed to improved function in gross and fine motor skills, or other body functions presented with different self-care outcomes than those who did not.

9.2.2 The mesosystem

As discussed in Chapter 2, the mesosystem relates to the connections and interactions between the microsystems in an individual's life, and in this doctoral research programme, the mesosystem referred to the relationships between family members, and teachers, peers, and other social groups that play a role in a child's life. Understanding this system in a child's life is crucial to understanding and appreciating how the different microsystems work together to influence their development. As the data collection for the EASIER study and the qualitative study took place during the COVID-19 lockdown, many of the study participants would not have been in school at the time and would have been home-schooled during this period. As a result, children in these studies would not have had the same opportunities to interact with teachers and peers, during the lockdown.

As this research programme did not focus on children's social interactions (and the impact of this on self-care) there is no other empirical evidence from this programme to add to this section. However, in Chapter 8 teachers reported a deterioration in children's self-care in schools in comparison to cohorts before the pandemic. The cause for this needs to be investigated further.

9.2.3 The exosystem

In this system, one finds the broader social and environmental contexts that indirectly influence children's development and self-care. This includes factors such as community resources, government policies, and the availability of social services. One of the key findings from this doctoral research programme in relation to this system is that there is a need for more population-based approaches to support children's self-care. This was particularly evident in Chapter 7, where parents sought support from other parents in online forums in relation to their children's self-care. In relation to community resources, waiting lists for therapy and access to home adaptations fall under this system.

9.2.4 The macrosystem

As discussed in Chapter 2, this system encompasses the broader cultural, societal, and ideological forces that play a role in an individual's development and accounts for the impact of cultural beliefs, values, customs, and social norms on a child's development. Three studies included in the systematic evidence synthesis in Chapter 4 compared differences in self-care between different cultures, and one compared different self-care expectations between boys and girls in these cultures. The study¹⁸ found that parents had lower self-care expectations from boys than from girls. I also found differences in physical activity and motor competence in different societies that could have impacted on self-care performance for children in these societies.

9.2.5 The chronosystem

As discussed in Chapter 2, this system is concerned with the role of time in shaping a child's development, and in this section, I consider the influence of relevant historical events, personal experiences, and major life transitions on children's self-care.

From the results discussed in Chapters 4,7, and 8, the COVID-19 pandemic had a significant impact on children with and without motor impairment's participation in self-care. For children with CP the lockdown contributed to spasticity in their limbs which affected their ability to participate in self-care.¹⁷² This correlates with the finding from another study³⁴⁷ on the impact of the pandemic on children with CP, where the researchers found that 56.4% of children had experienced deterioration in ambulatory status, 33.7% of children showed worsening in the function of the upper limb, 41.6% of parents reported that children had increased joint contracture, and 63.4% of children had an increase in muscle stiffness or tightness. This deterioration in children with cerebral palsy's physical health and mobility is attributed to a decrease in the access to rehabilitation during the lockdown and parents lack in confidence or inability to carry out a therapy home programme with their child with CP.³⁴⁷

Some children with additional needs were also negatively affected by delays in assessments or by remote assessments that did not adequately identify their needs for additional support.³⁴⁷ These findings correlate with findings from the 'Implications of

COVID for Early Childhood Education and Care in England' report that was published in June 2022 by the Centre for Evidence and Implementation.³⁴⁴ The aim of the report was to explore the implications of the COVID-19 pandemic for access to and provision of early childhood education and care (ECEC) for 0–4-year-olds in England, along with ways in which the ECEC system could be strengthened. One of the key findings of the report was how significantly different the pandemic and lockdown experience was for children from ethnic and minority groups and poor SES, in comparison to their peers.

Parents of children with ASD reported a significant regression in their children's self-care post-lockdown in one of the studies included in the systematic review in Chapter 4.¹³⁷ Parents reported that their children showed a deterioration in all self-care activities, with changes in toileting and brushing their teeth being the most significant areas affected.¹³⁷ These changes were attributed to a change in routine, limited opportunities for children to socialise, and the absence of children's usual therapy sessions.¹³⁷

In Chapter 7, the findings also suggest that the COVID-19 pandemic and lockdown restrictions had a definite impact on children's self-care, and in particular, toileting and dressing. The qualitative findings from parent discourses on how the pandemic influenced their children's self-care indicated that parents observed that their children's self-care had deteriorated during the lockdown period. It was observed that these changes in self-care impacted on parents' mental well-being, with some parents indicating that they felt they were in a 'battle' with their child. One parent reported that they thought these changes were due to the lockdown being "pretty tough on the little ones".

However, not all children demonstrated a deterioration in self-care during the pandemic. One study¹⁴⁹ found that participants with ADHD showed an increased engagement in personal care during the pandemic, as they benefitted from spending more time with their families and being at home. Some children with special educational needs also benefited from attending less busy school settings during the pandemic.

In Figure 9.1 I have updated the figure first presented in Chapter 2, Figure 2.1. In Chapter 2, I hypothesised how different factors in the context of the systems from Bronfenbrenner's ecological systems theory model could have influenced children in this programme of research's self-care. Figure 9.1 represents the findings, following the data analysis for Chapters 4 to 8, of factors influencing self-care in the schema of Bronfenbrenner's model. Updates to the figure are shown in white text whilst factors which remain unchanged from the previous figure are still labelled in black.



Figure 9.1 Research findings on factors influencing self-care presented in the schema of Bronfenbrenner's ecological systems theory model.

9.3 Logic model of factors influencing self-care

Following the data analysis in Chapters 4 to 8, the logic model proposed in Chapter 2 was revisited and updated based on the study findings. To indicate changes in the logic model, boxes where content has changed following the analysis and synthesis are shown in a different colour, yellow. New unidirectional and bidirectional relationships following the analysis and synthesis are illustrated through red arrows. In the logic model shown in Chapter 2, it was proposed that child factors, including mobility and fine motor skills, are some of the key intervention elements, along with the provision of appropriate equipment and adaptations to address to provide children with the opportunity to participate in self-care. It was also proposed that potential difficulties in the areas outlined in the box, child factors could impact on parent self-efficacy, willingness to take risks, and parental stress levels. On a macrolevel outcome, it was anticipated that the level of participation in self-care would affect children's long-term health, development, social integration, and school readiness. It was also anticipated that self-care would be moderated by children's intellectual ability, their level of disability, birth order in their family, ethnicity, complex medical needs and possibly birthweight. Further, socioeconomic status, parental education levels, the physical environment, along with the time spent in and out of home environments were included as contextual factors to consider for the distal and macrolevel outcomes proposed in the logic model in Chapter 2.

In the reconstructed logic model shown in Figure 9.2, the impact of personal factors on self-care still played a significant role as seen from the findings in Chapters and 6 which found that motor and cognitive ability plays an important role in self-care. In addition, I found promising evidence from the findings of the systematic review in Chapter 4, the parent forums in Chapter 7 and the document analysis in Chapter 8 that the role of contextual and environmental factors, along with children's relationships with others and social experiences, also played an important role in self-care. For example, a child with a motor impairment or difficulties with mobility who lived in a well-supported environment and with good family support and social networks would have similar opportunities to participate in self-care and daily activities compared to a child with no mobility or motor impairments.^{123, 348} The logic model was therefore updated to

illustrate the impact of context on self-care macrolevel outcomes, through influencing equipment and adaptations, the child's opportunities to explore and interact, parental factors and therapy interventions for self-care.

In Chapter 4, the results of the systematic review indicated that health conditions, including arthrogryposis, MMC, FOP, and neurological disorders, impacted on children with these conditions' ability to participate in self-care. For these children, it is important to consider their participation in self-care and to refer them to the relevant therapy services so that they can be supported with appropriate interventions and equipment. Along with providing support to help children participate in self-care, it is also important to support the parents of this group of children.³⁴⁹ In Chapter 7, which discussed parent discourses on the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on their children's self-care, the findings suggested that children's difficulties with self-care impacted on parental stress levels and possibly mental health. Parents indicated that dealing with their children's self-care challenges felt like a struggle, and many parents used the word 'battle' to indicate this. In the logic model in Figure 9.2, the relationship between parental stress and children's self-care is depicted as having a bi-directional relationship as some of the findings in Chapter 4 indicated that parental stress can also impact on children's self-care negatively.

Despite initially questioning whether children's birth order or whether they were an only child could affect their participation in self-care, no evidence of this was observed in this doctoral research programme. This observation could have been attributed to the low uptake of research participants in the EASIER study, and therefore, it is difficult to come to a definite conclusion on this factor. The same applies to parental education, the number of hours worked by the main carer, and the children's place of care.

Finally, another predictor of children's self-care, which emerged through this doctoral programme and was not included in the original logic model, was the COVID-19 pandemic and the lockdown restrictions associated with it which is shown in the box labelled context. This was observed in Chapters 4,7 and 8. Although there is no longer a worldwide lockdown, and COVID-19 is no longer classed as requiring quarantine or

lockdown³⁵⁰, these findings are still important to consider. The pandemic directly impacted on children's lives for almost two years in the form of missing out on school, not seeing friends and families, and missing out on opportunities and celebrations that are typically part of a child's life.

The full impact of the pandemic on children's development and health outcomes are unknown yet, and experts³⁵¹ predict that it will take years of research to fully understand the impact of the pandemic on children's health and development. Findings from this doctoral research programme in relation to the pandemic and children's selfcare will also be useful to consider for future pandemics. Based on these findings, parents and healthcare professionals will have an increased understanding of how pandemics and periods of lockdown can impact on children's self-care and participation in daily activities and know what to look out for.



Figure 9.2 A revised logic model of factors influencing children's self-care

9.4. Reflective Account

Below I share some of my reflections and thoughts collected while carrying out the research and some retrospective thoughts since completing the data collection and data analysis. These reflections provide context for the research methods and data shared throughout this thesis.

9.4.1 My personal experience entering this research

Firstly, as a researcher, it is important to acknowledge my position and experience with children and parenting during the COVID-19 pandemic. I am a parent of an 11-year-old girl and was directly impacted by the closure of schools associated with the COVID-19 pandemic lockdown restrictions. My daughter was seven years old at the start of the pandemic and required home-schooling from the 23rd of March 2020, along with several millions of other children in the UK.

When carrying out the qualitative research discussed in Chapter 7, I was thinking about my own experiences during the lockdown the entire time I collected the data from parents on Mumsnet and Netmums. The data extracted focused on children's self-care during the pandemic and lockdown restrictions; however, I recognised the experiences of the parents on the forum and could empathise with what they were experiencing during the lockdown. Many parents were referring to working whilst home educating their children at the same time and referred to their children's extra need for attention during this period.

My child did not have any additional needs that required extra care and support during this time, as many of the Mumsnet or Netmums respondents reported, so I can only imagine how high the levels of parental stress in those households were. It was challenging enough in my own household, with only one child who needed home education and had no additional needs. We were also in the fortunate position that we had access to a relatively spacious home with outdoor space for a large part of the lockdown restrictions that eased the burden of the lockdown restrictions. I also recognise what a privilege it was to have been able to have worked from home and have

a consistent income at a time when many others had to go to work and risk contracting the virus or losing their jobs. This has made me very interested and focused on the challenges and experiences of families who did not have access to the same privileges during the pandemic and how this would have impacted on children's overall health and development, including their self-care.

In addition to my experience as a parent of a school-aged child during the pandemic, I also feel that it is important to highlight my experience as a paediatric occupational therapist prior to entering academia. I have worked with many children with self-care difficulties over the years but carrying out this research has made me reconsider much of my clinical decision-making. Whilst I have always considered the evidence base of the approach I was using and the therapeutic needs of the child along with their own therapy goals, I now see that I did not pay enough attention to environmental and contextual factors influencing their difficulties with self-care. I have used many of the motor assessments mentioned in Chapter 4, but without considering all the relevant information about children and their circumstances, it is not possible to plan and carry out an intervention that meets the need of a specific child in the context of their own family needs.

9.4.2 Lessons learnt from the research process

There were many challenges along the way however, one of the biggest lessons I learned was how challenging it was to recruit participants for a longitudinal cohort study. I significantly underestimated the amount of time and effort it would require first to engage stakeholders, i.e., NHS trusts or nursery schools to promote the recruitment of study participants and second for participants to sign up once the study materials were shared with them. Once participants signed up for the study, attrition of participants was another challenge as the dropout rate was higher than I anticipated it to be. I assumed that once people gave consent to participate in the study, they would engage with my correspondence and complete the information they consented to provide. I thought that the time commitment for completing a short questionnaire via an email link sent on a six-monthly basis would be minimal for participants, however on reflection this was probably not the case.

A significant amount of my study time was also spent following up with NHS Trust to secure a site to facilitate NHS REC and HRA approval which I believe is something that more students in the UK participating and contributing to health-related research should be aware of. After spending several months on the required paperwork to secure a research site and receiving the necessary HRA and REC approvals, the COVID-19 pandemic arrived in the UK in February 2020. Significantly more paperwork was then required to adapt the study at a later stage.

As seen in Chapter 5 the EASIER study did not result in the research study I planned or wished it to be. The limited number of participants meant that the results were not significant enough for statistically relevant results for the selected population. However, by continuing to contribute to other research studies, I succeeded in gathering the data and completing the body of work required for completing this doctoral programme of research and gathered meaningful data on children's self-care and the impact of self-care difficulties on family dynamics and participation at school. Whilst I was keen to complete the doctoral study programme, I also learned that that is possible to still make a meaningful contribution to your field of research by being flexible and approaching your research topic from a different angle. Besides furthering my research skills and learning a brand-new methodology, critical discourse analysis, the research covered in Chapter 7 makes a novel contribution to how the COVID-19 pandemic and the associated lockdown restrictions impacted on children's self-care and their parents.

9.4.3 Reflections on doing the research

For the quantitative research, I noticed significant differences whilst administering the PEDI-CAT for two of the research studies discussed in this thesis. The PEDI-CAT was used for both the data collection for the EASIER study discussed in Chapter 5 and the ActiveCHILD study discussed in Chapter 6. However, there was an important difference in the administration of the PEDI-CAT test for the data collection of these two studies.

Whilst collecting data for these two studies in a similar time period, I made some observations on how differences in the test administration could impact on study results

in research. For the ActiveCHILD study, the PEDI-CAT was administered by a member of the research team calling the parents by phone, or in some cases, a member of the research team carried out the PEDI-CAT test in person with the family member. For the EASIER study, parents were sent a link to the PEDI-CAT questionnaire by email. One of the biggest implications for this way of administering the PEDI-CAT for the ActiveCHILD study was that the questions were read out by the researcher instead of being read by the parent, who was expected to pick an answer. This provided parents completing the test the opportunity to ask the researcher to clarify any questions they were unsure of. In the case of participants where English was their second language, this would have also provided participants with the opportunity to check if they understood the questions correctly. However, for parents with auditory processing or hearing difficulties, this could have been a challenge if they did not get the opportunity to hear all the questions correctly and if they did not feel confident enough to ask the researcher to repeat the question.

PEDI-CAT questions for participants of both studies were computer generated based on participants' answers to previous questions. Whilst parents of children in both studies would have been presented with the same questions, I believe the difference in administering the assessment could have played a role in parents' choice of answers and the subsequent questions presented to them. The PEDI-CAT selects the level of difficulty of questions based on the previous response. If parents had misunderstood a question and provided the wrong answer, this would have triggered a different set of questions than what they would have been asked otherwise.

A convenient aspect of the PEDI-CAT Q-global test was the ability to send assessment links by email to parents to complete the test at a time convenient to them. I observed during the administration of the PEDI-CAT for the ActiveCHILD study that it took several phone calls to a parent to get one assessment completed. As usually, the first time when you called the parent, they asked you to call back at a different time as they were busy with another activity, and it was not a convenient time for them to complete the assessment. I also found that parents often forgot about the time they had agreed on to complete the assessment, so therefore in my experience, it took on average three

phone calls per participant to complete the PEDI-CAT with participants where the Qglobal version was not used.

In the EASIER study, my experience was that the completion time for the PEDI-CAT Qglobal varied. Some parents opened the link immediately and completed the assessment; others took a few weeks; in other cases, parents did not complete the assessment on time and needed reminders. The link expired after 30 days, in which a new assessment had to be set up for parents who failed to complete the assessment on time the first time. This happened for 4/24 (16%) of respondents and is not dissimilar from the experience of having to call some parents in the ActiveCHILD study up to three times to complete the assessment. I observed that some parents completed the PEDI-CAT Q-global assessment in as little as 12 minutes. In contrast, the average phone call I made to complete the PEDI-CAT with an ActiveCHILD study participant took between 30 and 40 minutes, depending on how much clarification the parent sought. Despite receiving less support from the researcher, completing the PEDI-CAT for the EASIER study required less of a time commitment from parents participating in the study, which might make participation in research more appealing to some parents.

As a researcher, the administration of the PEDI-CAT Q-global was significantly less timeconsuming. Instead of making numerous phone calls and taking up to half an hour to complete an assessment over the phone, sending one email with an assessment link was a less time-consuming process. The only time commitment from me for sending a PEDI-CAT Q-global link was the time required to set up a test profile for participants and send the assessment link by email. This was minimal compared to the time it took to phone parents to administer the test. Scoring for the PEDI-CAT Q-global was also automatic which significantly reduced the time spent collecting data per child on the EASIER study. For the ActiveCHILD study, the use of the regular PEDI-CAT assessment required the assessment to be scored manually and for scaled and normative scores to be calculated using the test manual.

Interestingly, I observed no difference in the attrition rates for the two different methods of completing the PEDI-CAT. I expected fewer parents to drop out from the

EASIER study than the Active CHILD study, as I thought that parents would have found it more convenient to complete an assessment in their own time. Further, some of the contact details for participants in the ActiveCHILD study had changed, which made it impossible to contact them for further data collection, which naturally impacted on attrition rates. I anticipated that it might be less likely for participants to change their personal email addresses, and therefore assumed at the start of the EASIER data collection that it would be a better method to contact parents for ongoing data collection for a longitudinal cohort study. However, a similar number of parents did not read or ignored the emails as those who did not answer the phone for the ActiveCHILD study.

Whilst I initially assumed that an online questionnaire that parents could complete in their own time would be more convenient than a phone call, I now recognise that I underestimated the mental load placed on parents by expecting them to complete a questionnaire by themselves. Not all parents were one hundred per cent certain of their children's abilities and development expectations. One participant from the EASIER study contacted me via email to express her concern about the PEDI-CAT items being too difficult for her child and to ask whether the test items were developmentally appropriate. I explained to the parent that the age range of the PEDI-CAT assessment was from 0-20 years, and therefore it didn't mean that younger parents scoring lower on the test was necessarily indicative of a problem in any of the domains tested. The parent expressed appreciation for the explanation but failed to respond to emails regarding the second wave of data collection and dropped out of the study. It is possible that her concern about her child finding certain test items challenging contributed to her decision to not further participate in the study.

9.4.4 Reflection on trying to recruit participants and involve schools in the research As stated in section 9.4.2, the recruitment of study participants was one of the most significant challenges for the EASIER longitudinal cohort study. After the study was put on hold indefinitely by the NHS trust where it was supposed to be hosted, I spent time reflecting on ways to continue the study. During this period, there appeared to be a shift

towards more research studies taking place online due to the pandemic and lockdown restrictions. As a result, I rewrote the research protocol to move the EASIER study online. I engaged with research updates related to carrying out research with families and children online and also sought advice from my supervisors on this topic. This period also coincided with the release of the online PEDI-CAT Q-global test discussed in section 9.4.3 above.

Moving the study online required a major REC amendment from the HRA, which was only obtained in December 2020. As recruitment and data collection were originally due to start in March 2020, the pandemic resulted in a delay of nine months to the data collection for the EASIER study. One of the amendments, along with moving the data collection online, was the ability to recruit typically developing children without motor impairments online instead of through health visitor checks as initially intended. Further, the amendments also made it possible to recruit participants with motor difficulties online and list Newcastle University as the study sponsor for the purposes of the NHS research portfolio. This change meant that I was able to share details of my study on social media to recruit participants and designed a flyer (Appendix B) for this purpose.

Following the study's approval, I shared the flyer on various social media platforms. I asked parents to get in touch and also asked other researchers or healthcare professionals to share the study details. The first few social media posts generated some initial interest, as this was during the December 2020 lockdown, when many individuals were at home and likely to follow social media to stay up to date with the news related to the pandemic and to keep in touch with individuals on social media. However, the initial interest waned quickly, and after a promising start of participants signing up, this method of sharing the study online no longer generated new study participants.

Details of the study were then shared by a parent's group and nursery from Newcastle University, which generated a small number of participants (four in total). In a further attempt to boost recruitment to the study, I searched for the details of headteachers of nurseries from different geographical areas, varying in levels of deprivation, across the

UK. I emailed the study details to fifty headteachers and only received acknowledgement from one headteacher in the Southeast of England who shared the study details with parents in their school. In total, I only gained two study participants from this effort after the headteacher had emailed the study details to the entire school.

The challenges with recruiting participants made me reflect on and reconsider the method of posting information online to recruit study participants. All parents, but parents of children with disabilities even more so, are bombarded with digital information and requests for help or information on a regular basis. This can range from information about events at school, fundraisers, requests for information and hospital appointments. During the pandemic, parents also would have received extra information about precautions at school or for medical appointments. It is likely that many of the parents and headteachers were cognitively overloaded from the digital information that they were already receiving and therefore did not have the capacity to read and consider my study information.

In addition to the attempts to recruit participants online, I also applied to have the study adopted by the NIHR Clinical Research Network (CRN) portfolio. This generated interest with a few NHS trusts, and I participated in meetings with five NHS trusts in total between February and April 2021 to discuss the possibility of them hosting the study. Following these discussions only one of the trusts agreed to hosts the study. One hundred information packs were put together and sent to therapy staff for eligible participants. From eligible participants three new participants signed up in total. After all the efforts above, recruitment and data collection were discontinued when I was still not able to recruit a sample size large enough to produce statistically significant data on comparisons between self-care in children with and without motor impairments.

Following the data collection for Chapter 7, which analysed parent responses from Mumsnet and Netmums in relation to how the pandemic affected their children's selfcare, I thought it would be helpful to conduct interviews with reception teachers to see if they made similar observations to parents in relations to children's self-care. The aim was to have a focus group with a group of four to five teachers to find out how they

perceived the pandemic and lockdown restrictions had impacted on children's self-care. I was particularly interested to see whether they saw a difference in the levels of selfcare in cohorts of children who entered reception after the Covid-19 pandemic in comparison to those children starting reception pre-2020.

As this stream of research with teachers was not part of the original research plans which ethical approval was obtained for, I applied for ethical approval for interviewing teachers. I adapted the parent flyer seen in Appendix B to recruit teachers for the study. For this recruitment, I had similar challenges finding teachers willing to participate in the study. Teachers who initially verbally agreed to participate did not respond to the flyer or emails sent. Speaking directly to a special needs coordinator (SENCO) about the research with a voucher incentive generated some interest but no further follow-up from the teacher group that I needed to participate in the study. I found it interesting that not even a financial award towards classroom supplies incentivised teachers to participate in the research and reflected on why that was the case.

During the period of the scheduled data collection, social media and the press were reporting regularly that schoolteachers in the UK were under a significant amount of stress. This period also coincided with teacher strikes in state schools across the UK. Therefore, I believe that the study's timing was unsuitable for teachers to participate in a focus group that required 'extra work' when they were already overloaded. It was also suggested that teaching cover could have an been an issue whilst teachers attend the focus group, and therefore that was prioritised above attending a focus group.

In summary, I still believe that families and teachers are the right demographic for researchers to target to learn more about children's self-care; however, the pandemic and other economic stressors have meant that participating in a research study was most likely not something that would have been a priority for prospective participants. In order to obtain richer data on children's self-care, it is recommended that other ways of engaging families and teachers in research are explored.

9.5 Conclusion

The overarching theme of this chapter is that there is more to consider when addressing children's self-care, than just body factors even though mobility and social/cognitive factors showed a strong correlation with self-care in two of the chapters in this thesis. Many clinicians, including paediatricians, health visitors, and occupational or physiotherapists typically carry out developmental check-ups or assessments on children. These assessments often include standardised assessments of motor, cognitive or perceptual skills and sometimes sensory processing differences. In many cases clinicians will ask for some demographic information and a parent perspective on concern's regarding the child's functioning but this is not always the case, particularly in school-based therapy services.

However, this doctoral research programme demonstrates that performance-based assessments of children's functioning are only one indicator of their overall functioning and participation in daily activities and provides a one-dimensional view of factors causing difficulties in these areas. Further, to have a thorough understanding of children's self-care and why they are having difficulties in this area it is of utmost importance to consider all five of the systems in Bronfenbrenner's ecological systems theory as shown in Figure 9.1 and elements shown in Figure 9.2.

This level of understanding of factors that influence children's development and participation is also crucial for planning and carrying out effective interventions to address children's self-care. Providing therapy and/or medical interventions with the aim to improve participation in self-care will be ineffective unless the full profile of the child, that of the family and their social circumstances, and the wider social contexts are considered. In the next chapter, Chapter 10, I make recommendations for future research based on the discussions in this chapter.

Chapter 10: Summary and implications

This doctoral research programme aimed to investigate self-care in children with and without motor impairments and the factors influencing it. Through a comprehensive literature search and systematic evidence synthesis, carrying out a longitudinal cohort study, a secondary analysis of longitudinal data, and a qualitative analysis of parents' and teachers' perceptions of the impact of the COVID-19 restrictions on their children's self-care, my objectives were to:

- 1) To identify personal and environmental factors influencing self-care in children and young people.
- 2) To investigate intervention techniques for supporting self-care.
- 3) To identify the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic restrictions on children's selfcare and parents.

In this final chapter, I summarise the key results of this doctoral research programme, reflect on its overall strengths and weaknesses, and set out implications for the stakeholder groups for whom this applies too: healthcare professionals, parents, and children, researchers, and teachers or others working in childhood education. I also make recommendations for future research.

10.1 Summary of results

In Chapter 4, I described the factors that influence self-care in children and young people. This systematic review included 97 studies and is the most extensive systematic review on this topic that I am aware of. The systematic review was updated in November 2022 after the first selection of articles was carried out in March 2019. The ICF-framework⁶⁸ was used for this review, and I found that body functions showed strong associations with self-care, along with preliminary evidence to suggest that environmental factors are also crucial in self-care for children. Several interventions to address participation in self-care in children were discussed. However, research about effective interventions to address self-care is limited and skewed towards one diagnostic condition, CP. Further research is recommended to investigate interventions applicable

to a wider range of children and young people. From the synthesis of this review, I also found that the COVID-19 pandemic had an adverse impact on some children's self-care.

In Chapter 5, I described the EASIER study, which was designed to be a longitudinal cohort study to investigate self-care in 3-6-year-old children with and without motor impairments. The study itself was impacted upon by the COVID-19 pandemic, and due to a poor uptake of participants there was a lack of sufficient quantitative data for meaningful statistical analysis of the data obtained. However, I made an important observation that parents whose children had more difficulty with the PEDI-CAT test items were more likely to drop out of the next wave of the study. In addition, I found that there were lower rates of parental stress in participants who participated in both waves of data collection in comparison to those who dropped out after the first wave. Participants who dropped out after the first wave had significantly higher scores on the Parental Stress Scale (PSS). Children and parents of young children are described by the NIHR as under-served groups where inclusion in research is lower than one would expect from the population estimates for this group.³⁵² Reasons for this can include barriers related to the health of participants and inadequate incentives to participate in research.³⁵² Findings from Chapter 5 further demonstrate the need for supporting parents whilst engaging them in research about their children in order for this population to be better represented in research. As the data in this chapter did not lend itself to ascertaining which child factors influenced self-care, I took this question forward to the next chapter, where the dataset consisted of a larger sample size.

In Chapter 6, I described the analysis of existing data from a longitudinal cohort where I investigated factors correlated with self-care. I found that PEDI-CAT Mobility and PEDI-CAT Social/Cognitive T-scores explained 74% of the variation in PEDI-CAT Daily Activities T-Scores for the first wave of data collection and 80% for the second wave of data collection. When I compared these results with the findings from the systematic review in Chapter 4, I was able to summatively conclude that children's mobility and cognitive ability are consistent and significant predictors of self-care development, with children who have the greatest limitations in mobility and/or cognition also at the greatest risk of self-care limitations. These data did not easily lend itself to ascertaining how the

pandemic influenced children's self-care, and I took this question forward to the subsequent chapter.

In Chapter 7, I focused on the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on children's participation in self-care and self-care behaviours, along with the effects of this on their parents or caregivers. This was achieved by analysing comments by parents on the online forums, Netmums and Mumsnet during the COVID-19 pandemic. By using CDA and the DHA framework, parents' responses were analysed to capture their use of language and key themes related to their children's self-care during the pandemic and associated lockdown restrictions. Participants reported a regression in their children's toileting and dressing during this period. Three other notable discourse themes emerged from the study results: 1) feelings: the discourse of parents describing being in a 'battle with their children' and parents appearing to be emotionally exhausted by their children's difficulties with self-care; 2) the role of online forums and need for social support, particularly for providing opportunities for solidarity and reassurance, especially for those seeking advice anonymously; 3) self-care practices that work, especially the value of online forums to share advice and resources and for parents to share practical tips with each other. These data provided insight into how the pandemic influenced children's self-care at home but did not lend itself to ascertaining how the pandemic affected children's self-care at school. I took this question forward to the subsequent chapter.

In Chapter 8, I discussed the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic restrictions on children's self-care in school. In YouGov reports^{41, 106} from November 2021 and 2022, teachers reported that a significant number of children presented with difficulties with self-care and school readiness compared to previous intakes before the pandemic. Teachers also discussed the impact of children who had difficulties with dressing themselves independently, difficulty with eating, and who were not toilet trained on the rest of the class and on teachers. As a result of delays in self-care, many children presented with delayed school readiness, which impacted their learning and the learning of others. These findings correlate with statements made by parents in the qualitative study discussed in Chapter 7. Parents expressed concern about their children's ability to

manage independently with self-care after the pandemic and stated that they were worried about how their children were going to manage in reception. Whilst these findings explicitly related to mainstream schools, teachers from SEND schools also reported a decline in children's self-care following the pandemic.

In Chapter 9, I identified four key themes drawn from the analysis and utilised Bronfenbrenner's ecological systems theory^{63, 71} to provide a framework for combining the findings from Chapters 4 to 8. From this framework, it becomes clear how personal factors, along with environmental and contextual factors, impact on children's self-care and that personal and body factors (as viewed from the ICF framework) cannot be assessed and treated in isolation when addressing children's self-care. Based on the findings from the research programme, I also updated a logic model of children's selfcare, which I first presented in Chapter 2 of this thesis.

10.2 Strengths and Weaknesses of the Doctoral Research Programme

I have reflected on the overall strengths and weaknesses of the doctoral research programme, especially in light of the COVID-19 pandemic and how it influenced the overall course of study. As a result of the changes made to this programme following the pandemic, the design of this research programme took a multiphase mixed-method approach, pragmatically reflecting the complexity of the three research questions discussed in Chapter 3.

A particular strength of this research programme was the size, scope, and rigorous methodology of the systematic review focussing on self-care in children and young people. To my knowledge, this is the biggest systematic review, and also the most recent, on this particular topic. This piece of work has significantly enriched my research and was critical in developing the protocol and questionnaire for the EASIER study discussed in Chapter 5. Further, the qualitative findings discussed in Chapter 7 bring a strong voice from parents on how the COVID-19 pandemic affected their children's self-care and the resulting impact on the whole family.

Another strength of this research programme is the learning from reflections, which are discussed in Chapter 9, on the research methodology. I have made some important observations, particularly regarding the difference in the administration of the PEDI-CAT in the EASIER and ACTIVE Child studies. I found that the difference in the administration between the online test completed by parents or caregivers in comparison to tests conducted by researchers or therapists could potentially influence test responses. This is an important consideration for researchers who plan to carry out similar studies in the future.

Further, the mixed method methodology used in the study programme was also a strength of this doctoral programme. The methodology applied brings a diverse selection of methods and perspectives to the programme which adds depth and breadth to the research carried out to learn more about children's self-care.⁹⁶

A limitation of the study programme was the limited number of participants for the EASIER study which meant that it was not possible to obtain meaningful results in relation to children's self-care from this study. This meant that the original research objectives could not be met. As a result there is still a gap in knowledge related to the self-care development trajectories for children with and without motor impairments. However, had the EASIER study been carried out as planned, I would not have had the opportunity to carry out the qualitative research discussed in Chapter 7 and the opportunity to contribute to the data collection for the ActiveCHILD study. As a result of completing these extra streams of research, I had the opportunity to significantly develop my research skills in both qualitative and quantitative research. These experiences will be valuable in my future academic career.

10.3 Implications for Health Care Professionals

The most significant implication for health care professionals is the specification of factors influencing self-care in children and young people and the impact of challenges in self-care participation on children and their parents and caregivers.

The results of this study will raise awareness amongst clinicians about the importance of considering the whole family when addressing challenges in participation, in this case, self-care, in a child. It is crucial to consider the emotional impact of children's participation challenges on parents and caregivers, the extent and impact of parental stress, and how this contributes to the relationship between the child and their parent/parents.

More broadly, this study enhances healthcare professionals' understanding of children's participation in self-care and self-care behaviours and how participation in self-care contributes to other domains, such as education and socialising. Health visitors and school nurses, in particular, will benefit from understanding the link between participation in self-care and school readiness.

The findings from this programme of research also provide guidance for all healthcare workers on how best to support families in future pandemics and lockdown situations. During the COVID-19 pandemic, parents observed a change in their children's ability to do things for themselves. In this doctoral research programme, it was observed that these changes contributed to significant stress for parents, which would have exacerbated the stress already experienced during the pandemic and lockdown.

The way that parents sought out support from other parents and valued the opportunity to express their experiences and feelings anonymously also highlights the importance of providing a support structure for parents of children with additional needs. A study⁹⁹, which investigated the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of a universal digital parenting intervention which was designed and implemented during the COVID-19 pandemic found promising outcomes in relation to children's development and support for parents. The intervention, which is called 'Parent Positive' consisted of three components: (i) Parenting Boosters: where advice, delivered in the form of narrated animations, videos, graphics and text, was provided to assist parents with parenting challenges; (ii) Parenting Exchange: a facilitated parent-to-parent communication and peer support platform not too dissimilar from the parent forums discussed in Chapter 7; and (iii) Parent Resources: giving parents access to carefully selected high-quality,

evidence-based online parenting resources.³⁵³ Given the long waiting lists³²⁹ for children's therapy appointments, digital interventions can be a helpful addition to traditionally provided face-to-face therapy input.

For allied health professionals, particularly occupational therapists, working with children with participation challenges, this programme of research also provides insight into interventions that are evidence-based and effective in addressing challenges with participation in self-care. As discussed in Chapter 9, a further significant implication for healthcare professionals from this programme of research is the fact that self-care and child factors, such as their motor or cognitive skills, cannot be assessed and/or treated in isolation without knowledge and understanding of other factors that play a role in children's lives.

10.4 Implications for parents

This doctoral research programme offers a contextualised account of how children's participation in self-care impacts on parents. Findings from this programme of research provide parents with insight into the reasons children might present with challenges in participating in self-care and what that means for the child and the family. It also provides parents with reassurance about the need for peer support and the value of interacting with other parents in a similar situation in order to share advice and ideas.

This programme of research has also highlighted the need for parents to have an earlier understanding of self-care independence and at the stage at which children should be able to participate and be independent in personal care activities. Along with developing parents' understanding of self-care in children, it will also help parents to identify when their children have challenges in this area, and when it would be appropriate to seek help to address this.

This information should be provided in a manner accessible to all parents, and routes for distributing this information should be widespread and should include parent groups, early years settings and child health services. Third-sector organisations or other parent

support groups also have a crucial role to play in supporting parents in accessing this information. Increasing collaborations between occupational therapy services and national and local organisations to support the development of accessible information would be helpful, and parents should also be involved in the design of any information leaflets.

10.5 Implications for children and young people

For children, this study highlights the importance of participation in self-care and the need to support all children and young people to participate in self-care activities. The novel contribution of this programme of research for children is that their ability to participate in self-care is influenced by a wide range of environmental and contextual factors alongside personal factors and that it is important to consider all these factors alongside the personal factors of the child when addressing children's participation challenges in self-care.

These findings also highlight the importance of supporting children to get the right equipment to help facilitate their participation in self-care, along with supporting them and advocating for them to get the necessary environmental adaptations and equipment where needed to assist with and facilitate their participation in self-care. The imperative now is to implement these findings in health and social care to ensure that children of all abilities have the resources they need to participate in self-care.

10.6 Implications for teaching professionals and head teachers

For teaching professionals, this study highlights the impact of children's self-care difficulties and the inability to do everyday things for themselves independently on children's school readiness and ability to participate in activities in the school environment.

These findings also indicate the need to refer children for appropriate support at an early stage so that teachers' time and children's learning are not impacted on by children who are not able to complete self-care tasks to the level required to participate in school activities.

Further, the study highlights the need for Early Years educators to be supported with sufficient resources in order to support children with school readiness. In 2022, the UK government changed the mandatory staff-to-child ratio for two-year-olds from a ratio of 1:4 to 1:5.⁴¹ Based on the feedback from teachers and the YouGov report⁴¹, this increased ratio will have a detrimental impact on children's self-care and development and is likely contribute to an increase in children who are not ready to start school. I recommend that this Early Years education ratio is reconsidered and advocated for by teachers and education leaders.

10.7 Implications for researchers

The research programme generated several points for researchers in the field of child health to consider for future studies. First, researchers need to consider how best to engage children and families in research in a way that is sensitive to their needs and does not contribute to additional stress. This will help with the retention of participants in future longitudinal cohort studies. This will be essential to capture meaningful data on children's self-care in future longitudinal cohort studies.

Feedback from parents and teachers suggests that a longitudinal cohort study to help establish milestones for self-care in children, with and without motor impairments, is still needed. In Chapter 8, it was found that many parents and teachers reported that parents were not aware of the level of self-care independence children needed to achieve before starting school and would have valued more specific information at an earlier stage to make them aware of self-care milestones that their children need to achieve.

This doctoral research programme also highlights the need for more voices of children and their families to be heard on research topics relevant to children. The qualitative study discussed in Chapter 7 gave an insight into how the lockdown restrictions associated with the COVID-19 pandemic impacted on families from a parent's perspective; however, it would have been beneficial to have had the opportunity to hear from children themselves.

Where possible, more children should be included in research about themselves, as a significant amount of research on child health and development is still presented through the eyes of researchers and/or medical professionals. It is recommended to work with groups like YPAG to discuss the best ways to include children in research about themselves.

However, it is important to note that the following areas continue to be challenges in child health research and should be carefully considered by researchers: the potential vulnerability of study participants, issues of capacity (particularly with under 5's), legal protections (especially with participants where there are safeguarding concerns), and the need to adapt study designs and outcome measures for children specific to their age and developmental stage.³⁵⁴ Further recommendations for future research are discussed below in section 10.9.

10.8 Implications for policymakers

A clear outcome from this programme is the need for children's self-care needs to be addressed earlier, rather than later in life. By creating policies highlighting the importance of self-care, and policies that address the ecological system levels discussed in Chapters 2 and 9, children in the UK are more likely to get the support they need to participate in self-care earlier in life. This could result in an increase in four-year-old children who are independent in self-care and ready for school, which in turn will improve their opportunities for academic learning.

In 1998, the Labour government outlined a plan to support child development for all children in the UK, with the flagship policy being the Sure Start programme.³⁵⁵ This was aimed at developing and enhancing the services provided for households in deprived areas to improve the health and well-being of young children. In February 2020, a review³⁵⁶ found that over 1000 Sure Start centres have been closed during the previous ten years by the Conservative government. This is more than one in three centres and happens to coincide with the increased number of children who are not ready for school, according to the Kindred Squared report⁴¹. However, it is difficult to attribute

this to be more than a coincidence, as this programme of research did not specifically investigate the impact of Sure Start centres on children's self-care.

Further, this doctoral research programme also highlights the need for children with developmental and physical disabilities, including difficulties with mobility, to receive appropriate equipment and adaptations to participate in self-care. This does not only reduce the burden on carers but allows for children to be autonomous in their own personal care.³⁵⁷ Limiting budgets for children to receive adaptive and specialist equipment or adaptations is short-sighted as it will increase the funding requirements for carers to assist children with disabilities further down the line.³⁵⁸ It is, therefore, of the utmost importance that policymakers consider funding to support children to participate in self-care. Finally, the qualitative research carried out in Chapter 7 demonstrates that policymakers should also take note of parent views in online forums in order to better understand the needs of this population.²⁵⁷

10.9 Recommendations for future research

There are a number of different directions for future research that would develop the findings presented in this thesis. Further qualitative and quantitative research is needed across the UK to ascertain the transferability of the findings from this research to practice, and to further enhance our understanding of the development of self-care in children with and without motor impairments.

While I was able to make observations on self-care during the EASIER study and analyse data in relation to factors influencing self-care in young children, data on the self-care trajectories for children with and without motor impairments is still lacking. A large-scale, longitudinal cohort study in the UK would still be useful and is recommended to address this knowledge gap. However, to make it a viable and successful study, consideration needs to be paid to the recruitment and retention of study participants. Many research centres spend a considerable amount of time cultivating relationships and building trust with potential study participants, which in turn increases their motivation to participate in research.³⁵⁹ Increasing engagement with families will also

allow family perspectives, priorities, and insights to be incorporated into the design, conduct and dissemination of the research.

The qualitative data analysis from the online parent forums, Mumsnet and Netmums, provided valuable insight into how the COVID-19 pandemic and lockdown restrictions impacted on children's self-care, along with the wider impact of these difficulties on the family. However, as this method of research relied on the natural conversations of parents online with no prompt questions, it would be helpful to supplement these findings with parent interviews. Seeking the views of more parents representing different ages, family structures, and types of impairment or disability in their children will provide us with more insight on the longer-term impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and lockdown restrictions on children's participation and self-care.

Similarly, a large-scale mixed methods study carried out in different parts of the UK, from areas with varying IMD deciles, of the impact of self-care difficulties in schools will be a valuable addition to the annual Kindred Squared school readiness reports. This can provide further and more varied insight on how self-care difficulties impact on the whole school, and more specific questions on aspects of self-care that children are delayed in or find challenging will improve the ability of healthcare professionals to provide targeted support for this group of children. Studies in schools will need to take into account teacher's workload and ways to involve teachers and schools so that they are invested in participating in the study.

The child voice is currently lacking in this area of research; therefore, the inclusion of the child voice would be extremely beneficial in enhancing our understanding of how difficulties with self-care impact on children's lives. It would also be useful for researchers to get children's perspectives on intervention studies, for example, qualitative feedback on how interventions for self-care improve their quality of life alongside quantitative data on the effectiveness of interventions. Consideration will need to be paid to how to include children with disabilities and language impairments so that all children are represented fairly.

Children who are neurodivergent or with a physical or learning disability will not always be able to answer direct questions verbally³⁶⁰, and therefore, alternative methods to interviewing should be considered. Helpful strategies that could be implemented to obtain the perspectives of children with disabilities include using alternative communication methods or visual cues. Methods can include artistic methods (e.g., drawing, painting or photography), arranging alternative locations for interviews (e.g., in schools or clubs), or allowing the child to choose someone to aid their participation in the research.^{361 362, 363} Making the availability of other communication methods known to potential participants in advance may also help alleviate parents' concerns or assumptions that their child will not be able to take part in research or contribute to the research topic.^{364, 365} Including methods that allow children to express their views, with and without the use of spoken language, will also help ensure children's own experiences and opinions can be captured without potential influence from others.

This doctoral programme of research included children with a range of disabilities, including ASD, CP, and Dyspraxia. These are similar to disabilities that have been included in previous research focussing on children's self-care. However, the majority of the evidence for interventions in self-care discussed in Chapter 4 was skewed towards one population, children with CP. It is recommended that researchers who plan to investigate the effectiveness of interventions to address self-care should focus on other clinical groups of children, too.

Further, as discussed in Chapter 4, future studies are needed to formally evaluate, at a large scale, the range of self-care interventions in practice and in later stages of development to produce summative conclusions and inform guidelines about which self-care interventions to use when and with whom. While some intervention studies were identified, overall, the evidence base about the effectiveness of interventions on children's self-care is very limited. This is especially concerning when considering the high prevalence of self-care problems observed in practice. The findings from the systematic review discussed in Chapter 4 provide proof that, in principle, self-care interventions for children can be formally evaluated.

Next, the precise relationship between the various social determinants of inequalities in child health outcomes is still an open debate for both academics and public policymakers. Further research considering the cost-of-living crisis and the impact of cuts in the NHS and social services that disproportionately affect children with a disability³⁶⁶ will add to the evidence base of the impact of low socio-economic status on children's self-care and ensure that no child is left behind.

Finally, the full extent of the long-term impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and lockdown restrictions on children's developmental outcomes is still unknown. Further research in this area is recommended to investigate the impact of the pandemic and lockdown restrictions on children's function and participation in all areas of daily life. Understanding the impact of the pandemic on children's overall development and participation is crucial in order to be able to support them in their development and health going forward.

10.10 Conclusions

This doctoral research programme generated theory in relation to children's self-care and the impact of difficulties in this area on children and their families. The research programme also expanded on existing theories of the wider factors influencing children's self-care, including the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic lockdown restrictions, and added to the evidence base of this topic. Four key themes drawn from this research programme included: 1) the need to include self-care support for children at a population-based level; 2) to consider children's views of self-care alongside quantitative findings showing mobility and cognitive skills as predictors of self-care; 3) the importance of considering the sociocultural nature of self-care; and 4) the importance of viewing and addressing children's self-care in their family context. This theory will support the assessment and intervention of children with challenges in selfcare and contribute to better care for children and families affected by these difficulties. Finally, the theory will also be helpful for healthcare professionals to support parents and children with children's self-care in the event of a future pandemic.

Appendix A - MEDLINE Search Strategy

Two key databases for therapy and rehabilitation were used for this systematic review search: MEDLINE (1946 – March 2019, via Ovid) and CINAHL (1981- January 2019, via EBSCO). The search strategy was developed to locate papers reporting on factors influencing self-care in young children, and covered two facets, 'children and young people' and 'self-care', using free text terms and thesaurus-controlled standard terms (MeSH) where available. Terms within each facet were combined using the Boolean operator 'OR', and resulting sets of papers were combined using 'AND'. For more details see the MEDLINE strategy below. The included figure details the inclusion and exclusion criteria.

The first search was conducted in March 2019.

Database: OVID MEDLINE(R) < 1946 to February Week 5 2019> Search Strategy (conducted 10 March 2019)

- 1. child/ (1601124)
- 2. Limit 1 to (English language and yr = "2007 Current". (486541)
- 3. child*.mp [mp = title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier] (2162409)

4. Limit 3 to (English language and yr = "2007 – Current" (700143)

- 5. youth.mp (52884)
- 6. Limit 5 to (English language and yr = "2007 Current" (31718)
- 7. adolescent/ (1915030)
- 8. Limit 7 to (English language and yr = "2007 Current" (691697)
- 9. exp *Infant/ (58951)
- 10. Limit 9 to (English language and yr = "2007 Current" (15943)
- 11. young people.mp (20720)
- 12. Limit 11 to (English language and yr = "2007 Current" (11085)
- 13. self care.mp (38077)
- 14. Limit 13 to (English language and yr = "2007 Current" (19981)
- 15. self care/ (31256)
- 16. Limit 15 to (English language and yr = "2007 Current" (16411)
- 17. activities of daily living.mp (68728)
- 18. Limit 17 to (English language and yr = "2007 Current" (31610)
- 19. "activities of daily living'/ (60705)
- 20. Limit 19 to (English language and yr = "2007 Current" (27049)
- 21. Personal care.mp (3691)
- 22. Limit 21 to (English language and yr = "2007 Current" (2733)
- 23. 2 or 4 or 6 or 8 or 10 or 12 (1086395)
- 24. 14 or 16 or 18 or 20 or 22 (52697)

23 and 24 (8825)

The search was subsequently updated in November 2022.

Database: OVID MEDLINE(R) < 2019 to November Week 3>

Search Strategy (conducted 15 November 2022)

- 1. child/ (1) (1193540)
- 2. Limit 1 to (English language and yr = "2019 Current". (273011)
- child*.mp [mp = title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier] (1651120)
- 4. Limit 3 to (English language and yr = "2019 Current" (357053)
- 5. youth.mp (71572)
- 6. Limit 5 to (English language and yr = "2019 Current" (24579)
- 7. adolescent/ (1472533)
- 8. Limit 7 to (English language and yr = "2019 Current" (256537)
- 9. exp *Infant/ (36386)
- 10. Limit 9 to (English language and yr = "2019 Current" (6329)
- 11. young people.mp (27227)
- 12. Limit 11 to (English language and yr = "2019 Current" (8747)
- 13. self care.mp (40630)
- 14. Limit 13 to (English language and yr = "2019 Current" (8123)

- 15. self care/ (30463)
- 16. Limit 15 to (English language and yr = "2019 Current" (4004)
- 17. activities of daily living.mp (69479)
- 18. Limit 17 to (English language and yr = "2019 Current" (12433)
- 19. "activities of daily living'/ (60068)
- 20. Limit 19 to (English language and yr = "2019 Current" (10689)
- 21. Personal care.mp (5735)
- 22. Limit 21 to (English language and yr = "2019 Current" (2216)
- 23. 2 or 4 or 6 or 8 or 10 or 12 (495882)
- 24. 14 or 16 or 18 or 20 or 22 (22252)

23 and 24 (2859)

Appendix B: Flyer for recruiting participants online for EASIER study

A Parent of a three yearold? Join our EASIER study

Are you a parent of a child around age 3 years? Ever curiously wondered about how your child's independence develops as they grow? Why not join on us on finding out!

We are currently looking for parents of children age 3 years to join a research study. The study seeks to find out how children's independence in daily activities changes as they grow older.

For some children, independence in daily activities such as dressing, washing and making decisions comes naturally. But for many they need a little help and guidance to figure out these new challenges. Understanding how children's independence develops will give us clues about how parents and professionals can best help and guide children.

We are looking for children across a wide range of abilities and levels of independence. Parents and children living in England are eligible to participate.

As part of the study one of the child's parents are asked to complete a short online questionnaire online. We ask the parent to complete this every six months, for a total of 3 years.

Please email l.brewer2@newcastle.ac.uk or see https://blogs.ncl.ac.uk/lbrewer2/2020/09/20/informationfor-parents-and-carers-on-the-easier-study/ information.

We encourage all parents irrespective of background to take part to understand and represent your diverse experiences



Appendix C: Information sheet for children participating in the EASIER study

For the parent:

This information sheet can be used to tell your child more about the research study. It is important that even young children have an opportunity to express their views and participate in research on their terms.

We believe that you know your child best and are best placed to tell your child about the research. However, we have experience of telling children about research and can help you with this. If you would like more information or help with this, please contact me at <u>l.brewer2@newcastle.ac.uk</u> to discuss this.

Lelanie

Thank you again for your interest.



Children doing Self-Care



I'm Lelanie











Appendix D: Proposed focus group questions for teachers

- 1. Do you have concerns about the children in your class's ability to carry out selfcare tasks (i.e., getting dressed, using the toilet, using cutlery etc) independently?
- 2. How long have you been a reception teacher?
- 3. Have you seen changes in children's ability to carry out self-care tasks independently in recent years?
- 4. What type of self-care difficulties do you see most often?
- 5. What do you think might be contributing to these self-care difficulties?
- 6. How does self-care difficulties impact on the child's participation in classroom activities?
- 7. How does the self-care difficulties of your pupils' impact on the running of your classroom?
- 8. How do you think children can be supported to be more independent in self-care tasks?

Appendix E: Flyer to recruit teachers for research

Join our EASIER study

We are currently looking for reception teachers to join a research study. The study seeks to find out how children's independence in daily activities changes as they grow older.

For some children, independence in daily activities such as dressing, washing and making decisions comes naturally. But for many they need a little help and guidance to figure out these new challenges. We are seeking to find out what selfcare difficulties you are seeing in the children in your classroom and how it is impacting at school.

Teachers living and working in England are eligible to participate.

As part of the study, you will be required to attend one focus (online) for a duration of 2 hours. You will receive a £50 Amazon card for classroom resources for your time.

Please email <u>l.brewer2@newcastle.ac.uk</u> for further information.

We encourage all participants irrespective of background to take part to understand and represent your diverse experiences



References:

1. McAnuff J, Brooks R, Duff C, Quinn M,], Marshall J, Kolehmainen N. Improving participation outcomes and interventions in neurodisability: co-designing future research. Child: Care, Health and Development. 2016;43(2):298-306.

2. World Health O. International classification of functioning, disability and health: children and youth version: ICF-CY. World Health Organization; 2007.

3. Spittle A, Orton J. Cerebral Palsy and developmental coordination disorder in children born preterm. Seminars in Fetal & Neonatal medicine. 2014;19:5.

4. Chien CW, Brown T, McDonald R, Yu ML. The contributing role of real-life hand skill performance in self-care function of children with and without disabilities. Child: Care, Health and Development. 2014;40(1):134-44.

5. McConachie H, Colver A, Forsyth R, Jarvis S, Parkinson K. Participation of disabled children: how should it be characterised and measured? Disability and Rehabiliation. 2006;28(18):1157-64.

6. Gee Kee E, Chien C, Rodger S, Copley J. Examing the Association between Children's Hand Skill Performance and Participation in Everyday Life. Journal of Occupational Therapy, Schools & Early Intervention. 2014;7(3-4):246-59.

7. Rosenberg L, Bart O, Ratzon N, Jarus T. Personal and Environmental Factors Predict Participation of Children With and Without Mild Developmental Disabilities. J Child Fam Stud. 2013;22:658-71.

8. Cronin A. Development in the Preschool Years. In: Cronin A, Mandich M, editors. Human development and performance throughout the lifespan. Second ed. Boston: Cengage; 2015. p. 249-78.

9. Law M. Participation in the occupations of every day life. Am J Occup Ther. 2002;560:640-9.

10. Wenger E. Communities of practice: Learning, meaning, and identity: Cambridge university press; 1999.

11. Imms C, Granlund M, Wilson PH, Steenbergen B, Rosenbaum PL, Gordon AM. Participation, both a means and an end: a conceptual analysis of processes and outcomes in childhood disability. Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology. 2017;59(1):16-25.

12. King G, Imms C, Stewart D, Freeman M, Nguyen T. A transactional framework for pediatric rehabilitation: shifting the focus to situated contexts, transactional processes, and adaptive developmental outcomes. Disability and Rehabilitation. 2018;40(15):1829-41.

13. Correia N, Carvalho H, Aguiar C. Does Participation Benefit Children's Socio-Emotional Development? Positive Associations Between Children's Participation and Self-Concept, Through Children's Perceptions. Early Education and Development.1-22.

14. Prinsloo P, Dada S, Bastable K, Raghavendra P, Granlund M. The application of the family of participation-related constructs (fPRC) framework to AAC intervention outcomes in children with complex communication needs: a scoping review. Augment Altern Commun. 2023:1-14.

15. Kalleson R, Jahnsen R, Østensjø S. Exploring participation in family and recreational activities among children with cerebral palsy during early childhood: how does it relate to motor function and parental empowerment? Disabil Rehabil. 2022;44(9):1560-70.

16. Black L, Shaunfield S, Labellarte PH, Gaebler-Spira D, Foster CC. Physical and Environmental Barriers to Mobility and Participation in Children With Medical Complexity: A Qualitative Study. Clinical Pediatrics. 2022;61(10):717-26.

17. Williams U, Law M, Hanna S, Gorter JW. Personal, environmental, and family factors of participation among young children. Child: Care, Health and Development. 2019;45(3):448-56.

18. Blanco-Martínez N, Delgado-Lobete L, Montes-Montes R, Ruiz-Pérez N, Ruiz-Pérez M, Santos-del-Riego S. Participation in everyday activities of children with and without neurodevelopmental disorders: A cross-sectional study in Spain. Children. 2020;7(10):157.

19. Piškur B, Beurskens AJ, Ketelaar M, Jongmans MJ, Casparie BM, Smeets RJ. Daily actions, challenges, and needs among Dutch parents while supporting the participation of their child with a physical disability at home, at school, and in the community: a qualitative diary study. BMC Pediatr. 2017;17(1):12.

20. Sameroff A. A Unified Theory of Development: A Dialectic Integration of Nature and Nurture. Child Development. 2010;81(1):6-22.

21. Sameroff A. The transactional model: American Psychological Association; 2009.

22. Black MM, Walker SP, Fernald LC, Andersen CT, DiGirolamo AM, Lu C, et al. Early childhood development coming of age: science through the life course. The Lancet. 2017;389(10064):77-90.

23. Shenai NG, Wadia DN. Development of a self care skills scale for children with developmental disorders: A Pilot Study. The Indian Journal of Occupational Therapy. 2014;46(1):16-21.

24. Chi I-J, Lin L-Y. Using the assessment of motor and process skills and the pediatric evaluation of disability inventory to assess self-care performance among preschool children with autism Spectrum disorder. The American Journal of Occupational Therapy. 2022;76(2).

25. Bradshaw J, Shi D, Federico A, Klaiman C, Saulnier C. The Pull-to-Sit Task: Examining Infant Postural Development in Autism Spectrum Disorder. J Pediatr. 2023;253:225-31.e2.

26. Ghassabian A, Sundaram R, Bell E, Bello SC, Kus C, Yeung E. Gross Motor Milestones and Subsequent Development. Pediatrics. 2016;138(1).

27. Carruth BR, Ziegler PJ, Gordon A, Hendricks K. Developmental milestones and self-feeding behaviors in infants and toddlers. Journal of the American Dietetic Association. 2004;104:51-6.

28. Wyndaele J-J, Kaerts N, Wyndaele M, Vermandel A. Development Signs in Healthy Toddlers in Different Stages of Toilet Training: Can They Help Define Readiness and Probability of Success? Global Pediatric Health. 2020;7:2333794X20951086.

29. Carneiro P, Crawford C, Goodman A. The impact of early cognitive and non-cognitive skills on later outcomes. 2007.

30. Welsh JA, Nix RL, Blair C, Bierman KL, Nelson KE. The development of cognitive skills and gains in academic school readiness for children from low-income families. Journal of educational psychology. 2010;102(1):43.

31. Pauen S, Bechtel - Kuehne S. How toddlers acquire and transfer tool knowledge: Developmental changes and the role of executive functions. Child Development. 2016;87(4):1233-49.

32. UNICEF. Sustainable Development Goals Geneva: UNICEF; 2024 [cited 2024 27 May 2024].

33. Gove A, Black MM. Measurement of early childhood development and learning under the Sustainable Development Goals. Journal of Human Development and Capabilities. 2016;17(4):599-605.

34. Schiariti V, Simeonsson RJ, Hall K. Promoting developmental potential in early childhood: a global framework for health and education. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. 2021;18(4):2007.

35. Smits D, Ketelaar M, Gorter J, Van Schie P, Dallmeijer A, Jongmans M, Lindeman E. Development of daily activities in school age children with cerebral palsy. Research in Developmental Disabilities 2011;32:222-34.

36. Khetani M, Graham J, Alvord C. Community participation patterns among preschool-aged children who have received Part C early intervention services. . Child: Care, Health and Development. 2013;390:490-9.

37. Rosenberg L, Ratzon N, Jarus T, Bart O. Perceived environmental restrictions for the participation of children with mild developmental disabilities. Child: Care, Health and Development. 2012;38(8):836-43.

38. King G, Law M, Petrenchik T, Hurley P. Psychosocial determinants of out of school activity participation for children with and without physical disabilities. Physical & Occupational Therapy in Pediatrics. 2013;33:384-404.

39. Nair MKC, Radhakrishnan R, Olusanya BO. Promoting school readiness in children with developmental disabilities in LMICs. Front Public Health. 2023;11:993642.

40. Forst H, Sylvanus T. Impact of Occupational Therapy on Self-Care After Selective Dorsal Rhizotomy Among Children With Cerebral Palsy. Am J Occup Ther. 2022;76(6).

41. Squared K. 2022 School Readiness Report. London: YouGov; 2022.

42. Summers J, Larkin D, Dewey D. Activities of daily living in children with developmental coordination disorder: Dressing, personal hygiene, and eating skills. Human Movement Science. 2008;27(2):215-29.

43. Clarke J. All dressed up. Practical Pre-School. 2019;2019(Sup220):5-6.

44. Sezici E, Akkaya DD. The effect of preschool children's motor skills on self-care skills. Early Child Development and Care. 2020;190(6):963-70.

45. Allard A, Fellowes A, Shilling V, Janssesn A, Beresford B, Morris C. Key health outcomes for children and young people with neurodisability: qualitative research with young people and parents. BMJ Open. 2014;4.

46. Department of Health. Annual report of the Chief Medical Officer 2012. Our children deserve better: prevention pays. 2013.

47. Morris C, Simkiss D, Busk M, Morris M, Allard A, Denness J, et al. Setting research priorities to improve the health of children and young people with neurodisability: a British Academy of Childhood Disability-James Lind Alliance Research Priority Setting Partnership. BMJ Open. 2015;5(1).

48. Allard A, Fellowes A, Shilling V, Janssens A, Beresford B, Morris C. Key health outcomes for children and young people with neurodisability: qualitative research with young people and parents. BMJ Open. 2014;4(4).

49. Beresford B, Clarke S, Maddison J. Therapy interventions for children with neurodisabilities: A qualitative scoping study. Health Technology Assessment. 2018;22:1-150.

50. van der Linde BW, van Netten JJ, Otten E, Postema K, Geuze RH, Schoemaker MM. A systematic review of instruments for assessment of capacity in activities of daily living in children with developmental co-ordination disorder. Child: Care, Health and Development. 2015;41(1):23-34.

51. Bartlett D, Chiarello L, Westcott McCoy S, Palisano R, Jeffries L, LaForme Fiss A, Wilk P. Determinants of self-care participation of young children with cerebral palsy. Developmental Neurorehabiliation. 2014;17(6):403-13.

52. Davies S, Lemer C, Strelitz J, Weil L. Our children deserve better: Prevention pays. Lancet. 2013;382:1383-4.

53. Ostensjo S, Carlberg E, Vollestad N. Motor impairments in young children with cerebral palsy: Relationship to gross motor function and everyday activities. Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology. 2004;46:580-94.

54. Walton S, Bedford H. Parents' use and views of the national standard Personal Child Health Record: a survey in two primary care trusts. Child: Care, Health and Development. 2007;33(6):744-8.

55. Hampshire AJ, Blair ME, Crown NS, Avery AJ, Williams EI. Variation in how mothers, health visitors and general practitioners use the personal child health record. Child: Care, Health and Development. 2004;30(4):307-16.

56. d'Entremont L, Gregor M, Kirou E, Nelligan L, Dennis D. Developmental milestones for productivity occupations in children and youth: An integrative review. Work. 2017;56:75-89.

57. Brown KA, Parikh S, Patel DR. Understanding basic concepts of developmental diagnosis in children. Transl Pediatr. 2020;9(Suppl 1):S9-s22.

58. Salmon G, Cleave H, Samuel C. Development of Multi-agency Referral Pathways for Attention-deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, Developmental Coordination Disorder and Autistic Spectrum Disorders: Reflections on the Process and Suggestions for New Ways of Working. Clinical Child Psychology and Psychiatry. 2006;11(1):63-81.

59. Sapiets SJ, Hastings RP, Stanford C, Totsika V. Families' Access to Early Intervention and Supports for Children With Developmental Disabilities. Journal of Early Intervention. 2023;45(2):103-21.

60. Armitage S, McColl E, Kolehmainen N, Rapley T. Describing pre-appointment written materials as an intervention in the context of children's NHS therapy services: A national survey. Health Expectations. 2021;24(2):386-98.

61. Therapists WFoO, Mackenzie L, Coppola S, Alvarez L, Cibule L, Maltsev S, et al. International occupational therapy research priorities: A delphi study. OTJR: occupation, participation and health. 2017;37(2):72-81.

62. Tudge JRH, Merçon-Vargas EA, Payir A. Urie Bronfenbrenner's Bioecological Theory: Its Development, Core Concepts, and Critical Issues. In: Adamsons K, Few-Demo AL, Proulx C, Roy K, editors. Sourcebook of Family Theories and Methodologies: A Dynamic Approach. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2022. p. 235-54.

63. Bronfenbrenner U. Ecology of the family as a context for human development: Research perspectives. Developmental Psychology. 1986;22(6):723-42.

64. Vaezghasemi M, Vogt T, Lindkvist M, Pulkki-Brännström AM, Richter Sundberg L, Lundahl L, et al. Multifaceted determinants of social-emotional problems in preschool children in Sweden: An ecological systems theory approach. SSM Popul Health. 2023;21:101345.

65. de Figueiredo CS, Sandre PC, Portugal LCL, Mázala-de-Oliveira T, da Silva Chagas L, Raony Í, et al. COVID-19 pandemic impact on children and adolescents' mental health: Biological, environmental, and social factors. Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry. 2021;106:110171.

66. Spinelli M, Lionetti F, Setti A, Fasolo M. Parenting Stress During the COVID-19 Outbreak: Socioeconomic and Environmental Risk Factors and Implications for Children Emotion Regulation. Family Process. 2021;60(2):639-53.

67. Crawford M. Ecological Systems Theory: Exploring the Development of the Theoretical Framework as Conceived by Bronfenbrenner Article Details. Journal of Public Health Issues and Practices. 2020;4:170.

68. International classification of functioning, disability, and health : ICF. Version 1.0. Geneva : World Health Organization, [2001] ©2001; 2001.

69. Tudge J, Rosa EM. Bronfenbrenner's Ecological Theory. The Encyclopedia of Child and Adolescent Development. p. 1-11.

70. Chachar AS, Younus S, Ali W. Developmental Understanding of Death and Grief Among Children During COVID-19 Pandemic: Application of Bronfenbrenner's Bioecological Model. Frontiers in Psychiatry. 2021;12.

71. Ben-David B, Nel N. Applying BronfenBrenner 's ecological model to identify the negative influences facing children with physical disabilities in rural areas in Kwa-Zulu Natal. Africa Education Review. 2013;10(3):410-30.

72. Reardon SF. The widening academic achievement gap between the rich and the poor: New evidence and possible explanations. Whither opportunity. 2011;1(1):91-116.

73. Eyre ELJ, Duncan MJ, Birch SL, Cox VM. Low socio-economic environmental determinants of children's physical activity in Coventry, UK: A Qualitative study in parents. Preventive Medicine Reports. 2014;1:32-42.

74. Tish S LI, Tal P, Peleg A. Parent-pre-school teacher relations during the COVID-19 pandemic – Promoters and undermining factors. PEDAGOGICAL RES. 2023;8(1).

75. Steed EA, Phan N, Leech N, Charlifue-Smith R. Remote Delivery of Services for Young Children With Disabilities During the Early Stages of the COVID-19 Pandemic in the United States. Journal of Early Intervention. 2022;44(2):110-29.

76. Viner R, Russell S, Saulle R, Croker H, Stansfield C, Packer J, et al. School Closures During Social Lockdown and Mental Health, Health Behaviors, and Well-being Among Children and Adolescents During the First COVID-19 Wave: A Systematic Review. JAMA Pediatrics. 2022;176(4):400-9.

77. Raw JAL, Waite P, Pearcey S, Shum A, Patalay P, Creswell C. Examining changes in parent-reported child and adolescent mental health throughout the UK's first COVID-19 national lockdown. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry. 2021;62(12):1391-401.

78. Mophosho M, Widdows J, Gomez MT. Relationships between adolescent children and their siblings with cerebral palsy: A pilot study. Journal on Developmental Disabilities. 2009;15(3):81.

79. Fraser C, Harron K, Barlow J, Bennett S, Woods G, Shand J, et al. Variation in health visiting contacts for children in England: cross-sectional analysis of the 2-2½ year review using administrative data (Community Services Dataset, CSDS). BMJ Open. 2022;12(2):e053884. 80. Chadwick B, Hayden P, Sinha I. The cost of the clinic visit - a short research project exploring the cost of clinic appointments, financial and otherwise, to families visiting Alder Hey Children's Hospital. European Respiratory Journal. 2020;56(suppl 64):589.

81. St. John B, Ausderau K. Relationships Between Household Income and Functional Independent Behavior for Children With Autism. OTJR: Occupational Therapy Journal of Research. 2021;41(4):243-50.

82. Ellaway A, Kirk A, Macintyre S, Mutrie N. Nowhere to play? The relationship between the location of outdoor play areas and deprivation in Glasgow. Health & Place. 2007;13(2):557-61.

83. Jensen SKG, Berens AE, Nelson CA. Effects of poverty on interacting biological systems underlying child development. The Lancet Child & Adolescent Health. 2017;1(3):225-39.

84. Bambra C, Riordan R, Ford J, Matthews F. The COVID-19 pandemic and health inequalities. Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health. 2020;74(11):964-8.

85. Scott S, McGowan VJ, Visram S. 'I'm Gonna Tell You about How Mrs Rona Has Affected Me'. Exploring Young People's Experiences of the COVID-19 Pandemic in North East England: A Qualitative Diary-Based Study. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. 2021;18(7):3837.

86. Lee K, Johnson AS. Child Development in Cultural Contexts: Implications of Cultural Psychology for Early Childhood Teacher Education. Early Childhood Education Journal. 2007;35(3):233-43.

87. Locke JY, Campbell MA, Kavanagh D. Can a Parent Do Too Much for Their Child? An Examination By Parenting Professionals of the Concept of Overparenting. Journal of Psychologists and Counsellors in Schools. 2012;22(2):249-65.

88. Nguyen TTT. Vietnamese culture in chopstick use compared to western culture in utensil use. Rocznik Lubuski. 2020;46(2):103-16.

89. Scharf RJ, Zheng C, Briscoe Abath C, Martin-Herz SP. Developmental Concerns in Children Coming to the United States as Refugees. Pediatrics. 2021;147(6).

90. Iacobucci G. Poverty, public health cuts, and Brexit risk halting progress on child health, college warns. BMJ. 2019;364:I325.

91. Singh S, Roy D, Sinha K, Parveen S, Sharma G, Joshi G. Impact of COVID-19 and lockdown on mental health of children and adolescents: A narrative review with recommendations. Psychiatry Res. 2020;293:113429.

92. Macyko SJ. The Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Children/Youth With Special Health Care Needs: A School Nurse's Perspective. Journal of Pediatric Health Care. 2023;37(2):117-21.

93. Cankurtaran D, Tezel N, Yildiz SY, Celik G, Unlu Akyuz E. Evaluation of the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on children with cerebral palsy, caregivers' quality of life, and caregivers' fear of COVID-19 with telemedicine. Irish Journal of Medical Science (1971 -). 2021;190(4):1473-80.

94. Isaacs B, Clark C, Correia S, Flannery J. Utility of Logic Models to Plan Quality of Life Outcome Evaluations. Journal of Policy and Practice in Intellectual Disabilities. 2009;6(1):52-61.

95. Baxter SK, Blank L, Woods HB, Payne N, Rimmer M, Goyder E. Using logic model methods in systematic review synthesis: describing complex pathways in referral management interventions. BMC Medical Research Methodology. 2014;14(1):62.

96. Wasti SP, Simkhada P, van Teijlingen ER, Sathian B, Banerjee I. The Growing Importance of Mixed-Methods Research in Health. Nepal J Epidemiol. 2022;12(1):1175-8.

97. Creswell JW, Clark VLP. Designing and conducting mixed methods research: Sage publications; 2017.

98. Dawadi S, Shrestha S, Giri RA. Mixed-methods research: A discussion on its types, challenges, and criticisms. Journal of Practical Studies in Education. 2021;2(2):25-36.

99. Palmer M, Beckley-Hoelscher N, Shearer J, Kostyrka-Allchorne K, Robertson O, Koch M, et al. The Effectiveness and Cost-Effectiveness of a Universal Digital Parenting Intervention Designed and Implemented During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Evidence From a Rapid-Implementation Randomized Controlled Trial Within a Cohort. J Med Internet Res. 2023;25:e44079.

100. Venkatesh V, Brown SA, Bala H. Bridging the qualitative-quantitative divide: Guidelines for conducting mixed methods research in information systems. MIS quarterly. 2013:21-54.

101. Creswell JW. A concise introduction to mixed methods research: SAGE publications; 2021.

102. Creswell J. Research Design: Qualitative, Quantitative and Mixed Method Approaches. Thousand Oaks, USA: Sage Publications; 2014.

103. Russell S. Social networking research opportunities: the example of 'Netmums'. Journal of Research in Nursing. 2012;17(2):195-206.

104. Croucher L, Mertan E, Shafran R, Bennett SD. The Use of Mumsnet by Parents of Young People With Mental Health Needs: Qualitative Investigation. JMIR Ment Health. 2020;7(9):e18271.

105. Howlett M. Looking at the 'field' through a Zoom lens: Methodological reflections on conducting online research during a global pandemic. Qualitative Research. 2022;22(3):387-402.

106. Squared K. Kindred Squared: School Readiness. In: YouGov, editor. London: Kindred Squared; 2021.

107. Rorty R, Putnam H, Conant J, Helfrich G. What is pragmatism? Think. 2004;3(8):71-88.

108. O'Cathain A, Murphy E, Nicholl J. Why, and how, mixed methods research is undertaken in health services research in England: a mixed methods study. BMC Health Services Research. 2007;7(1):85.

109. Kaushik V, Walsh CA. Pragmatism as a research paradigm and its implications for social work research. Social sciences. 2019;8(9):255.

110. Patton MQ. Qualitative Research. Encyclopedia of Statistics in Behavioral Science2005.

111. National Collaborating Centre for Women's and Children's Health (UK). NICE Clinical Guidelines. London: NICE; 2012.

112. NHS GGaC. Kids/LifeSkills/Self-Care UK [Available from:

https://www.nhsggc.org.uk/kids/life-skills/self-

care/#:~:text=Learning%20to%20look%20after%20yourself,toilet%20and%20eating%20 and%20drinking.

113. Nuffield Council on Bioethics. Children and clinical research: ethical issues. London2015.

114. Whitley G, Siriwardena A, Redsell S, Lord B, Tanveer H, Bujor T, et al. 236 Developing a Young Persons Advisory Group (YPAG) to inform the design of a study to improve pre-hospital pain management for Children and Young People (CYP). BMJ Open. 2022;12(Suppl 1):A2-A3.

115. Pareek M, Bangash MN, Pareek N, Pan D, Sze S, Minhas JS, et al. Ethnicity and
COVID-19: an urgent public health research priority. The Lancet. 2020;395(10234):14212.

116. Sinha R, Aramburo A, Deep A, Bould E-J, Buckley HL, Draper ES, et al. Caring for critically ill adults in paediatric intensive care units in England during the COVID-19 pandemic: planning, implementation and lessons for the future. Archives of Disease in Childhood. 2021;106(6):548-57.

117. Aldiss S, Gibson F, Vindrola-Padros C, Wray J, Kelly P. 'They could not see our eyes, they cannot see our faces, they do not know who we are and that is hard': a qualitative interview study with staff caring for children and families in a UK specialist children's hospital during the COVID-19 pandemic. BMJ Open. 2023;13(6):e070048.

118. World Health Organisation. Internation Classification of Function, Disability and Health - Children and Youth version. Geneva: The World Health Organization; 2007.
119. Ouzzani M, Hammady H, Fedorowicz Z, Elmagarmid A. Rayyan—a web and mobile app for systematic reviews. Systematic reviews. 2016;5:1-10.

120. Centre for Reviews and Dissemination. Systematic Reviews - CRD-s guidance for undertaking reviews in healthcare. York TUo, editor. York2008.

121. Higgins JT, J; Chandler, J; Cumpston, M; Li, T; Page, MJ: Welch, VA. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews: Cochrane; 2021.

122. Viswanathan M, Berkman ND. Development of the RTI item bank on risk of bias and precision of observational studies. Journal of Clinical Epidemiology. 2012;65(2):163-78.

123. Colver A, Thyen U, Arnaud C, Beckung E, Fauconnier J, Marcelli M, et al. Association Between Participation in Life Situations of Children With Cerebral Palsy and Their Physical, Social, and Attitudinal Environment: A Cross-Sectional Multicenter European Study. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation. 2012;93(12):2154-64.

124. Dang VM, Colver A, Dickinson HO, Marcelli M, Michelsen SI, Parkes J, et al. Predictors of participation of adolescents with cerebral palsy: A European multi-centre longitudinal study. Research in Developmental Disabilities. 2015;36:551-64.

125. Cooper AN, Anderson V, Greenham M, Hearps S, Hunt RW, Mackay MT, et al. Motor function daily living skills 5 years after paediatric arterial ischaemic stroke: a prospective longitudinal study. Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology. 2019;61(2):161-7.

126. Mota LAT, Silva DRB, Pfeifer LI. Functional outcomes in children related to selfcare, mobility, and social function after stroke in early childhood: a cohort study. Arquivos de Neuro-psiquiatria. 2022;80:13-22.

127. Delgado-Lobete L, Montes-Montes R, Pértega-Díaz S, Santos-Del-Riego S, Hartman E, Schoemaker MM. Motor performance and daily participation in children with and without probable developmental coordination disorder. Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology. 2022;64(2):220-7.

128. Missiuna C, Moll S, King G, Law M. A tracjectory of troubles: parents' impressions of the impact of developmental coordination disorder. Physical & Occupational Therapy in Pediatrics. 2007;27:81-101.

129. Wang T, Tseng M, Wilson B, Hu F. Functional performance of children with developmental coordination disorder at home and at school. Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology. 2009;51(10):817-25.

130. Alaniz ML, Galit E, Necesito CI, Rosario ER. Hand Strength, Handwriting, and Functional Skills in Children With Autism. The American Journal of Occupational Therapy. 2015;69(4):6904220030p1-p9.

131. Chi IJ, Lin LY. Relationship between the performance of self ⁻ care and visual perception among young children with autism Spectrum disorder and typical developing children. Autism Research. 2021;14(2):315-23.

132. Di Rezze B, Duku E, Szatmari P, Volden J, Georgiades S, Zwaigenbaum L, et al. Examining trajectories of daily living skills over the preschool years for children with autism spectrum disorder. Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders. 2019;49:4390-9.

133. Fisher A, Engel C, Geist R, Lillie K, Lutman S, Travers BG. Brief Report: Postural Balance and Daily Living Skills in Children and Adolescents with Autism. Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders. 2018;48(9):3210-5.

134. Green SA, Carter AS. Predictors and Course of Daily Living Skills Development in Toddlers with Autism Spectrum Disorders. Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders. 2014;44(2):256-63.

135. Holloway JM, Long TM, Biasini FJ. The intersection of gross motor abilities and participation in children with autism spectrum disorder. Infants and young children. 2021;34(3):178.

136. Jasmin E, Couture M, McKinley P, Reid G, Fombonne E, Gisel E. Sensori-motor and Daily Living Skills of Preschool Children with Autism Spectrum Disorders. Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders. 2009;39(2):231-41.

137. Kaur R, Boobna T, Kallingal P. Effect of Covid-19 lockdown on indian children with autism. Res Dev Disabil. 2022;125:104230.

138. Naik SJ, Vajaratkar PV. Understanding parents' difficulties in executing activities of daily living of children with autism spectrum disorder: A qualitative descriptive study. The Indian Journal of Occupational Therapy. 2019;51(3):107.

139. Richard III PR, Noell GH. Teaching children with autism to tie their shoes using video prompt-models and backward chaining. Developmental neurorehabilitation. 2019;22(8):509-15.

140. Travers BG, Lee L, Klans N, Engeldinger A, Taylor D, Ausderau K, et al. Associations Among Daily Living Skills, Motor, and Sensory Difficulties in Autistic and Nonautistic Children. The American Journal of Occupational Therapy. 2022;76(2).

141. Voulgarakis HM, Saulnier CA, Bendell-Estroff D, Bush JP, Field TM. Deficits in socialization and daily living skills associated with gastrointestinal symptoms in children with autism spectrum disorder. Children's health care. 2021;50(4):398-412.

142. Snider L, Majnemer A, Mazer B, Campbell S, Bos AF. Prediction of motor and functional outcomes in infants born preterm assessed at term. Pediatr Phys Ther. 2009;21(1):2-11.

143. Sullivan MC, Msall ME. Functional Performance of Preterm Children at Age 4. Journal of Pediatric Nursing. 2007;22(4):297-309.

144. Vieira MT, Silva Jd, Frônio JdS. Functional capacity, independence and home affordances of premature children attending daycare centers. Fisioterapia em Movimento. 2017;30:85-95.

145. Donlau M, Mattsson S, Glad-Mattsson G. Children with myelomeningocele and independence in the toilet activity: A pilot study. Scandinavian Journal of Occupational Therapy. 2013;20(1):64-70.

146. Ferreira FR, Bexiga FP, Martins VVdM, Favero FM, Sartor CD, Artilheiro MC, Voos MC. Independência funcional de crianças de um a quatro anos com mielomeningocele. Fisioterapia e Pesquisa. 2018;25:196-201.

147. Steinhart S, Kornitzer E, Baron AB, Wever C, Shoshan L, Katz-Leurer M. Independence in self-care activities in children with myelomeningocele: exploring factors based on the International Classification of Function model. Disability and Rehabilitation. 2018;40(1):62-8.

148. Chen K-L, Tseng M-H, Hu F-C, Koh C-L. Pediatric Evaluation of Disability Inventory: A cross-cultural comparison of daily function between Taiwanese and American children. Research in Developmental Disabilities. 2010;31(6):1590-600.

149. Kara OK, Cetin SY, Turker D, Yıkılmaz SK, Tamer S, Kara K. The long-term impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on children with ADHD in terms of participation, support, and barriers at home. Journal of Pediatric Nursing. 2023;72:1-8.

150. Irwin LN, Soto EF, Chan ESM, Miller CE, Carrington-Forde S, Groves NB, Kofler MJ. Activities of daily living and working memory in pediatric attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). Child Neuropsychology. 2021;27(4):468-90.

151. Dolva A-S, Kleiven J. Development of Functional Performance in Children with Down Syndrome: A Longitudinal Age-Cohort Study Applying the PEDI Domains.

International Journal of Disability, Development and Education. 2021;68(1):136-49.
152. Babik I, Movva N, Baraldi Cunha A, Lobo MA. Development of self-feeding behavior in children with typical development and those with arm movement impairments. Developmental Psychobiology. 2019;61(8):1191-203.

153. Joubert F, Franzsen D. Self-care of children with arthrogryposis in Gauteng, South Africa. British Journal of Occupational Therapy. 2015;79(1):35-41.

154. Halbig M, Horneff G. Improvement of functional ability in children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis by treatment with etanercept. Rheumatology International. 2009;30(2):229-38.

155. Şimşek TT, Türkücüoğlu B, Tezcan S. Examination of the relationship between body mass index (BMI) and functional independence level in children with spina bifida. Developmental Neurorehabilitation. 2015;18(3):149-54.

156. Markowitz JT, Rofail D, Vandenberg G, Baldasaro J, Sanchez RJ, Pignolo RJ, et al. "I Can't Take off My Shirt or Do My Own Hair"—A Qualitative Investigation of the Symptoms and Impact Experience of Children and Adolescents with Fibrodysplasia Ossificans Progressiva (FOP). Advances in Therapy. 2022;39(6):2796-805.

157. Ireland PJ, McGill J, Zankl A, Ware RS, Pacey V, Ault J, et al. Functional performance in young Australian children with achondroplasia. Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology. 2011;53(10):944-50.

158. Lopes O, Frônio J, Bergmann A, Lemos R, Defilipo É, Chagas P. Functioning of Children and Adolescents with Cancer. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. 2022;19(15):9762.

159. Gaser D, Peters C, Götte M, Oberhoffer-Fritz R, Feuchtinger T, Schmid I, et al. Analysis of self-reported activities of daily living, motor performance and physical activity among children and adolescents with cancer: Baseline data from a randomised controlled trial assessed shortly after diagnosis of leukaemia or non-Hodgkin lymphoma. European Journal of Cancer Care. 2022;31(2):e13559.

160. Kilincaslan A, Kocas S, Bozkurt S, Kaya I, Derin S, Aydin R. Daily living skills in children with autism spectrum disorder and intellectual disability: A comparative study from Turkey. Research in Developmental Disabilities. 2019;85:187-96.

161. Saquetto MB, de Santana Bispo A, da Silva Barreto C, Gonçalves KA, Queiroz RS, da Silva CM, Gomes Neto M. Addition of an educational programme for primary caregivers to rehabilitation improves self-care and mobility in children with cerebral palsy: a randomized controlled trial. Clin Rehabil. 2018;32(7):878-87.

162. Chaovalit S, Dodd KJ, Taylor NF. Sit - to - stand training for self - care and mobility in children with cerebral palsy: a randomized controlled trial. Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology. 2021;63(12):1476-82.

163. Figueiredo PR, Mancini MC, Feitosa AM, Teixeira CM, Guerzoni VP, Elvrum AKG, et al. Hand–arm bimanual intensive therapy and daily functioning of children with bilateral cerebral palsy: a randomized controlled trial. Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology. 2020;62(11):1274-82.

164. Wu W-C, Hung J-W, Tseng C-Y, Huang Y-C. Group Constraint-Induced Movement Therapy for Children With Hemiplegic Cerebral Palsy: A Pilot Study. American Journal of Occupational Therapy. 2013;67(2):201-8.

165. Josenby AL, Wagner P, Jarnlo G-B, Westbom L, Nordmark E. Functional performance in self-care and mobility after selective dorsal rhizotomy: a 10-year practice-based follow-up study. Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology. 2015;57(3):286-93.

166. Blank R, von Kries R, Hesse S, von Voss H. Conductive education for children with cerebral palsy: effects on hand motor functions relevant to activities of daily living. Archives of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation. 2008;89(2):251-9.

167. Hamer-Rohrer U, Smit N, Burger M. The effect of a repeated course of Constraint-Induced Movement Therapy, implemented in the home environment, on the functional skills of a young child with cerebral palsy. South African Journal of Occupational Therapy. 2012;42(3):2-6.

168. Rigby PJ, Ryan SE, Campbell KA. Effect of adaptive seating devices on the activity performance of children with cerebral palsy. Archives of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation. 2009;90(8):1389-95.

169. Sorsdahl AB, Moe-Nilssen R, Kaale HK, Rieber J, Strand LI. Change in basic motor abilities, quality of movement and everyday activities following intensive, goal-directed, activity-focused physiotherapy in a group setting for children with cerebral palsy. BMC Pediatrics. 2010;10(1):26.

170. Park E-Y, Kim E-J. Effect of the frequency of therapy on the performance of activities of daily living in children with cerebral palsy. Journal of Physical Therapy Science. 2018;30(5):707-10.

171. Cho M, Kim D, Yang Y. Effects of visual perceptual intervention on visual-motor integration and activities of daily living performance of children with cerebral palsy. Journal of Physical Therapy Science. 2015;27(2):411-3.

172. Dogruoz Karatekin B, İcagasioglu A, Sahin SN, Kacar G, Bayram F. How Did the Lockdown Imposed Due to COVID-19 Affect Patients With Cerebral Palsy? Pediatr Phys Ther. 2021;33(4):246-9.

173. Kolit Z, Temizkan E, Kara ÖK, Kara K, Şahin S. Occupational performance and participation in children with developmental coordination disorders before and during Covid-19. Child: Care, Health and Development.n/a(n/a).

174. Verkerk G, Jeukens-Visser M, van Wassenaer-Leemhuis A, Koldewijn K, Kok J, Nollet F. Assessing independency in daily activities in very preterm children at preschool age. Research in Developmental Disabilities. 2013;34(7):2085-91.

175. Tseng M-H, Chen K-L, Shieh J-Y, Lu L, Huang C-Y. The determinants of daily function in children with cerebral palsy. Research in Developmental Disabilities. 2011;32(1):235-45.

176. Jovellar-Isiegas P, Resa Collados I, Jaén-Carrillo D, Roche-Seruendo LE, Cuesta García C. Sensory processing, functional performance and quality of life in unilateral cerebral palsy children: a cross-sectional study. International journal of environmental research and public health. 2020;17(19):7116.

177. Pavão SL, Lima CRG, Rocha NACF. Association between sensory processing and activity performance in children with cerebral palsy levels I-II on the gross motor function classification system. Brazilian Journal of Physical Therapy. 2021;25(2):194-202.

178. Montes-Montes R, Delgado-Lobete L, Rodríguez-Seoane S. Developmental coordination disorder, motor performance, and daily participation in children with attention deficit and hyperactivity disorder. Children. 2021;8(3):187.

179. Wilson CL, Gawade PL, Ness KK. Impairments that Influence Physical Function among Survivors of Childhood Cancer. Children. 2015;2(1):1-36.

180. Tseng M, Chen K, Shieh J, Lu L, Huang C. The determinants of daily function in children with cerebral palsy. Research in Developmental Disabilities. 2011;32(1):235-45.
181. Chiarello LA, Palisano RJ, McCoy SW, Bartlett DJ, Wood A, Chang H-J, et al. Child engagement in daily life: a measure of participation for young children with cerebral palsy. Disability and Rehabilitation. 2014;36(21):1804-16.

182. Song C-S. Relationships between Physical and Cognitive Functioning and Activities of Daily Living in Children with Cerebral Palsy. Journal of Physical Therapy Science. 2013;25(5):619-22.

183. Vieira MT, Silva, Joselici da and Frônio, Jaqueline da Silva Functional capacity, independence and home affordances of premature children attending daycare centers.
Fisioterapia em Movimento. 2017;30(1):pp. 85-95.

184. Alemdar D, Polat S. The Effect that Care Given to Preschool Children by Different Individuals has on the Quality of Life and Self-Care Skills. 2014;7.

185. Assis-Madeira EA, Carvalho SG, Blascovi-Assis SM. Desempenho funcional de crianças com paralisia cerebral de níveis socioeconômicos alto e baixo. Revista Paulista de Pediatria. 2013;31:51-7.

186. Delgado-Lobete L, Montes-Montes R, Pértega-Díaz S, Santos-del-Riego S, Cruz-Valiño J-M, Schoemaker MM. Interrelation of Individual, Country and Activity Constraints in Motor Activities of Daily Living among Typically Developing Children: A Cross-sectional Comparison of Spanish and Dutch Populations. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. 2020;17(5):1705.

187. de Brito Brandão M, Mancini MC, Vaz DV, Pereira de Melo AP, Fonseca ST. Adapted version of constraint-induced movement therapy promotes functioning in children with cerebral palsy: a randomized controlled trial. Clinical Rehabilitation. 2010;24(7):639-47. 188. de Brito Brandão M, Gordon AM, Mancini MC. Functional Impact of Constraint Therapy and Bimanual Training in Children With Cerebral Palsy: A Randomized Controlled Trial. American Journal of Occupational Therapy. 2012;66(6):672-81.

189. Kwon H-Y, Ahn S-Y. Effect of task-oriented training and high-variability practice on gross motor performance and activities of daily living in children with spastic diplegia. Journal of Physical Therapy Science. 2016;28(10):2843-8.

190. Park ES, Rha D-W, Shin JS, Kim S, Jung S. Effects of Hippotherapy on Gross Motor Function and Functional Performance of Children with Cerebral Palsy. Yonsei Med J. 2014;55(6):1736-42.

191. Şimşek TT, Türkücüoğlu B, Çokal N, Üstünbaş G, Şimşek İ E. The effects of Kinesio[®] taping on sitting posture, functional independence and gross motor function in children with cerebral palsy. Disabil Rehabil. 2011;33(21-22):2058-63.

192. James S, Ziviani J, Ware RS, Boyd RN. Relationships between activities of daily living, upper limb function, and visual perception in children and adolescents with unilateral cerebral palsy. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2015;57(9):852-7.

193. Adler C, Rauchenzauner M, Staudt M, Berweck S. Activities of daily living in children with hemiparesis: influence of cognitive abilities and motor competence. Neuropediatrics. 2014;45(6):341-5.

194. Alemdaroğlu-Gürbüz İ, Karakuş AB. Examining mobility, independence, motor function, participation, and parental stress in a school-aged Turkish cerebral palsy population: a cross-sectional study. Neurological Sciences. 2019;40:2493-500.

195. Palisano RJ, Chiarello LA, Avery L, Hanna S, Team OTS. Self-care trajectories and reference percentiles for children with cerebral palsy. Physical & Occupational Therapy In Pediatrics. 2020;40(1):62-78.

196. Rosenberg L, Bart O. Different pathways to children's enjoyment of participation in daily activities. Scandinavian Journal of Occupational Therapy. 2016;23(5):366-73.

197. Van der Linde BW, Van Netten JJ, Otten B, Postema K, Geuze RH, Schoemaker MM. Activities of Daily Living in Children With Developmental Coordination Disorder: Performance, Learning, and Participation. Physical Therapy. 2015;95(11):11.

198. Keller JW, Fahr A, Lieber J, Balzer J, van Hedel HJ. Impact of upper extremity impairment and trunk control on self-care independence in children with upper motor neuron lesions. Physical therapy. 2021;101(8):pzab112.

199. Parkes J, McCullough N, Madden A. To what extent do children with cerebral palsy participate in everyday life situations? Health & Social Care in the Community. 2010;18(3):304-15.

200. Burgess A, Boyd RN, Chatfield MD, Ziviani J, Sakzewski L. Self-care performance in children with cerebral palsy: a longitudinal study. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2020;62(9):1061-7.

201. Kuijper MA, van der Wilden GJ, Ketelaar M, Gorter JW. Manual Ability Classification System for Children With Cerebral Palsy in a School Setting and Its Relationship to Home Self-Care Activities. American Journal of Occupational Therapy. 2010;64(4):614-20.

202. Ohrvall A, Eliasson A, Lowing K, Odman P, Krumlinde-Sundholm L. Self-care and mobility skills in children with cerebral palsy, related to their manual ability and gross motor function classifications. Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology. 2010(52):1048-55.

203. Pavão SL, Nunes GS, Santos AN, Rocha NACF. Relationship between static postural control and the level of functional abilities in children with cerebral palsy. Brazilian journal of physical therapy. 2014;18(4):300-7.

204. Kusumoto Y, Takaki K, Matsuda T, Nitta O. Relevant factors of self-care in children and adolescents with spastic cerebral palsy. PloS one. 2021;16(7):e0254899.
205. Park E-Y. Gross Motor Function and Activities of Daily Living in Children and Adolescents with Cerebral Palsy: a Longitudinal Study. Journal of Developmental and Physical Disabilities. 2017.

206. Yela-González N, Santamaría-Vázquez M, Ortiz-Huerta JH. Activities of daily living, playfulness and sensory processing in children with autism spectrum disorder: A Spanish study. Children. 2021;8(2):61.

207. Ko EJ, Sung IY, Moon HJ, Yuk JS, Kim H-S, Lee NH. Effect of group-task-oriented training on gross and fine motor function, and activities of daily living in children with spastic cerebral palsy. Physical & Occupational Therapy In Pediatrics. 2020;40(1):18-30.
208. Ketelaar M, Gorter J, Westers P, Hanna S, Verhoef M. Developmental Trajectories of Mobility and Self-Care Capabilities in Young Children with Cerebral Palsy. The Journal of Pediatrics. 2014;164(4):769-74.

209. Kruijsen-Terpstra AJA, Ketelaar M, Verschuren O, Smits D-W, Jongmans MJ, Gorter JW. Determinants of Developmental Gain in Daily Activities in Young Children with Cerebral Palsy. Physical & Occupational Therapy In Pediatrics. 2015;35(3):265-79.

210. Burgess A, Boyd RN, Chatfield MD, Ziviani J, Wotherspoon J, Sakzewski L. Hand function and self-care in children with cerebral palsy. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2021;63(5):576-83.

211. Burgess A, Reedman S, Chatfield MD, Ware RS, Sakzewski L, Boyd RN. Development of gross motor capacity and mobility performance in children with cerebral palsy: a longitudinal study. Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology. 2022;64(5):578-85.

212. Park H, Choi JY, Yi S-h, Park ES, Shim D, Choi TY, Rha D-w. Relationship between the more-affected upper limb function and daily activity performance in children with cerebral palsy: a cross-sectional study. BMC pediatrics. 2021;21(1):1-8.

213. Adler C, Berweck S, Lidzba K, Becher T, Staudt M. Mirror movements in unilateral spastic cerebral palsy: Specific negative impact on bimanual activities of daily living. European Journal of Paediatric Neurology. 2015;19(5):504-9.

214. Alemdar DKÃÃk, Polat S. The Effect that Care Given to Preschool Children by Different Individuals has on the Quality of Life and Self-Care Skills. International Journal of Caring Sciences. 2014;7(1):140-7.

215. Majnemer A, Shewell M, Hall N, Poulin C, Law M. Developmental and functional activities in children with cerebral palsy as related to pattern and level of motor function. Journal of Child Neurology. 2010;25:1236-41.

216. Vos R, Bechner J, Ketelaar M, Smits D, Voorman J, Tan S, et al. Developmental Trajectories of Daily Activities in Children and Adolescents with Cerebral Palsy. Pediatrics. 2013;132(4):915-23.

217. van Eck M, Dallmeijer AJ, van Lith IS, Voorman JM, Becher J. Manual ability and its relationship with daily activities in adolescents with cerebral palsy. J Rehabil Med. 2010;42(5):493-8.

218. Berry JO, Jones WH. The Parental Stress Scale: Initial Psychometric Evidence. Journal of Social and Personal Relationships. 1995;12(3):463-72.

219. Dumas H, Fragala-Pinkham M. Concurrent Validity and Reliability of the Pediatric Evaluation of Disability Inventory-Computer Adaptive Test Mobility Domain. Pediatric Physical Therapy. 2012;24(2):171-16.

220. Egilson ST. Parent perspectives of therapy services for their children with physical disabilities. Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences. 2011;25(2):277-84.

221. Li J, Johnson SE, Han W-J, Andrews S, Kendall G, Strazdins L, Dockery A. Parents' Nonstandard Work Schedules and Child Well-Being: A Critical Review of the Literature. The Journal of Primary Prevention. 2014;35(1):53-73.

222. Han W-J. Maternal Nonstandard Work Schedules and Child Cognitive Outcomes. Child Development. 2005;76(1):137-54.

223. Han W-J, Fox LE. Parental Work Schedules and Children's Cognitive Trajectories. Journal of Marriage and Family. 2011;73(5):962-80.

224. Odom EC, Vernon-Feagans L, Crouter AC. Nonstandard maternal work schedules: Implications for African American children's early language outcomes. Early Childhood Research Quarterly. 2013;28(2):379-87.

225. Sunderajan T, Kanhere SV. Speech and language delay in children: Prevalence and risk factors. Journal of family medicine and primary care. 2019;8(5):1642.

226. Hoff E, Laursen B. Socioeconomic status and parenting. Handbook of parenting: Routledge; 2019. p. 421-47.

227. Huskinson T, Hobden S, Oliver D, Keyes J, Littlewood M, Pye J, Tipping S. Childcare and early years survey of parents 2014 to 2015. London, UK: Department for Education. 2016.

228. Bradshaw P. Patterns of Childcare Use Amongst Families with 10 Month Old Children: Scottish Government; 2013.

229. Parrish S, Lavis A, Potter CM, Ulijaszek S, Nowicka P, Eli K. How active can preschoolers be at home? Parents' and grandparents' perceptions of children's day-today activity, with implications for physical activity policy. Social Science & Medicine. 2022;292:114557.

230. Farquharson C, Olorenshaw H. The changing cost of childcare: IFS Report; 2022.
231. Yerkes MA, Javornik J. Creating capabilities: Childcare policies in comparative perspective. Journal of European Social Policy. 2019;29(4):529-44.

232. Flouri E, Mavroveli S, Midouhas E. Residential mobility, neighbourhood deprivation and children's behaviour in the UK. Health & Place. 2013;20:25-31.

233. Nærde A, Sommer Hukkelberg S. An examination of validity and reliability of the Parental Stress Scale in a population based sample of Norwegian parents. PLOS ONE. 2020;15(12):e0242735.

234. Holly LE, Fenley AR, Kritikos TK, Merson RA, Abidin RR, Langer DA. Evidence-Base Update for Parenting Stress Measures in Clinical Samples. J Clin Child Adolesc Psychol. 2019;48(5):685-705.

235. Păsărelu CR, Dobrean A, Florean IS, Predescu E. Parental stress and child mental health: a network analysis of Romanian parents. Curr Psychol. 2022:1-13.

236. Oyarzún-Farías MLA, Cova F, Bustos Navarrete C. Parental Stress and Satisfaction in Parents With Pre-school and School Age Children. Front Psychol. 2021;12:683117.

237. Haley S, Coster W, Dumas H, Fragala-Pinkham M, Kramer J, Pengsheng N, et al. Accuracy and precision of the Pediatric Evaluation of Disability Inventory computeradaptive tests (PEDI-CAT). Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology. 2011;53(12):1100-6. 238. Dumas H, Fragala-Pinkham M, Haley S, Pengsheng N, Coster W, Kramer J, et al. Computer adaptive test performance in children with and without disabilities: prospective field study of the PEDI-CAT. Disability and Rehabilitation. 2012;34(5):393-401.

239. Freeman L, Miller A. Norm-referenced, Criterion-referenced, and DynamicAssessment: What exactly is the point? Educational Psychology in Practice. 2001;17(1):3-16.

240. Shore BJ, Allar BG, Miller PE, Matheney TH, Snyder BD, Fragala-Pinkham MA. Evaluating the discriminant validity of the pediatric evaluation of disability inventory: computer adaptive test in children with cerebral palsy. Physical therapy. 2017;97(6):669-76.

241. Ketelaar M, Wassenberg-Severijnen J. Developments in Measuring Functional Activities: Where Do We Go with the PEDI-CAT? Physical & Occupational Therapy In Pediatrics. 2010;30(3):185-9.

242. Dumas H, Fragala-Pinkham M, Haley S, Coster W, J K, Kao Y, R M. Item Bank Development for a Revised Pediatric Evaluation of Disability Inventory (PEDI). Physical & Occupational Therapy in Pediatrics. 2010;30(3):168-84.

243. Lewis J, Scott K, Pan X, Heathcock J. The Relationship between Parent-reported PEDI-CAT Mobility and Gross Motor Function in Children with Cerebral Palsy: Brief Report. Developmental Neurorehabilitation. 2020;23(2):140-4.

244. Milne S, Campbell L, Cottier C. Accurate assessment of functional abilities in preschoolers for diagnostic and funding purposes: A comparison of the Vineland-3 and the PEDI-CAT. Australian Occupational Therapy Journal. 2020;67(1):31-8.

245. Cordeiro L, Villagomez A, Swain D, Deklotz S, Tartaglia N. Adaptive skills in FXS: a review of the literature and evaluation of the PEDI-computer adaptive test (PEDI-CAT) to measure adaptive skills. Brain Sciences. 2020;10(6):351.

246. Martins de Moraes J, Dias da Costa MA, de Oliveira Rodrigues IS, Ebert Fontes D, Resende Camargos AC. Comparison between speedy and content-balanced versions of the Pediatric Evaluation of Disability Inventory-Computer Adaptive Test (PEDI-CAT) in children with cerebral palsy. Fisioterapia e Pesquisa. 2022;29(4).

247. Thompson SV, Cech DJ, Cahill SM, Krzak JJ. Linking the pediatric evaluation of disability inventory-computer adaptive test (PEDI-CAT) to the international classification of function. Pediatric Physical Therapy. 2018;30(2):113-8.

248. Pepperdine CR, McCrimmon AW. Test review: Vineland Adaptive Behavior Scales, (Vineland-3) by Sparrow, SS, Cicchetti, DV, & Saulnier, CA. SAGE Publications Sage CA: Los Angeles, CA; 2018.

249. Fernández-Castilla B, Jamshidi L, Declercq L, Beretvas SN, Onghena P, Van den Noortgate W. The application of meta-analytic (multi-level) models with multiple random effects: A systematic review. Behavior Research Methods. 2020;52(5):2031-52.
250. Graca Bd, Hall LR, Sanchez K, Bennett MM, Powers MB, Warren AM. The risks of

attrition bias in longitudinal surveys of the impact of COVID-19. Baylor University Medical Center Proceedings. 2023;36(2):161-4.

251. Adams EL, Smith D, Caccavale LJ, Bean MK. Parents Are Stressed! Patterns of Parent Stress Across COVID-19. Front Psychiatry. 2021;12:626456.

252. Kolehmainen N, Thornton C, Craw O, Pearce M, Kudlek L, Nazarpour K, et al. Physical Activity in Young Children Across Developmental and Health States: The ActiveCHILD Study. SSRN Electronic Journal. 2022. 253. Kolehmainen N, Rapley T, M P. ActiveCHILD Protocol v3 [Internet]: Newcastle University; 2021 [23 July 2023].

254. Kolehmainen N, Thornton C, Craw O, Pearce MS, Kudlek L, Nazarpour K, et al. Physical activity in young children across developmental and health states: the ActiveCHILD study. eClinicalMedicine. 2023;60:102008.

255. Tennant PW, Murray EJ, Arnold KF, Berrie L, Fox MP, Gadd SC, et al. Use of directed acyclic graphs (DAGs) to identify confounders in applied health research: review and recommendations. International journal of epidemiology. 2021;50(2):620-32.

256. Arnold KF, Harrison WJ, Heppenstall AJ, Gilthorpe MS. DAG-informed regression modelling, agent-based modelling and microsimulation modelling: a critical comparison of methods for causal inference. International Journal of Epidemiology. 2018;48(1):243-53.

257. Belkahla Driss O, Mellouli S, Trabelsi Z. From citizens to government policymakers: Social media data analysis. Government Information Quarterly. 2019;36(3):560-70.

258. Grant SW, Hickey GL, Head SJ. Statistical primer: multivariable regression considerations and pitfalls. European Journal of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery. 2019;55(2):179-85.

259. Kim K, Kang JY, Jang D-H. Relationship Between Mobility and Self-Care Activity in Children With Cerebral Palsy. Annals of Rehabilitation Medicine. 2017;41:266 - 72.
260. Hauser-Cram P, Warfield ME, Shonkoff JP, Krauss MW, Sayer A, Upshur CC, Hodapp RM. Children with Disabilities: A Longitudinal Study of Child Development and Parent Well-Being. Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development. 2001;66(3):i-126.

261. Shakespeare T, Watson N, Brunner R, Cullingworth J, Hameed S, Scherer N, et al. Disabled people in Britain and the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. Social Policy & Administration. 2022;56(1):103-17.

262. McKegney CC. Understanding child development in the assessment of stress in children amidst the COVID-19 pandemic. Pediatric Nursing. 2021;47(1):48-51.

263. Ye J. Pediatric Mental and Behavioral Health in the Period of Quarantine and Social Distancing With COVID-19. JMIR Pediatr Parent. 2020;3(2):e19867.

Bridgland VME, Moeck EK, Green DM, Swain TL, Nayda DM, Matson LA, et al.
Why the COVID-19 pandemic is a traumatic stressor. PLOS ONE. 2021;16(1):e0240146.
Pedersen S, Smithson J. Mothers with Attitude – How the Mumsnet Parenting
Forum Offers Space for New Forms of Femininity to Emerge Online. Women's Studies
International Forum. 2013;38:97-106.

266. Mazanderani F, Powell J. 94Using the Internet as a source of information about patients' experiences. In: Ziebland S, Coulter A, Calabrese JD, Locock L, editors. Understanding and Using Health Experiences: Improving patient care: Oxford University Press; 2013. p. 0.

267. Smith H, Bulbul A, Jones CJ. Can Online Discussion Sites Generate Quality Data for Research Purposes? Frontiers in Public Health. 2017;5.

268. Ghio D, Muller I, Vestergren S, Mandangu C, Dennison L, Sykes K, et al. Parents' concerns and understandings around excessive infant crying: Qualitative study of discussions in online forums. SSM - Qualitative Research in Health. 2022;2:100146.
269. Holtz P, Kronberger N, Wagner W. Analyzing internet forums: A practical guide. Hogrefe Publishing; 2012. p. 55-66.

270. Bailey L. Constructions of good mothering during lockdown learning. Gender and Education. 2022;34(6):674-89.

271. Whiley LA, Sayer H, Juanchich M. Motherhood and guilt in a pandemic: Negotiating the "new" normal with a feminist identity. Gender, Work & Organization.2021;28(S2):612-9.

272. Handley KM. Troubling gender norms on Mumsnet: Working from home and parenting during the UK's first COVID lockdown. Gender, Work & Organization.n/a(n/a).

273. Bouvier G, Machin D. Critical discourse analysis and the challenges and opportunities of social media. Critical Discourse Studies and/in Communication.2020:39-53.

274. Hur I, Cousins KC, Stahl BC. A critical perspective of engagement in online health communities. European Journal of Information Systems. 2019;28(5):523-48.

275. Reisigl M, Wodak R. The Discourse-Historical Approach (DHA). The Routledge Handbook of Critical Discourse Studies. 2017.

276. Ghaffari S. Discourses of celebrities on Instagram: digital femininity, self-representation and hate speech. Critical Discourse Studies. 2022;19(2):161-78.

277. Mackenzie J, Zhao S. Motherhood online: Issues and opportunities for discourse analysis. Discourse, Context & Media. 2021;40:100472.

278. Walker M. Intensive Mothering, Elimination Communication, and the Call to Eden. In: Ennis LR, editor. Intensive Mothering. The Cultural Contradictions of Modern Motherhood: Demeter Press; 2014. p. 233-46.

279. Orton-Johnson K. Mummy Blogs and Representations of Motherhood: "Bad Mummies" and Their Readers. Social Media + Society. 2017;3:205630511770718.
280. Pedersen S. The good, the bad and the 'good enough' mother on the UK parenting forum Mumsnet. Womens Studies International Forum. 2016;59:32-8.

281. Pedersen S, Burnett S. Saying the unsayable: The online expression of mothers' anger during a pandemic. Feminism & Psychology. 2022;32:095935352210741.

282. Sloan L, Quan-Haase A. The SAGE handbook of social media research methods. Second edition.. ed: Los Angeles : SAGE; 2022.

283. Latzko-Toth G, Bonneau C, Millette M. Small Data, Thick Data: Thickening Strategies for Trace-Based Social Media Research. 2017. p. 199-214.

284. Johnson SA. 'Intimate mothering publics': comparing face-to-face support groups and Internet use for women seeking information and advice in the transition to first-time motherhood. Cult Health Sex. 2015;17(2):237-51.

285. Lupton D, Pedersen S, Thomas G. Parenting and Digital Media: From the Early Web to Contemporary Digital Society: Parenting and Digital Media. Sociology Compass. 2016;10:730-43.

286. Ammari T, Morris MR, Schoenebeck SY. Accessing Social Support and
Overcoming Judgment on Social Media among Parents of Children with Special Needs.
Proceedings of the 8th International Conference on Weblogs and Social Media, ICWSM
2014. 2014;8:22-31.

287. Pedersen S, Smithson J. Mothers with attitude — How the Mumsnet parenting forum offers space for new forms of femininity to emerge online. Women's Studies International Forum. 2013;38:97-106.

288. Russell S. Netmums: online support for parents. Community Pract. 2006;79(2):44-5.

289. Gupta S. Ethical Issues in Designing Internet-Based Research: Recommendations for Good Practice. Journal of Research Practice. 2017;13:1.

290. Das R. Mediated subjectivities of the maternal: A critique of childbirth videos on YouTube. The Communication Review. 2018;21(1):66-84.

291. von Benzon N. 'Am I Being Unreasonable' to use Mumsnet to explore historical geographies of childhood in domestic spaces? Social & Cultural Geography. 2022:1-17.

292. Williams ML, Burnap P, Sloan L. Towards an Ethical Framework for Publishing Twitter Data in Social Research: Taking into Account Users' Views, Online Context and Algorithmic Estimation. Sociology. 2017;51(6):1149-68.

293. Saunders B, Kitzinger J, Kitzinger C. Anonymising interview data: challenges and compromise in practice. Qual Res. 2015;15(5):616-32.

294. Hennell K, Limmer M, Piacentini M. Ethical Dilemmas Using Social Media in Qualitative Social Research: A Case Study of Online Participant Observation. Sociological Research Online. 2020;25(3):473-89.

295. Barnes N, Penn-Edwards S, Sim C. A dialogic about using Facebook status updates for education research: a PhD student's journey. Educational research and evaluation. 2015;21(2):109-21.

296. Pedersen S, Smithson J. Membership and activity in an online parenting community. Handbook of research on discourse behavior and digital communication: Language structures and social interaction: IGI Global; 2010. p. 88-103.

297. Mumsnet. Mumsnet's Talk Guidelines UK2024 [

298. Moreno MA, Kota R, Schoohs S, Whitehill JM. The Facebook influence model: a concept mapping approach. Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw. 2013;16(7):504-11.

299. Pedersen S, Lupton D. 'What are you feeling right now?' communities of maternal feeling on Mumsnet. Emotion, Space and Society. 2018;26:57-63.

300. Scott CR. Anonymity in applied communication research: Tensions between IRBs, researchers, and human subjects. Journal of Applied Communication Research. 2005;33(3):242-57.

301. Dawson P. Our anonymous online research participants are not always anonymous: Is this a problem? British Journal of Educational Technology.2014;45(3):428-37.

302. Netmums. Netmums Forum Chat Rules UK2024 [cited 2024 21 May 2024].

303. Mumsnet. Mumsnet Privacy Policy FAQs UK2024 [cited 2024 21 May 2024].

304. Bailey L. The virtual mother: Mumsnet and the emergence of new forms of 'good mothering' online. Discourse & Communication. 2023;17(1):40-56.

305. Soanes C, Stevenson A. Concise Oxford English dictionary. 11th , rev. ed2008.

306. Drentea P, Moren-Cross JL. Social capital and social support on the web: the case of an internet mother site. Sociology of Health & Illness. 2005;27(7):920-43.

307. Porter N, Ispa JM. Mothers' online message board questions about parenting infants and toddlers. Journal of Advanced Nursing. 2013;69(3):559-68.

308. Chaurasia K, Singh B. A Comparative Study of Anxiety Level of Enuretic and Non-Enuretic Children. International Journal of Indian Psychology. 2017;5.

309. Ashikkali L, Carroll W, Johnson C. The indirect impact of COVID-19 on child health. Paediatr Child Health (Oxford). 2020;30(12):430-7.

310. Reddy V, Brumpton L. Digital-driven service improvement during the COVID-19 pandemic. Paediatr Child Health (Oxford). 2021;31(5):220-2.

311. Esther C, Natalie O, Diana B, Marie Antoinette H, Suzi D, Marcia W, Natalie S. Telehealth in a paediatric developmental metropolitan assessment clinic: Perspectives and experiences of families and clinicians. Health Expect. 2022;25(5):2557-69.

312. Araújo LA, Veloso CF, Souza MC, Azevedo JMC, Tarro G. The potential impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on child growth and development: a systematic review. J Pediatr (Rio J). 2021;97(4):369-77.

313. Imran N, Zeshan M, Pervaiz Z. Mental health considerations for children & adolescents in COVID-19 Pandemic. Pak J Med Sci. 2020;36(Covid19-s4):S67-s72.

314. Dawes J, May T, McKinlay A, Fancourt D, Burton A. Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the mental health and wellbeing of parents with young children: a qualitative interview study. BMC Psychol. 2021;9(1):194.

315. Im EO, Chee W. Practical guidelines for qualitative research using online forums. Comput Inform Nurs. 2012;30(11):604-11.

316. Smedley RM, Coulson NS. A practical guide to analysing online support forums. Qualitative Research in Psychology. 2021;18(1):76-103.

317. Lieberman A, Schroeder J. Two social lives: How differences between online and offline interaction influence social outcomes. Current Opinion in Psychology. 2019;31.
318. Perez D, Murphy G, Wilkes L, Peters K. One size does not fit all-overcoming barriers to participant recruitment in qualitative research. Nurse Researcher. 2022;30(1).

319. Marks A, Wilkes L, Blythe S, Griffiths R. A novice researcher's reflection on recruiting participants for qualitative research. Nurse Researcher (2014+). 2017;25(2):34.

320. Sadiki L, Saleh L. Editors' Introduction: Protest Postcard from London. Protest. 2023;3(1):1-4.

321. Patton C, Sawicki D, Clark J. Basic Methods of Policy Analysis and Planning2012.322. Dalglish SL, Khalid H, McMahon SA. Document analysis in health policy research:

the READ approach. Health Policy and Planning. 2020;35(10):1424-31.

323. Education Df. Early years foundation stage profile results in England, 2019. In: Education Df, editor. UK: UK Government; 2019.

324. Education Df. Early years foundation stage profile results in England, 2022. In: Education Df, editor.: UK Government; 2022.

325. Creamer EG, Ghoston M. Using a Mixed Methods Content Analysis to Analyze Mission Statements From Colleges of Engineering. Journal of Mixed Methods Research. 2013;7(2):110-20.

326. Noble H, Heale R. Triangulation in research, with examples. Evidence Based Nursing. 2019;22(3):67-8.

327. Thomas R. Generation of children held back as hundreds of thousands wait for key NHS care. The Independent. 2022.

328. Wythe J. An exploration into the implications of the Covid - 19 restrictions on the transition from Early Years Education to Key Stage 1 for children with special educational needs and disability–a comparative study. British Journal of Special Education. 2022;49(4):605-27.

329. Therapists RCoO. Children's access to occupational therapy 2022. RCOT; 2022.

330. Alias NA, Kadar M, Wan Yunus F, Cremin K. An Exploration of Understanding Teaching Motor Skills Related to Self-Care Skills among Typical Preschool Children:

Parents' and Teachers' Perspectives. Journal of Occupational Therapy, Schools, & Early Intervention. 2023:1-15.

331. Morgan H. Conducting a Qualitative Document Analysis. The Qualitatiae Report. 2022;27(1):64-77.

332. Department for Education. Thousands of parents benefit from 30 hours' free childcare early: <u>www.gov.uk</u>; 2016 [

333. Rapley T. Doing conversation, discourse and document analysis. Doing conversation, discourse and document analysis. 2018:1-176.

334. Liu S, Fisher PA. Early experience unpredictability in child development as a model for understanding the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic: A translational neuroscience perspective. Developmental cognitive neuroscience. 2022;54:101091.

335. Braveman PA, Egerter SA, Mockenhaupt RE. Broadening the focus: the need to address the social determinants of health. American journal of preventive medicine. 2011;40(1):S4-S18.

336. Pearce A, Dundas R, Whitehead M, Taylor-Robinson D. Pathways to inequalities in child health. Archives of disease in childhood. 2019;104(10):998-1003.

337. Pickett KE, Vafai Y, Mathai M, Small N. The social determinants of child health and inequalities in child health. Paediatrics and Child Health. 2022;32(3):88-94.

338. Attanasio O, Cattan S, Meghir C. Early childhood development, human capital, and poverty. Annual Review of Economics. 2022;14:853-92.

339. Noyes J, Booth A, Moore G, Flemming K, Tunçalp Ö, Shakibazadeh E. Synthesising quantitative and qualitative evidence to inform guidelines on complex interventions: clarifying the purposes, designs and outlining some methods. BMJ Global Health. 2019;4(Suppl 1):e000893.

340. Sontag JC. Toward a Comprehensive Theoretical Framework for Disability
Research:Bronfenbrenner Revisited. The Journal of Special Education. 1996;30(3):31944.

341. Spratt T, Frederick J, Devaney J. New understandings in childhood research and their implications for child and family services. Journal of Social Work. 2022;22(5):1137-52.

342. King G, Law M, Hanna S, King S, Hurley P, Rosenbaum P, et al. Predictors of the Leisure and Recreation Participation of Children With Physical Disabilities: A Structural Equation Modeling Analysis. Children's Health Care. 2006;35(3):209-34.

343. Sartor T, Lange S, Tröster H. Cumulative Stress of Single Mothers - An Exploration of Potential Risk Factors. The Family Journal. 2023;31(1):88-94.

344. La Valle I, Lewis J, Crawford C, Paul G, Lloyd E, Ott E, et al. Implications of COVID for Early Childhood Education and Care in England. Centre for Evidence and Implementation. 2022.

345. Naito T, Tomata Y, Otsuka T, Tsuno K, Tabuchi T. Did children in single-parent households have a higher probability of emotional instability during the COVID-19 pandemic? A nationwide cross-sectional study in Japan. International journal of environmental research and public health. 2022;19(7):4239.

346. Travers BG, Lee L, Engeldinger A, Taylor D, Ausderau K, Skaletski EC, Brown J.
Associations among daily living skills, motor, and sensory difficulties in autistic and nonautistic children. The American Journal of Occupational Therapy.
2022;76(2):7602205020.

347. Bhaskar AR, Gad MV, Rathod CM. Impact of COVID Pandemic on the Children with Cerebral Palsy. Indian Journal of Orthopaedics. 2022;56(5):927-32.

348. Ebenso B, Manzano A, Uzochukwu B, Etiaba E, Huss R, Ensor T, et al. Dealing with context in logic model development: reflections from a realist evaluation of a community health worker programme in Nigeria. Evaluation and Program Planning. 2019;73:97-110.

349. Bradshaw S, Bem D, Shaw K, Taylor B, Chiswell C, Salama M, et al. Improving health, wellbeing and parenting skills in parents of children with special health care needs and medical complexity – a scoping review. BMC Pediatrics. 2019;19(1):301.

350. Daher-Nashif S, Al-Anany R, Ali M, Erradi K, Farag E, Abdallah AM, Emara MM. COVID-19 exit strategy during vaccine implementation: a balance between social distancing and herd immunity. Archives of virology. 2022;167(9):1773-83.

351. Benner AD, Mistry RS. Child Development During the COVID-19 Pandemic
Through a Life Course Theory Lens. Child Development Perspectives. 2020;14(4):236-43.
352. Witham MD, Anderson E, Carroll C, Dark PM, Down K, Hall AS, et al. Developing a roadmap to improve trial delivery for under-served groups: results from a UK multi-stakeholder process. Trials. 2020;21(1):694.

353. Kostyrka-Allchorne K, Creswell C, Byford S, Day C, Goldsmith K, Koch M, et al. Supporting Parents & Kids Through Lockdown Experiences (SPARKLE): A digital parenting support app implemented in an ongoing general population cohort study during the COVID-19 pandemic: A structured summary of a study protocol for a randomised controlled trial. Trials. 2021;22(1):267.

354. UKRI. Research with children and young people 2023 [30 July 2023].

355. Gustafsson U, Driver S. Parents, Power and Public Participation: Sure Start, an Experiment in New Labour Governance. Social Policy & Administration. 2005;39(5):528-43.

356. Marmot M. Health equity in England: the Marmot review 10 years on. Bmj. 2020;368.

357. Stroobach A, Wilson AC, Lam J, Hall GL, Withers A, Downs J. Factors influencing participation in home, school, and community settings by children and adolescents with neuromuscular disorders: a qualitative descriptive study. Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology. 2023;65(5):664-73.

358. Health NIf, Excellence C. Disabled Children and Young People up to 25 with Severe Complex Needs: Integrated Service Delivery and Organisation across Health, Social Care and Education: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE); 2022.

359. Pozniak K, Buchanan F, Cross A, Crowson J, Galuppi B, Grahovac D, et al. Building a culture of engagement at a research centre for childhood disability. Research Involvement and Engagement. 2021;7(1):1-15.

360. Koegel LK, Bryan KM, Su PL, Vaidya M, Camarata S. Definitions of nonverbal and minimally verbal in research for autism: A systematic review of the literature. Journal of autism and developmental disorders. 2020;50:2957-72.

361. Carpenter J, McConkey R. Disabled Children's Voices: The Nature and Role of Future Empirical Enquiry. Children & Society. 2012;26(3):251-61.

362. Bailey S, Boddy K, Briscoe S, Morris C. Involving disabled children and young people as partners in research: a systematic review. Child: Care, Health and Development. 2015;41(4):505-14.

363. Goodwin J. Qualitative research in childhood neurodisability. Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology. 2019.

364. Rabiee P, Sloper P, Beresford B. Doing research with children and young people who do not use speech for communication. Children & Society. 2005;19(5):385-96.
365. Mitchell W, Sloper P. Making choices in my life: Listening to the ideas and experiences of young people in the UK who communicate non-verbally. Children and Youth Services Review. 2011;33(4):521-7.

366. Horridge KA, Dew R, Chatelin A, Seal A, Macias LM, Cioni G, et al. Austerity and families with disabled children: a European survey. Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology. 2019;61(3):329-36.